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Re: 	 WorldxChange Corp. d/b/a Acceris Communications Partners and d/b/a Acceris 
Communications Solutions 

To Whom It May Concern: 

Enclosed please find one original and six (6) copies of WorldxChange Corp. d/b/a 
Acceris Communications Partners and d/b/a Acceris Communications Solutions's 
(WorldxChange) Application for Authority to Provide Local Exchange Telecommunications 
Service Within the State of Florida. 

I also have enclosed a check in the amount of $250.00 payable to the Florida Public 
Service Commission to cover the cost of filing these documents. 

Please return a stamped copy of the extra copy of this letter in the enclosed preaddressed 
prepaid envelope. " 

o Ul 
(...) 

. If you have any questions regarding this matter, please do not hesitate to call iRe . 'f{Q;mk 
you for your attention to this matter. ~ r­

W 0 

ance J.M. Steinhart, Esq. 
Attorney for WorldxChange Corp. d/b/a Acceris 
Communications Partners and d/b/a Acceris 
Communications Solutions 

Enclosures 
cc: 	 Ken Hilton 
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** FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION ** 

N THE STATE OF FLORI DA 

DIVISION OF REGULATORY OVERSIGHT 
CERTIFICATION SECTION 

instructions ' 

This form is used as an application for an original certificate and for approval of 
the assignment or transfer of an existing certificate. In the case of an assignment 
or transfer, the information provided shall be for the assignee or transferee (See 
Page 12). 

Print or type all responses to each item requested in the application and 
appendices. If an item is not applicable, please explain why. 

Use a separate sheet for each answer which will not fit the allotted space. 

Once completed, submit the original and six (6) copies of this form along with a 
non-refundable application fee of $250.00 to: 

Florida Public Service Commission 
Division of Records and Reporting 
2540 Shumard Oak Blvd. 
Tallahassee, Florida 3239930850 
(850) 41 3-6770 

If you have questions about completing the form, contact: 

Florida Public Service Commission 
Division of Reg u I at0 ry Overs i g h t 
Certification Section 
2540 Shumard Oak Blvd. 
Tallahassee, Florida 32399-0850 
(850) 41 3-6480 

FORM PSClCMU 8 (1 1/95) 
Required by Commission Rule Nos. 25-24.805, 
25-24.810, and 25-24.815 



C 

I. 

2. 

3. 

4. 

APPLICATION 

This is an application for J (check one): 

Original certificate (new company). 

Approval of transfer of existing certificate: Example, a non-certificated 
company purchases an existing company and desires to retain the original 
certificate of authority. 

Approval of assignment of existing certificate: E x a m ,  a certificated 
company purchases an existing company and desires to retain the certificate 
of authority of that company. 

Approval of transfer of control: E>tampk, a company purchases 51 % of a 
certificated company. The Commission must approve the new controlling 
entity . 

Name of company: 

WorldxChange Corg . 

Name under which the applicant will do business (fictitious name, etc.): 
Acceris Communications Partners and 
d/b/a Acceris Comm unications Snlut ians 

Official mailing address (including street name & number, post office box, city, 
state, zip code): 

9775 Business Park Avenue 

San Dieqo California 92131 

FORM PSClCMU 8 (I 1/95) 
Required by Commission Rule Nos. 25-24.805, 
25-24.810, and 25-24.815 2 



5. Florida address (including street name & number, post office box, city, state, 
zip code): 

None 

6. Structure of organization: 

( ) Individual 
( Y ) Foreign Corporation 
( ) General Partnership 
( )Other 

( ) Corporation 
( ) Foreign Partnership 
( ) Limited Partnership 

7. If individual, provide: 

Name: 

Title: 

Address: 

C i t y/S t a t elZi p : 

Telephone No.: Fax No.: 

Internet E-Mail Address: 

Internet W ebsite Address: 

8. If incorporated in Florida, provide proof of authority to operate in Florida: 

(a) The Florida Secretary of State corporate registration number: 

FORM PSClCMU 8 (11/95) 
Required by Commission Rule Nos. 25-24.805, 
25-24.81 0, and 25-24.81 5 3 



9. If foreian corporation, provide proof of authority to operate in Florida: 

(a) The Florida Secretary of State corporate registration number: 

F00000003399 

10. Lt provide proof of compliance with fictitious name 
statute (Chapter 865.09, FS) to operate in Florida: 

(a) The Florida Secretary of State fictitious name registration number: 
Acceris Communications Partners G03035900075; and Acceris Communications Solutions GO3035900076 

1 I. If a limited liability partnership, provide proof of registration to operate in 
Florida: 

(a) The Florida Secretary of State registration number: 

12. 1f a part nership, provide name, title and address of all partners and a copy of 
the partnership agreement. 

Name: 

Title: 

Address: 

Ci tylStatelZip: 

Telephone No.: Fax No.: 

Internet E-Mail Address: 

Internet We bsi te Address: 

13. If a foreian limited pa rtnership, provide proof of compliance with the foreign 
limited partnership statute (Chapter 620.1 69, FS), if applicable. 

(a) The Florida registration number: 

14. Provide F.E.I. Number(if applicable): 13-4119107 

FORM PSClCMU 8 (I 1/95) 
Required by Commission Rule Nos. 25-24.805, 
25-24.81 0, and 25-24.81 5 4 
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. 

15. Indicate if any of the officers, directors, or any of the ten largest stockholders 
have previously been: 

(a) adjudged bankrupt, mentally incompetent, or found guilty of any felony or of any 
crime, or whether such actions may result from pending proceedings. Provide 
explanation. 
No. 

(b) an officer, director, partner or stockholder in any other Florida certificated 
telephone company. If yes, give name of comp,any and relationship. If no longer 
associated with company, aive reason whv not, 
Yes, Allan S i l b e r  and G a r y  Waaaerson are Directors of Applicant and 
I-Link Communications, Inc. 

16. Who will serve as liaison to the Commission with regard to the following? 

(a) The application: 

Lance J.M. Steinhart Name: 
Title: Regulatory Counsel 
Address: 1720 Windward Concourse 
City/St&e/Zip: Alpharetta, Georgia 30005 

Telephone No.: (770) 232-9200 Fax No.: (770)  232-9208 
Internet E-Majl Address: lsteinhart(Btelecomcounse1. com 
In te rne t We bsi te Address : 

FORM PSC/CMU 8 (1 1/95) 
Required by Commission Rule Nos. 25-24.805, 
25-24.81 0, and 25-24.81 5 5 



(b) Official point of contact for the ongoina operations of the company: 

Name: Ken Hilton 
Title: President 
Address: 9775 Business Park Avenue 
Ci tylS ta te/Zi p: Sari D i eqo California 92131 

Telephone No.: 800-576-7775 Fax No. . 858-536-3394 

(c) Complaints/lnauiries from customers: 

Name: Bobby Vannoy 

Title: Customer Service Manager 

Address: 9775 Business Park Avenue 

City/State/Zip: Sari Diego California 92131 

Telephone No.: 8o 0-576-7 77 Fax No,: 8 5 8 - 5 3 6 - 3 3 9 4  

bobby.vannoy@accerispartners.com Internet E-Mail Address: 
Internet Website Address: www. acceris~artners - corn 

17. List the states in which the applicant: 

(a) has operated as an alternative local exchange company. 
N o n e  

(b) has applications pending to be certificated as an alternative local exchange 
company. 

None. 

(c) is certificated to operate as an alternative local exchange company. 
New York and New Jersey 

FORM PSClCMU 8 (1 1/95) 
Required by Commission Rule Nos. 25-24.805, 
25-24.81 0, and 25-24.81 5 6 
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(d) has been denied authority to operate as an alternative local exchange 
company and the circumstances involved. 

None 

(e) has had regulatory penalties imposed for violations of telecommunications 
statutes and the circumstances involved. 

None 

(f) has been involved in civil court proceedings with an interexchange carrier, 
local exchange company or other telecommunications entity, and the 
circumstances involved. 

None 

18. Submit the following: 

A. Managerial capability: give resumes of employeedoff icers of the 
company that would indicate sufficient managerial experiences of each. 

See Attached biographical information. 

B. Technical capability: give resumes of employeeslofficers of the company 
that would indicate sufficient technical experiences or indicate what 
company has been contracted to conduct technical maintenance. 

See Attached biographical information. In addition, the company will rely 
upon its underlying facilities-based carriers for technical maintenance. 

FORM PSClCMU 8 (I 1/95) 
Required by Commission Rule Nos. 25-24.805, 
25-24.81 0, and 25-24.815 7 



C. Financial capability. 

The application should contain the applicant's audited financial statements for the 
most recent 3 years. If the applicant does not have audited financial statements, it 
shall so be stated. 

The unaudited financial statements should be signed by the applicant's chief 
executive officer and chief financial officer affirmina that the financial state ments 
are true and correct and should include: 

I. the balance sheet: 

2. income statement: and 

3. statement of retained earnings. 

NOTE: This documenfafion may include, but is not limited to, financial statements, a 
projected profit and loss statement, credit references, credit bureau reports, and descriptions 
of business relationships with fin an cia1 institutions. 

Further, the following (which includes supporting documentation) should be provided: 

1. written explanat ion that the applicant has sufficient financial capability to 
provide the requested service in the geographic area proposed to be served. 

2. written explanation that the applicant has sufficient financial capability to 
maintain the requested service. 

3. w I i that the applicant has sufficient financial capability to meet 
its lease or ownership obligations. 

FORM PSC/CMU 8 (1 1/95) 
Required by Commission Rule Nos. 25-24.805, 
25-24.810, and 25-24.815 8 
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THIS PAGE MUST BE COMPLETED AND SIGNED 

APPLICANT ACKNOWLEDGMENT STATEMENT 

I. REGULATORY ASSESSMENT FEE: 1 understand that all telephone companies must 
pay a regulatory assessment fee in the amount of . I 5  of one percent of gross 
operating revenue derived from intrastate business. Regardless of the gross operating 
revenue of a company, a minimum annual assessment fee of $50 is required. 

2. GROSS RECEIPTS TAX: I understand that all telephone companies must pay a 
gross receipts tax of two and one-half percent on all intra and interstate business. 

3. SALES TAX: I understand that a seven percent sales tax must be paid on intra and 
interstate revenues. 

4. APPLICATION FEE: I understand that a non-refundable application fee of $250.00 
must be submitted with the application. 

ItlTY OFFICIAL 
Ken Hilton 

Print Name 

President &/20{63 
Title Date I /  
800-576-7775 858-536-3394 

Telephone No. Fax No. 

9775 Business Park Avenue Add ress : 

San Dieqo California 92131 

FL ALEC App 

FORM PSClCMU 8 (11/95) 
Required by Commission Rule Nos. 25-24.805, 
25-24.81 0, and 25-24.81 5 9 



THIS PAGE MUST BE COMPLETED AND SIGNED 

AFFIDAVIT 

By my signature below, I, the undersigned officer, attest to the accuracy of the 
information contained in this apptication and attached documents and that the 
applicant has the technical expertise, managerial ability, and financial capability to 
provide alternative local exchange company service in the State of Florida. I have 
read the foregoing and declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, the 
information is true and correct. 1 attest that I have the authority to sign on behalf of 
my company and agree to comply, now and in the future, with all applicable 
Commission rules and orders. 

Further, I am aware that, pursuant to Chapter 837.06, Florida Statutes, 
'Whoever knowingly makes a false statement in writing with the intent to 
mislead a public sewant in the performance of his official duty shall be guilty 
of a misdemeanor of the second degree, punishable as provided in s. 775.082 
and s. 775.083." 

UTILITY OFFICIAL:, 

Print Name 

Ken Hilton 

President 

Title 
858-536-3394 800-576-7775 

Telephone NO. Fax No. 

9775 Business Park Avenue Address : 

San Dieqo California 92131 

FL ALEC App 

FORM PSCICMU 8 (1 1/95) 
Required by Commission Rule Nos. 25-24.805, 
25-24.81 0, and 25-24.81 5 10 



LIST OF ATTACHMENTS 

FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

MANAGEMENT INFORMATION 

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL CAPABILITY 



F'INANCIAlL INFORMATION 



SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION 
Washington, D.C. 20549 

FORM 10-K 
9 ANNUAL REPORT UNDER SECTION 13 

OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,2002 

Commission File No. 0-17973 

I-LINK INCORPORATED 
(Name of registrant as specified in its charter) 

Florida 52-229 1344 
(State or other jurisdiction 

of incorporation or organization) 
(I.R.S. Employer 

Identification Number) 
9775 Business Park Avenue, San Diego, California 92131 (885) 547-5700 

(Address and telephone number of principal executive ofices) 

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12@) of the Exchange Act: None. 

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Exchange Act: Common Stock, $.007 par value. 

Check whether the issuer: (1) filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act during the past twelve 
months (or for such period that the Registrant was required to file such reports); and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements 
forthepast90days. Yes 9 No o 

Check if there is no disclosure of delinquent filers in response to Item 405 of Regulation S-K contained in this form, and no disclosure 
will be contained, to the best of Registrant’s knowledge, in defmitive proxy or information statements incorporated by reference in 
Part 111 of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K. o 

The aggregate market value of Common Stock held by non-affiliates based upon the closing price on June 28,2002, as reported by the 
Electronic Bulletin Board, was approximately $16,3 17,000. 

Check whether the registrant is an accelerated filed (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Act). 

Yes o No 9 

As of March 27,2003, there were 116,549,547 shares of Common Stock, $.007 par value, outstanding. 
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PART I 

Item 1 . Description of Business 

Overview 

I-Link incorporated's ("I-Link", the "Company", "our" or ''we'') vision is to be the preferred supplier of communications products and 
services to targeted markets that will deliver profitable growth while creating value for all stakeholders. The mission ofl-Link is to 
provide businesses and consumers with competitively priced voice, data and enhanced communications services via direct and indirect 
channels. Through the dedication of our employees, we deliver industry leading customer care, customized product solutions and full 
back office support, building long-term loyalty and trust with all of our customers. 

History and Development of the Business 

I-Link was incorporated in Florida in 1983 under the name Medcross, Inc. It changed its name to I-Link Incorporated in 1997. In 
1994, I-Link began operating as an Internet service provider ("ISP") with a business model built around providing both network 
access and value-added services. I-Link quickly identified that the emerging Internet Protocol ("IP") environment was a promising 
basis for enhanced service delivery, and soon turned to designing and building an IP telecommunication platform consisting ofl-Link 
proprietary software, hardware and leased telecommunication lines. The goal was to create a platform with the quality and reliability 
necessary for voice transmission. By 1996, I-Link released its first IP-based service called "Fax-4-Less." This service provided users 
with a more efficient and cost-effective way to distribute facsimile information. 

In 1997, I-Link started offering enhanced services over a mixed IP-and-circuit-switched network platform. These services offered a 
blend of traditional and enhanced communication services and combined the inherent cost advantages of the IP-based network with 
the reliability of the existing public switched telephone network ("PSTN"). The suite of services included a one number "follow me" 
service, long distance calling, unified messaging, conference calling, message broadcasting, and web-based interface to manage 
messages and maintain personal account settings. In 1997 we formed our subsidiary I-Link Worldwide, LLC through which we began 
marketing our products and services thorough a network marketing channel. 

In August 1997, I-Link acquired MiBridge, Inc. ("MiBridge"), a New Jersey-based communications technology company engaged in 
the design, development, integration and marketing of a range of software telecommunication products that support multimedia 
communications over the PSTN, local area networks ("LAN") and IP networks. Historically, MiBridge concentrated its development 
efforts on compression systems such as voice- and fax-over-IP ("VoIP"). As part ofl-Link, MiBridge continued to develop patent­
pending technologies combining sophisticated compression capabilities with IP telephony technology. The acquisition of MiBridge 
permitted us to accelerate the development and deployment of IP technology across our network platform. 

In 1998, we first deployed our real-time, IP communications network platform. With this new platform, all core-operating functions 
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such as switching, routing, and media control, became software-driven. This new platform represented the first nationwide, 
commercially viable VoIP platform of its kind. Following the launch of its software-defined VoIP platform in 1998, I-Link has 
continued to refine and enhance the platform to make it even more efficient and capable for our partners and customers. 

3 

In February 2000, we transitioned our direct-sales marketing program to Big Planet, Inc. ("Big Planet"), a subsidiary ofNu Skin 
Enterprises, Inc., whereupon Big Planet became one of our wholesale customers. The transition of the network marketing sales 
channel to Big Planet has allowed us to focus our efforts on the expansion of the VoIP platform and the development and deployment 
of new enhanced services and products, while at the same time maintaining existing channels for retail sales . 

On March 1,2001, I-Link became a majority-owned subsidiary of Counsel Communications, LLC, which is now a wholly owned 
subsidiary of Counsel Corporation, (collectively, "Counsel"). Since taking a controlling position in I-Link Counsel has advanced 
approximately $60.7 million in cash to I-Link. Of this amount, approximately $20.5 million was utilized to acquire certain assets of 
WorldxChange Communications, Inc. and RSL COM U.S.A. Inc., while the remaining approximate $40.2 million has been used 
directly in operations, principally to fund operating losses and bring I-Link's technology to market. Through December 31,2002, $5.5 
million of these advances have been repaid and pursuant to a debt restructuring agreement, Counsel has agreed to convert 
approximately $29.3 million of its existing debt, including accrued interest, to capital (subject to shareholder approval). Additionally, 
Counsel has committed to fund, through long-term inter-company advances or equity contributions, all capital investment, working 
capital or other operational cash requirements ofl-Link through April 15, 2004 .. Related to our association with Counsel, on April 17, 
200 I, I-Link acquired WebToTel, Inc. ("WebToTel"), a subsidiary of Counsel, and also its subsidiary, Nexbell Communications Inc. 
("Nexbell"), in a stock-for-stock transaction. Nexbell was sold in December 200 I. (see Note 6 of fmancial statements included in 
Item 8 hereof) 

In June 200 I, our wholly owned subsidiary WorldxChange Corp. ("WorldxChange") purchased certain assets and assumed certain 
liabilities ofWorldxChange Communications, Inc. from a bankruptcy proceeding. WorldxChange is a facilities-based 
telecommunications carrier that provides international and domestic long-distance service to retail customers. Telecommunication 
services provided by WorldxChange initially consisted primarily of a dial-around product that allows a customer to make a call from 
any phone by dialing a 10-IO-XXX prefix. Historically, WorldxChange marketed its services through consumer mass marketing 
techniques, including direct mail and direct response television and radio. In 2002, WorldxChange amended its channel strategy, de­
emphasized the direct mail channel and devoted its efforts to pursue more profitable methods of attracting and retaining customers. 
WorldxChange also utilizes commercial agents as well as a network of independent commission agents recruited through its multi­
level marketing programs to retain and attract new customers. 

On December 6, 2002, we entered into a definitive purchase and sale agreement to sell substantially all of the assets and customer base 
of I-Link Communications Inc. ("ILC"), a wholly owned subsidiary of I-Link, to Buyers United, Inc. ("BUI"). The sale is anticipated 
to close in the second quarter of 2003. The sale includes the physical assets required to operate I-Link's nationwide network using its 
patented VoIP technology (constituting the core business ofILC) and a fully paid perpetual license to use our proprietary software­
based network convergence solution for voice and data. In January 2003, we entered into our second domestic agreement with a 
communications company, to license and assist that company in deploying a similar network solution for voice and data. (see Note 4 
offmancial statements included in Item 8 hereof) 

We have three issued patents and utilize the technology underlying those patents in providing our products and services. We have also 
licensed certain portions of that technology to third parties. We have several patent applications that are currently pending before 
United States Patent and Trademark Office ("USPTO"). See Item #2 - Description of Properties below for a more full explanation of 
our patents. 

On December 10,2002, WorldxChange completed the purchase of the Enterprise and Agent business ofRSL COM U.S.A. Inc 
("RSL") from a bankruptcy proceeding. The acquisition included the assets used by RSL to provide long distance voice and data 
services, including frame relay, to small and medium size businesses ("Direct" business), and the assets used to provide long distance 
and other voice services to small businesses and the consumer/residential market ("A&R" business), together with the existing 
customer base of the Enterprise and Agent business. 

Today, I-Link remains focused on delivering voice and data services and solutions to our partners and customers. With over eight 
years experience developing VoIP technologies, I-Link continues to offer a 
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proven and time-tested solution for companies to use our technology to reduce telecommunication costs and/or who wish to enter the 
enhanced communications market. At present, I-Link continues to actively market its voice and data services and solutions through 
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wholesale and retail channels, and licenses its enhanced services platform to partners and service providers domestically who wish to 
offer voice services without incurring high development costs. 

As of December 31,2002, I-Link had 356 employees with whom we feel we have a generally good relationship. We are not subject to 
any collective bargaining agreements. 

Business Reorganization 

At the next shareholders' meeting, we intend to ask shareholders to approve a proposal to change the name ofI-Link Incorporated to 
Acceris Communications Inc. 

In late 2002, we reorganized I-Link into three operating segments. Acceris Communications Partners ("Acceris Partners"), Acceris 
Communications Solutions ("Acceris Solutions") and Acceris Communications Technologies ("Acceris Technologies"). These 
segments are discussed below. 

Acceris Partners is a combination of the WorldxChange assets acquired in June 200 I and the A&R business of RSL, which we 
acquired in December 2002. Acceris Partners is a facilities-based provider of circuit-switched long distance telecommunication 
services to end users. Acceris Partners, through WorldxChange, initially approached the market through a combination of direct 
mailings (primarily of a dial-around product that allows a customer to make a call from any phone by dialing a 10-1 O-XXX prefix) 
and multi-level marketing ("MLM"). In 2002, Acceris Partners amended its channel strategy, de-emphasizing the direct mail channel 
and devoting our efforts to the agent channel. It is focused on two distinct agent channels: MLM and commercial agent. In addition, 
Acceris Partners expanded its product offerings in 2002 to focus on I + switched (I + is when a customer can pick up the phone and 
directly dial a long distance number by pushing I-area code-phone number), dedicated circuits, and data. Further, the Company began 
to offer a I +plus calling plan to its existing customer base in the dial around business (10-1 O-XXX prefix). This segment accounted 
for approximately 95% of the revenue from continuing operations in 2002 and is expected to be the largest contributor to revenue in 
2003, but at a lesser percentage as Acceris Solutions contributes a larger proportion. There were no customers in 2002 that accounted 
for over 10% of this segment's revenues, which revenues were generated in the United States of America. 

Acceris Solutions is the Enterprise business of RSL, which was acquired in December 2002. Acceris Solutions provides customized 
integrated communications solutions for voice and data. Our innovative approach to networking, connectivity and telecommunications 
products and services leverages technology to improve the way our customers do business. Our solutions help our customers increase 
revenues and reduce the total cost of technology ownership. What differentiates Acceris Solutions from other network providers is that 
we will work with our customers to develop a customized solution that is designed and implemented specifically for the way they do 
business. As this business was acquired in December 2002, this segment accounted for approximately 2% of the revenue from 
continuing operations in 2002. The revenue contribution from this source will increase dramatically in 2003 as it operates for the full 
year in 2003 . In 2002, Acceris Solution's two largest customers accounted for 12% and 10% respectively of the revenues of this 
segment which revenues were generated in the United States of America. 

Acceris Technologies is the former technology licensing and development business ofI-Link. Acceris Technologies offers a fully 
developed network convergence solution for voice and data. Over the last five years, Acceris Technologies has sold several 
technology licenses in international markets based on its IP communications technology, which are supported by three patents. 
Acceris Technologies refined its technology over the last five years by proving and resolving quality of service integration while 
developing numerous enhanced features that create incremental revenue for communications providers. This maturing of the 
technology was enabled by the building and operation of an IP network across the United States. 
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This segment accounted for approximately 3% of the revenue from continuing operations in 2002. The revenue contribution from this 
source is expected to increase in 2003, however its contribution as a percentage of total revenue will remain relatively consistent with 
2002. There were three customers in 2002 each of which accounted for over 10% of the total revenues and which, combined, 
accounted for 100% of this segment's revenues, which revenues were with US subsidiaries of international companies. However, as 
of the end of 2002 these customers were no longer our customers. 

Competition 

Our long-term success will be founded in our ability to provide quality service, enhanced features and new product offerings, which 
offer greater convenience to the Consumer and Enterprise markets. These products must be offered at value for service pricing, 
through our selected distribution channels. 

The Acceris Solutions and Acceris Partners businesses face competition from numerous telecommunications organizations offering 
service in the United States. Providers include such large organizations as AT&T, Sprint and Verizon, as well as numerous small, less 
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widely known, service providers. 

The Acceris Partners business, consistent with its competitors, sees significant attrition in its customer base over short periods of time. 
In order to attract new customers and minimize attrition, we must develop and market product offerings that appeal to people 
demanding long distance services originating in the United States. Factors that influence the highly mobile customer base include, 
among other things, premium quality of service, enhanced features offerings and premium customer service, at value pricing. Long­
term success in the Acceris Partners market is sustained by attracting new customers and developing customer loyalty. 

The Acceris Solutions business differs significantly from the Acceris Partners business. In this business, customers tend to remain 
with the Company for many years. This longer term retention results in recurring revenue streams, which result from our ability to 
offer specific solutions to each individual customer. Acceris Solutions differentiates itselffrom its competitors by offering 
customized, integrated solutions that enhance its customers' productivity and, ultimately, improve profitability. 

Acceris Technologies offers an internally developed patented technology solution that operates in both a convergence and IP world. 
Acceris Technologies provides a 100% software solution for VoIP deployment. The solution unlike some competition does not rely 
on hardware to provide switching, conference or enhanced services. Additionally, the solution provides an open Application 
Programming Interface ("API"), to enable development of a wide variety of voice applications and services. Commencing in late 
2002, we made the decision to pursue the development of the domestic market providing software based IP solutions to United States 
domestic carriers which assists those companies by reducing their internal costs and/or allows them to offer enhanced service products 
(such as One-number) to retail customers. Prior to late 2002, we had offered these products internationally and marketed our 
enhanced service products to customers on a retail basis. Formalizing this directional decision of our overall business strategy, in 
December we entered into an agreement to sell our IP network operations based in Draper, Utah to BUI. We do not see any direct 
competition to our current technology although there are many competitors with certain portions of our technology, but not as an 
entire package. Our competition would include the traditional switched telephony infrastructure providers, such as NorteI and Lucent, 
which this technology displaces. While our competition offers products with similar features, our competitive product is software 
based versus hardware based and as such can be deployed at a significantly lower cost. Also the software nature of our product makes 
it easier and more economically feasible to develop additional features and services to meet ever-changing customer needs. 

Government Regulation 

General. We believe many of the services we provide are subject to the provisions of the 
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Telecommunications Act of 1996 (the" 1996 Act"), the regulations promulgated thereunder, as well as the applicable laws and 
regulations of the various states administered by the relevant state authorities. While the recent trend in the U.S., for both federal and 
state regulation of telecommunication service providers has been toward less regulation rather then more, the Federal Communications 
Commission ("FCC") and relevant state authorities continue to regulate telecommunication carriers and the terms and conditions 
under which telecommunication services are provided. 

Federal. The FCC modifies its regulations of telecommunication carriers from time to time. In March 2001, the FCC issued an order 
requiring non-dominant carriers to remove their international exchange service tariffs from the FCC by January 28,2002. We believe 
we are in compliance with the FCC's detariffmg orders and that achieving such compliance did not significantly impact us. 

In 1997 the FCC issued an order implementing those provisions of the 1996 Act, which promote universal telephone service (the 
"USF Order"). The USF Order requires interstate telecommunication carriers to contribute toward a fund for schools and libraries, a 
fund for rural health care and a fund to develop regions characterized by low income levels and high telecommunication costs 
(collectively "USF"). Our USF contributions are assessed based on certain end user telecommunication revenues, which we calculate 
in accordance with the FCC's legislative rules. The amounts we contribute to USF may be billed to our end-users and we have elected 
to pass those charges along to our end user customers. If we continue to bill these amounts to our end-user customers, our customers 
may choose to purchase similar services from our competitors. Ifwe eJect not to bill these amounts to our end-user customers in the 
future, our profit margins may be less. 

During the past year the FCC increased the USF contribution percentages. Originally in May 2001 and subsequently in February 
2002, the FCC proposed changes to the U SF regulations that, if adopted, would alter the basis on which we determine our USF 
contributions and the ability and means by which such contributions may be recovered from our customers. For example, although the 
FCC has not proposed to prevent carriers from passing USF charges through to customers, the FCC has recently ruled that it will limit 
the extent to which carrier costs for administering USF charges may be passed through to customers. In addition, the FCC is 
considering alternative mechanisms under which it will assess USF charges to carriers. Although we believe that certain proposals 
may benefit the Company, we cannot predict the outcome of these proceedings. It remains possible that the FCC could adopt a USF 
contribution mechanism that would have a negative effect upon our operations. 
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State. In addition to regulation by the FCC, the majority of the states require us to register or apply for certification prior to initiating 
intrastate interexchange telecommunications services. To date, our subsidiaries, ILC and WorldxChange, are authorized through 
certification to provide intrastate interexchange telecommunications services and, in certain states, local exchange services. These 
subsidiaries are subject to the obligations that the applicable state laws place on all simjlarly certificated carriers including the 
regulation of services, the payment of regulatory fees and the preparation and submission of reports. If state regulators or legislators 
change current regulations or adopt new regulations it may negatively impact our ability to provide telecommunication services. 

Available Information 

I-Link is subject to the informational requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (Exchange Act), which 
requires that I-Link file reports, proxy statements and other information with the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") . The 
SEC maintains a website on the Internet that contains reports, proxy and information statements and other information regarding 
registrants, including I-Link, that file electronically with the SEC. The SEC's website address is www.sec.gov. In addition, I-Link's 
Exchange Act filings may be inspected and copied at the public reference facilities of the SEC located at Room 1024, Judiciary Plaza, 
450 Fifth Street, N.W., Washington, DC 20549; and at the SEC's regional offices at Citicorp Center, 500 West Madison Street, Room 
1400, Chicago, IL 60661, and at 233 Broadway, New York, NY 10279. Copies of the material may also be obtained upon request and 
payment of the appropriate fee from the Public Reference Section of the SEC located at Room 1024, Judiciary Plaza, 450 Fifth Street, 
N.W. , Washington, DC 20549. 
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Item 2. Description of Properties 

At December 31,2002, I-Link leased approximately 26,300 square feet of space for office and other facilities in Draper, Utah pursuant 
to commercial leases with original terms of five to seven years. These leases expire between 2003 and 2005 subject to our right to 
extend for an additional five years. The current aggregate base rent is approximately $28,000 per month. I-Link also leases several 
other co-location facilities throughout the United States to house its Communication Engines. Such spaces vary in size and length of 
term. 

Of the 26,300 square feet leased as of December 31, 2002, I-Link subleased approximately 12,000 square feet on a month to month 
basis at approximately $14,000 per month which was the same as our cost. In February 2003, I-Link was released from this lease 
(12,000 square feet) and cancelled its related sublease agreement. 

In December 2002, I-Link entered into an agreement wherein it was released from the lease of approximately 14,300 square feet 
(approximately $14,000 per month) subject to the closing of its sale of certain assets to BUI, which we anticipate will close in the 
second quarter of 2003. 

WorldxChange rents approximately 24,000 square feet of office space in San Diego, California under a five-year commercial lease 
dated August I, 1997, which was extended to March 2003, at a cost of approximately $25,000 per month. WorldxChange also leases 
several other co-location facilities throughout the United States to house its network equipment. Such spaces vary in size and length 
of term. 

WorldxChange also rents approximately 46,000 square feet of office space in Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania under a lease dated December 
II, 2002 and expiring on June 30, 2005, at a cost of approximately $54,000 per month. A $200,000 irrevocable letter of credit is in 
place until December 2004 as security for the lease. 

We have three issued patents and utilize the technology underlying those patents in providing our products and services. We have also 
licensed certain portions of that technology to third parties. We have several patent applications that are currently pending before 
USPTO. In August 2002, our "voice internet transmission system" patent ("VoIP Patent") was issued (No. 6,438,124) The VoIP 
Patent joins I-Link's two other IP patents, filed in 1996, which are related to the delivery of high quality conference calls with 
compressed signals (No. 5,898,675; No. 5,754,534). Together, these patented technologies have been successfully deployed and 
commercially proven in a nationwide IP network and in I-Link's unified messaging service, application programming interface, and 
software licensing businesses. I-Link plans to further leverage these patents as it packages an IP solution for the growing Enterprise 
and applications markets. While we are using the technology underlying the VoIP Patent in our business, we are also investigating 
whether and to what extent the VoIP Patent is licensable to third parties. The Company is currently reviewing the results of that 
review and considering its alternatives. 

Item 3 . Legal Proceedings 

In the Arbitration Matter of Red Cube International AG, v. I-Link Incorporated, before the American Arbitration Association, New 
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York, hew York, AAA # 50 T 117 0002B 01. 

On or about January 24,2001 Red Cube International, AG (“Red Cube AG”) delivered to us a written demand for arbitration under a 
May 2000 Cooperation and Framework Agreement between the parties. Red Cube AG’s demand constituted written notice of an 
alleged breach of the Cooperation and Framework Agreement. We denied these allegations, filed a counterclaim against Red Cube, 
AG and filed a third-party claim against Red Cube, Inc, seeking compensatory andor punitive damages for Red Cube Inc. ’s default 
under a subsequent agreement to provide approximately $60,000,000 in equity funding to us, engaging in a scheme to drive us out of 
business and obtain control of our proprietary technology, telecommunications network, key 
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employees and customers. 

On July 9,2002 an evidentiary arbitration hearing was held in New York before a panel of arbitrators of the AAA and the AAA panel 
issued its award effective October 7,2002. The AAA panel dismissed all of Red Cube’s claims with prejudice and determined that 
Red Cube had breached the agreements between the parties. The arbitration panel awarded I-Link $6,74 1,83 5 in damages against Red 
Cube International AG and Red Cube International, Inc., jointly and severally. In addition the AAA panel ordered Red Cube to pay I- 
Link $18,210 as reimbursement for certain administrative fees and expenses and $64,033 as reimbursement for a portion of the 
arbitrators’ compensation. As uncertainty exists at this time as to the ultimattz collectibility of the awarded amount, management has 
not recorded any benefit relating to this reward in the financial statements. 

’ 

DNit. Inc. v I-Link Incorporated. Civil No. H-00-39 14, United States District Court, Southern District of Texas, Houston Division. 

On November 9,2000 DNit, hc (“Dvit”) filed an action against I-Link in federal court in Texas alleging that I-Link’s use of the “V- 
Link” trademark infi-inged upon Dvit’s intellectual property rights in the mark “V Linc”. Dvit’s complaint sought damages and an 
injunction enjoining I-Link’s use of the mark “V-Link”. On August 22,2001 the court issued a preliminary injunction enjoining I- 
Link’s use of the “V-Link” mark. I-Link had already elected to change the name of its product to “I-Link One Number”. On February 
14,2002, I-Link filed a motion for summq judgment asking the court to rule as a matter of law that I-Link’s past use of the “V- 
Link” mark did not constitute an infringement upon Dvit’s intellectual property rights in the “V Linc” mark. Also on February 14, 
2002, Dvit filed a motion for partial swnmary judgment asking the court to determine as a matter of law that I-Link’s prior use of the 
“V-Link” mark i&hged upon Dvit’s rights in the “V Linc’’ mark. On May 8,2002, the court issued a Memorandum and Order 
(“Order’’) denying I-Link’s motion for summary judgment and granting Dvit’s partial motion for summary judgment. The Order 
permanently enjoined I-Link fkom using the “V-Link” mark in association with the sale, marketing, description, development or 
service of its telecommunications products. The court’s order did not address possible damages. In December 2002, we settled the 
claim for $180,000 of which $120,000 was previously reserved. 

We are involved in litigation relating to claims arising out of our operations in the normal course of business, none of which is 
expected, individually or in the aggregate, to have a material adverse affect on us. 

Item 4 Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders 

No matter was submitted during the fourth quarter of the fiscal year ended December 3 1 , 2002, to a vote of our security holders. 

PART I1 

Item 5 . Market for I-Link Incorporated’s Common Stock and Related Stockholder Matters 

Price Rawe of Common Stock 

I-Link’s common stock is traded on the OTC-Electronic Bulletin Board under the symbol ILK.  

The following table sets forth the high and low prices for our common stock for the period as quoted on Nasdaq from January 1 2000 
to September 30,2001 and on the Electonic Bulletin Board from October 1,2001 to December 3 1,2002 (as reported by Commodity 
Systems, Inc.) based on interdealer 
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quotations, Without retail markup, markdown, commissions or adjustments and may not represent actual transactions: 
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Quarter Ended 

March 3 1,2001 
June 30,2001 
September 30,2001 
December 3 1,200 1 
March 3 1,2002 
June 30,2002 
September 30,2002 
December 3 1,2002 

High Low 

$ 1.22$ 0.25 
0.75 0.38 
0.57 0.19 
0.24 0.07 

$ 0.50$ 0.07 
0.29 0.13 
0.24 0.09 
0.17 0.07 

On March 27 2003, the closing price for a share of our common stock was $0.13. 

As of March 18,2003, we had approximately 800 stockholders of common stock of record and approximately 11,700 beneficial 
owners. 

Dividends 

To date, we have not paid and do not anticipate that we will pay dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable future. As of 
December 3 1,2002, we do not have any preferred stock outstanding which has any preferential dividend. Preferred stock dividends in 
the amount of $0, $0 and $196,333 were paid in 2002,2001 and 2000, respectively, in common stock (non-cash) on the converted 
shares of Series F redeemable preferred stock. A preferred stock dividend in the amount of %630,3 13 was paid in 2001 in common 
stock (non-cash) on the Class C preferred stock. 

Item 6 . Selected Financial Data 

The following selected consolidated financial information was derived from the audited consolidated financial statements and notes 
thereto. The information set forth below is not necessarily indicative of the results of future operations and should be read in 
conjunction with Item 7 - Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and the 
Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes thereto included elsewhere in this Form 1 O X .  

Statement of Operations 
Data : 
Revenues: 
Telecommunications services $ 

Technology licensing and 
Development 
Other 
Net sales 
Operating costs and expenses: 
Telecommunications network 
expenses 
Marketing services costs 
Selling general, 
administrative and other 
Total operating expenses 
Operating loss 
Other income (expense) 
Loss h m  continuing 
operations 
Loss h m  discontinued 
operations 
Loss before extraordinary gain 
Extraordinary gain on 
extinguishment of debt 
Net loss $ 
Loss h m  continuing $ 
operations applicable to 
common stock 
Net loss per common share - 
basic and diluted: 
Loss from continuing $ 
operations 

. Marketing services 

2002 

90,410,940 $ 
- 

2,836,655 

- 
93,247,595 

50,935,474 

- 
46,337,126 

97,272,600 
(4,025,005 ) 
(7,498,52 6) 

(1 1,523,531) 

(12,508,374) 

(24,03 1,905) 
- 

(24,03 1,905) S 
(11,523,531) $ 

(0.10) $ 

2001 2000 1999 iwa 

50,288,917 $ 

5,696,893 

- 
55,985,8 10 

35,545,611 

- 
42,392,038 

77,937,649 
(21,95 1,839) 
(4,023,016) 
(25,974,855) 

(19,6 14,588) 

(45,589,443) 
1,092,818 

(44,496,625) $ 
(10,759,019) $ 

(0.11) s 

- $  
463,740 

8,972,828 

400,000 
9,836,568 

456,354 
22,893,902 

23,350,256 
(133 13,688) 
(1,639,109) 
(15,152,797) 

(10,599,38 1 ) 

(25,752,178) - 
(25,752,178) $ 
(16,799,615) $ 

(.63) S 

- $  
3,672,988 
2,506,701 

- 
6,179,689 

- 
5,400,149 
18,265,3 90 

23,665,539 
(17,485,850) 
(4,856,201 ) 
(22,342,05 1) 

(2,3 17,237) 

(24,659,288) 
- 

(24,659,288) $ 
(3 1,269,025) $ 

(1.46) $ 

- 
4,548,42 1 
1,466,3 15 

- 
6,O 14,736 

- 

5,850,873 
14,6 15,105 

20,465,978 
(14,451,242) 
(8,070,501) 
(2232 1,743) 

(5,436,336) 

(27,958,079) 
- 

(27,958,079) 
(32,362,885) 
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Loss firm discontinued 
operations 

s Extraardinary gain 
Net loss per common share 
Balance Sheet Data : 

Property and equipment, net 
Total assets 
Long-tenn obligations 
Stockholders’ deficit 

$ 

Working capital deficit $ 

(0.11) (0.20) 

0.01 - 
(0.21) s (0.30) $ 

(13,739,329) $ (40,812,272) $ 
11,479,111 2 1,023,696 
46,272,7 14 46,780,149 
64,518,354 19,66 1,184 

(60,4 19,423) (36,997,854) 

- 
(1.03) S 

(30,060,766) S 
10,983,273 
2 1,657,492 
2,801,592 

(28,839,06 I )  

(0.11) 

- 
(1.57) $ 

(1,318,640) $ 
7,O 19,36 1 

2 1,658,199 
9,658,525 

(1 1,049,897) 

(0.31) 

- 
(2.14) 

(4,073,914) 
7,262,78 1 

23,855,363 
8,785,933 

(16,953,363) 
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On April 17,2001, we acquired WebToTel Incorporated and its subsidiaries (including Nexbell Communications Inc.) in a stock for 
stock transaction. However, as WebToTel (which wasa subsidiary of Counsel) and I-Link were under common control of Counsel 
(the majority shareholder of I-Link) as of March 1,2001 (the date Counsel obtained its ownership in I-Link), we have accounted for 
the acquisition on an accounting method consistent with the pooling-of-interests method of accounting as of March 1,200 1. 
Accordingly, we have included the financial results of WebToTel and its subsidiaries (including Nexbell which was sold in 
December 2001) subsequent to March 1,2001. 

I 

On June 4,200 1, I-Link, through WorIdxChange, purchased certain assets and assumed certain liabilities of WorldxChange 
Communications, Inc. from a bankruptcy proceeding. WorldxChange is a facilities-based telecommunications carrier that provides 
international and domestic long-distance service to residential and commercial customers. WorldxChange operations are part of our 
Acceris Partners segment of operations. 

On December 6,2002, I-Link entered into an agreement to sell substantially all of the assets of ILC. The sale includes the physical 
assets required to operate I-Link’s nationwide network using its patented VolP technology (constituting the core business of ILC) and 
a license in perpetuity to use I-Link’s proprietary software platform. Additionally, I-Link is selling its customer base that was serviced 
by ILC. The sale is anticipated to close in the second quarter of 2003. Operating results of E C  have been reclassified in the years 
from 1998 to 2002 to discontinued operations. The operations of ILC had previously been reported as part of a business segment 
referred to as Telecommunication Services, which was a separate segment different than our current business segments. 

On December 10,2002, WorldxChange completed the purchase of the Enterprise and Agent business of RSL. The acquisition 
included the assets used by RSL to provide long distance voice and data services, including frame relay, to small and medium size 
businesses (“‘Direct” business), and the assets used to provide long distance and other voice services to small businesses and the 
consumer/residential market (“A&R” business), together with the existing customer base of the Enterprise and Agent business. 
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The Direct and A&R businesses are included in our Acceris Partners segment while the Enterprise and Agent business is included in 
our Acceris Solutions segment. 

Item 7 . Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations 

The Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer of I-Link have evaluated the disclosure controls and procedures of I-Link and 
detennined that there were significant deficiencies and material weaknesses. For more information regarding these findings and 
corrective actions taken, see the discussion in Item 14 - Controls and Procedures below. 

Forward-Looking Information 

This report contains certain ‘Iforward-looking statements ” within the meaning of Section 2 7A of the Securities Act of 1933, as 
amended, Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and information relating to Mink that are based on 
management’s aercise of business judgment as well as assumptions made by and information currently available tu management. 
When used in this document, the words “anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate, ” “expect,” and “intend” and words of similar import, are 
intended to identi3 any forward-looking statements. You should not place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements. These 
statements reflect our current view off i fwe  events and are subject to certain risks and uncertainties as noted below. Should one or 
more of these risks or uncertainties materialize, or should underiying assumptions prove incorrect, our achraI resulfs could d&er 
materiallyfi.om those anticipated in these forward-looking statements. 

Although we believe that our expectations are based on reasonable assumptions, we can give no assurance that our expectations will 
materialize. Many factors could cause actual results to differ materially from our forward-looking statements. Several of these factors 

M 
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include, without limitation: 

I The Company’s ability to: 
. 

I finance and manage expected growth; 

e provide ongoing competitive services and pricing; 

I retain and attract key personnel; 

I operate effective network facilities; 

0 maintain favorable relationships with local exchange carriers (“LEC”s), long distance providers and other vendors; including 
our ability to meet our usage commitments. 

I attract new subscribers while minimizing subscriber attrition; 

0 adjust the channel of distribution for Acceris Partners fiom a direct 10- 10-xxx and MLM agent channel strategy to a 
commercial agent and MLM strategy; 

I revitalize @e sales efforts of the business operations acquired out of bankruptcy (RSL); 

0 efficiently integrate completed and currently contemplated acquisitions; 

e address legal proceeding in a effective manner; 

0 Changes in federal and state governmental regulation of the long distance telecommunications and internet industries; 

I The adoption of new, or changes in, accounting principles; 

Our ability to maintain, operate and upgrade our information systems network; 

Our ability to complete our debt restructuring agreement with Counsel; 

Counsel’s continued commitment and ability to finance funds required by the operations of the business as well as our own 
ability to funds any cash requirements; 

I Other risks referenced fiom time to time in our filings with the SEC. 

We undertake no obligation and do not intend to update, revise or otherwise publicly release any revisions to these forward-lookjng 
statements to reflect events or circumstances after the date hereof or to reflect the occurrence of any unanticipated events. 
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Critical Accountinp Policies 

A summary of our significant accounting policies is included in Footnote 1 to our Consolidated Financial Statements. Our 
Consolidated Financial Statements are based on the selection and application of significant accounting policies, some of which require 
management to make estimates and assumptions which affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and 
also affect the disclosure of contingent items. Critical accounting policies are those that may have a material impact on our 
Consolidated Financial Statements and also require management to exercise significant judgement. We believe our more critical 
judgment areas in the application of our accounting policies that currently affect our f m c i a l  condition and results of operations 
include those addressing the recognition of revenue, provision for doubtful accounts and the recoverability and useful lives of tangible 
and intangible assets. 

Results of Continuing Operations 

When considering the review of the results of continuing operations for 2002 compared to 2001 , and 2001 compared to 2000, it is 
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important to note the following significant changes in our operations that occurred in 2002 and 2001. Namely: 

1. 
Communications, Inc. W orldxchange continues to offer the dial-around telecommunications product, which WorldxChange 
Communications, Inc. bad previously offered. We did not offer a comparable product prior to June 4,2001. 

b 

On June 4,2001, WorldxChange completed the purchase of certain assets and liabilities of WorldxChange 

2. 
assumption of certain liabilities. RSL offers voice services to residential and small business customers through an indirect sales 
channel. It also offers voice and data solutions to small and medium size enterprise customers through a direct sales channel. The 
RSL operations from December 11,2002 to December 3 1,2002 have been included in the statement of operations for 2002. 

On December 10,2002, WorldxChange acquired the Enterprise and Agent Business of RSL, including the 

3. On December 6,2002, we entered into an agreement to sell substantially all of the assets and customer base of 
ILC. The sale is anticipated to close in the second quarter of 2003. As a result of the agreement, the operational results related to ILC 
have been reclassified as discontinued operations in the current and prior years and accordingly are not specifically included in the 
following analysis of continuing operations for the past three years. 

Revenues 

Telecommunications services revenue increased to $90.4 million in 2002 from $50.3 million in 2001. The increase is primarily 
related to the folIowing events: I 

(1) 
purchase was accounted for under the purchase method of accounting. Accordingly, revenue in 2001 is limited to revenue from the 
date of acquisition in June 2001 through the end of 2001 (approximately seven months). In 2002, revenue for twelve months of 
operations of WorldxChange is included in the reported revenue. 

In June 2001, we acquired the long distance operations of WorldxChange Communications Inc. fiom bankruptcy. The 

(2) 
COM USA, Inc. (,,RSL”) from bankruptcy. The acquisition has been accounted for under the purchase method of accounting; 
accordingly, revenue subsequent to the acquisition, which is approximately three weeks of 2002, has been included in the reported 
revenue. 

In December 2002, we acquired the assets of the Agent and Residential business (“A&R’) and the Enterprise business of RSL 

In the segment reporting section of the consolidated financial statements, we segment the 
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telecommunications revenue by its operating segments, known as Accens Partners and Acceris Solutions. The Acceris Partners 
business includes the operations of the former WorldxChange and the former A&R business of RSL, while the Acceris Solutions 
business is comprised of the former Enterprise business of RSL. 

Acceris Partners : The Acceris P m e r s  business accounted for $88.9 million of the continuing telecommunications services revenue 
in 2002 and all of the 2001 te1eco“ications services revenue. There were no 2000 telecommunications services revenues (or 
expenses) from continuing operations, as the telecommunications services revenues from continuing operations began in June 2001, 

Comparing Acceris Partners 2002 revenues to annualized 2001 revenue shows a small increase in revenue. Understanding the change 
in revenue requires a more detailed review as follows. Telecommunications services revenues are the result of three primary 
elements, specifically, volume of minutes, rate per minute and the number of customers. 

In 2002, the Acceris Partners business experienced an increase of approximately 12% in the volume of minutes over its network 
compared to 2001 on an annualized basis. This increased network utilization was offset by a 23% decrease in the average rate per 
minute due to significant price decreases in the long distance market throughout most of 2002 which decreases we do not expect to 
contiye in 2003. The average number of customers in 2002 increased over 2001 by 3%. Part of the source of that increase began in 
the fourtb quarter of 2001, when Accerk Partners embarked on an aggressive direct advertising campaign which resulted in large 
increases in the number of customers on the network in late 2001and into the first half of 2002. While the investment h direct 
advertising increased revenues, its contribution was not as profitable as we had expected. Accordingly in early 2002, we ceased our 
direct advertising campaign and pursued more profitable methods of attracting and retaining customers. Among the alternative 
methods being used to attract profitable customers was our decision to focus on and grow our commercial agent and MLM channels, 
while also expanding our product offerings to include 1+ long distance services, content provisioning, wholesale carriage, and 
conference call services. The acquisition of the A&R business of RSL is expected to act as an accelerator to our commercial agent 
strategy. 

Acceris Partners expects to show increasing revenue in 2003. We believe the increase will be achieved by (1) increasing the customer 
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base, which in turn increases network utilization and (2) the effect of a full year inclusion of the A&R business of RSL. The expected 
hcrease in customer base will come from the customer attraction and retention programs in place, the completing and maturing of the 
channel transition coupled with the rounding out of Acceris Partners’ products offerings. 

Acceris Solutions : Revenue from Acceris Solutions in 2002 came from the Enterprise business of RSL, which we acquired out of 
bankruptcy on December 10,2002. Revenue of $1.5 million has been included in 2002 for the period fiom December 1 I, 2002 
through December 3 1,2002. While in bankruptcy, the Enterprise business of RSL found it nearly impossible to attract new 
customers. Despite competitive pricing, prospective customers were unwilling to make contractual commitments given RSL’s 
financial uncertainty. This financial uncertainty also affected the existing customer base as their contracts expired, resulting in higher 
than normal customer turnover. We expect price competition to continue in 2003, however we believe that our contribution margin 
from our revenues in this segment will remain comparable with 2002. 

While in bankruptcy, the Enterprise business of RSL concentrated on maintaining its customer base. Upon our acquisition of the 
business, we have focused on stabilizing the existing customer base and have instituted a customer acquisition plan which we expect 
will take several months to put in place before we see significant customer acquisitions. We expect to see a steady growth in revenue 
from our sales efforts beginning in the second half of 2003 and beyond. 

We expect Acceris Solutions to be self-funding beyond its acquisition capitalization. Like Acceris Partners, in order to obtain 
working capital, Acceris Solutions will enter into an asset backed debt facility based on the quality of its accounts receivable; such 
debt will be senior to the debt of Counsel. We do not anticipate making debt repayments in 2003 to Counsel on our debt instrument 
used to acquire RSL. 
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Acceris Technologies .- Acceris Technologies is the segment responsible for licensing and development revenue, which revenues were 
$2.8 million in 2002, $5.7 million in 2001 and $9.0 million in 2000. Revenues in 2002 ($1.7 million), 2001 ($5.0 million) and 2000 
($3.3 million) were from a $10 million licensing agreement entered into May 2000 between Red Cube and I-Link that was recorded as 
revenue over a twenty-four month period, which ended in May 2002. When examining the technology licensing market it is important 
to appreciate that the revenue is project based and as such revenue will vary from year to year based on timing of technology 
Iicensing, development projects and payments. 

The primary decrease in revenue in 2002 fiom 2001 was due to the reduction in revenue recorded relating to the Red Cube agreement. 
Historically, Acceris Technologies has focused its sales on international markets while focusing domestically on its own network 
development, which we intended to take to market. In December 2002, we entered into an agreement to sell the domestic network 
operations (KC) to BUI as part of a formal plan of disposal pursuant to a refocusing of strategy by Acceris. The sale is anticipated to 
close in the second quarter of 2003. While we sold the operations of ILC, we retained ownership of the technology that was licensed 
to BUI. While the licensing to BUI was the first domestic licensing of our technology, in January 2003, we entered into OUT second 
domestic licensing agreement and expect to sell several additional licenses throughout 2003. 

The decrease from 2000 to 200 1 was primarily a result of licensing agreements in 2000 that did not recur in 200 1, primarily two 
agreements that resulted in revenues of nearly $4.0 million in 2000 which did not recur in 200 1. This decrease was offset by increased 
revenues from the Red Cube agreement and $680,000 from a new foreign license agreement in 2001. 

Other revenues 

In 2000, we had marketing services revenues of $463,740. The business to which this revenue related was sold in February 2000 and 
accordingly there have been no such revenues since then, Additionally, in 2000 we had revenues of $400,000 relating to the sale of 
products, which product has not been sold since that date nor is there anticipated to be any comparable sales in the future. 

Operating costs and expenses 

Acceris Partners’ telecommunication network expense was $49.7 million in 2002 and $35.5 million in 200 1. The increase in 2002 
over 2001 relates primarily to inclusion of a fbll year of WorldxChange operations in Acceris Partners as opposed to seven months in 
2001. On an annualized basis, telecommunications network expense decreased from 2001 to 2002. The decrease on an annualized 
basis correlates with a 16% increase in telecommunications services revenue margin (telecommunication services revenue compared 
to telecommunication network expense) in 2002 over 2001, primarily relating to improved network efficiency derived from reductions 
in operating costs and efficiencies relating to more scaled utilization of the network. As outlined in the revenue discussions, price 
erosion was pervasive throughout 2002, however this erosion was mitigated by price protection clauses in our contracts with our 
underlying carriers that also reduce our canier costs. In 2003, we expect telecommunication network expense will directly correlate 
with telecommunication services revenues and that the telecommunications services margin will remain consistent with 2002. Acceris 
Solutions accounted for $1.2 million of the total network expense in 2002 and we anticipate its telecommunications network expense 
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will increase in 2003 at a slower rate than its revenue growth thus increasing telecommunications services margins. 

Acceris Partners’ selling, general, administrative and other expense was $29.1 million in 2002 up from $20.4 Illillion in 2001. The 
increase in 2002 over 200 1 primarily relates to a full year of operations of Acceris Partners, primarily WorldxChange, in 2002 as 
compared to seven months of operations in 2001. Selling, general, administrative and other expense will increase in 2003 due to the 
inclusion of the A&R business of RSL which we acquired in December 2002. Selling, general, administrative and other expense for 
2002 includes advertising costs of $1,590,000 as compared to $7,266,000 in 2001. The decrease in 2002 compared to 2001 relates to 
the curtailment of a direct advertising program in the first quarter of 2002 that commenced in 2001. The program was curtailed, as the 
returns from the program did not justify the investment. Subsequent to the curtailment of the direct advertising program in early 2002, 
management focused its attention on the reorganization of its channel strategy by placing larger emphasis on the 
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commercial agent and Multi-Level-Marketing (“MLM’) channels. The transition in strategy reduced advertising costs but introduced a 
higher level of sales commissions. Acceris Solutions accounted for $777,000 of selling, general, administrative and other expense in 
2002. It is anticipated that this expense will remain constant on an annualized basis in 2003. Acceris Technologies’ selling, general, 
administrative and other expense was $45 1,000 as compared to $1.6 million in 2001 and $1.8 million in 2000. The decrease is 
directly related to our efforts to refocus our resources to better match our revenues. We anticipate that Acceris Tecbnologies’ selling, 
general, administrative and other expense in 2003 will approximate 2002. In. 2002, there were selling, general, administrative and 
other expenses of $4.1 million relating to corporate overhead which will be less in 2003 as a result of our termination of the Draper 
Utah operations in December 2002. Likewise in 2000 we incurred $196,000 in selling, general, administrative and other expense in 
the Marketing Services segment which did not recur after 2000. 

Acceris Partners’ provision for doubtfbl accounts was $6.3 million in 2002 as compared to $2.9 million in 200 1. The increase in 2002 
over 2001 primarily relates to a full year of revenue from Acceris Partners, primarily WorldxChge, in 2002 as compared to seven 
months of operations in 2001. Other than the increase due to a full year of operations, the provision increase in 2002 relates to a 
change in channels resulting in more direct billing of customers which incurs a larger percentage of uncollectible accounts. Acceris 
Solutions recorded a provision of $33,000 in 2002. Acceris Solutions anticipates that its 2003 provision for doubtful accounts as a 
percentage of revenue will remain consistent with 2002. Acceris Technologies had no bad debts in any year presented due to the 
nature of the revenues and revenue recognition policies. 

Acceris Partners’ depreciation and amortization was $4.1 million in 2002 compared to $2.3 Illillion in 200 1. The increase in 2002 over 
200 1 primarily relates to a full year of operations from Acceris Partners, primarily WorldxChange, in 2002 as compared to seven 
months of operations in 2001. We anticipate the dollar m o u n t  of 2003 depreciation to remain constant with 2002. Acceris Solutions 
recorded $158,000 in depreciation and amortization in 2002. It is anticipated that the dollar amount of their depreciation and 
amortization will remain constant on an annualized basis in 2003. Acceris Technologies recorded depreciation of $1 1,000 in 2002 
compared to $126,000 in 2001 and $98,000 in 2000. We anticipate that Acceris Technologies will incur depreciation consistent with 
2002 in 2003. 

Acceris Technologies incurred research and development costs of $1.4 million in 2002 compared to $2.3 million in 200 1 and $4.2 
million in 2000. The decreases over the past three years are a result of our decision to consolidate our research operations and to 
curtail research and development activities in order to concenbate our financial resources on sales and marketing of existing products. 
With the sale of the ILC business in December 2002, we have stopped OUT research and development activities and expect that there 
will be minimal research and development activities in 2003 as we continue to concentrate on sales of existing products. 

In 2000, we incurred marketing service costs of $456,354. The business to which this expense related was sold in February 2000 and 
accordingly there have been no such expenses since then. 

Other Income (expense) 

Interest expense was $7.9 million in 2002 as compared to $4.7 million in 2001 and $1.5 million in 2000. Overall the increase is 
directly related to ow increased debt from loans fiom Counsel (necessary to fund our continued cash operating requirements and 
acquisitions), inclusion of interest from Acceris Partner’s capital leases for twelve months in 2002 as compared to seven months in 
200 1 and from Acceris Partner’s revolving credit facility which originated in December 200 1. Interest expense in 2003 should 
decrease significantly due to the agreement with Counsel to convert approximately $29.3 million in debt into common stock of I-Link 
and our sale of the ILC business which will significantly decrease our operational cash requirements in the future. This decrease will 
be offset by the interest related to the new $8.5 million notes related to our acquisition of RSL in December 2002. 

Interest and other income were $395,000 in 2002, $81,000 in 2001 and $487,000 in 2000. Other income in 2002 was primarily related 
to Acceris Partners, who in the fourth quarter was informed that it had funds on deposit with certain carriers that it had not previously 
known existed. Upon verification of 
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such deposits, we recorded the asset and recognized other income of approxhately $200,000. We did not have similar transactions in 
2001 or 2000, nor do we anticipate similar transactions in 2003. The other changes from year to year relate to various items which do 
not recur from year to year and a decrease in interest earned in 2002 compared to 2001 and 2000 which corresponds to the decrease in 
average cash balances on hand during the respective years and the reduction in interest rates during the same periods. 

In December 200 1 we sold our subsidiary Nexbell to an unrelated party. The sale was a sale of Nexbell’s stock and accordingly the 
assets and liabilities of Nexbell were assumed by the purchaser with no further financial obligation on our part. At the time of the 
sale, the liabilities exceeded the assets of Nexbell and accordingly we have recorded a gain on sale of subsidiary in the amount of 
$588,943 (the amount by which the liabilities of Nexbell exceeded its assets). 

A settlement expense of $639,565 was recorded in 2000. This expense is the result of an obligation to issue 129,5 19 shares of 
common stock in exchange for trading restrictions imposed on JNC Opportunity Fund Ltd. (JNC) in relation to the common stock to 
be issued to JNC pursuant to a settlement and release agreement entered into in February 2000. The settlement and release agreement 
settled the litigation between JNC and us over unconverted Series I; preferred stock held by JNC. The amount of this expense was 
based upon the market price of our common stock on May 24,2000 when the common stock was issued. There was no comparable 
expense in 2002 or 2001. 

Extraordinary gain 

In 200 1, an extraordinary gain on extinguishment of debt was recorded. In the third quarter of 200 1, Nexbell (a wholly-owned 
subsidiary of I-Link at the time) was in default on two leases and at the time of settlement we were liable for $1,2723 18. As the 
liability was settled for $180,000, we recorded an extraordinary gain in the amount of $1,0923 18. There was no comparable event in 
2002 or 2000. 

Segment Profitability 

For the year ended December 3 1,2002, Acceris Partners and Solutions incurred operating segment losses from continuing operations 
of $3.2 million and $629,000, respectively. We anticipate that through revenue growth and continued control of expenses, both 
segments will report operating income for 2003. Acceris Technologies reported operating segment income of $976,000 in 2002. We 
anticipate that this segment will also report segment income in 2003. The measures of segment loss or income discussed above 
exclude approximately $8.1 million of expenses which are considered corporate expenses and which are not allocated to a specific 
segment. These expenses consist primarily of interest expense on debt from I-Link Incorporated to Counsel, which we anticipate will 
decrease dramatically in 2003 when the debt restructuring with Counsel is approved by the shareholders (see note 13). 

Liquiditv and Capital Resources 

Cash and cash equivalents as of December 3 1,2002 were $3.6 million compared to $4.7 million in 2001. 

Cash flow from orieratina activities 

The Company’s working capital deficit declined to $13.7 million as of December 3 1,2002, down from the $40.8 million as of 
December 3 1,200 1. The reduction in the working capital deficit is due primarily to the classification as long-term in 2002 of 
approximately $1 7.5 million in debt to Counsel which will be converted to equity in 2003 when the 2003 shareholders meeting is 
held. This $17.5 million in debt was classified as a current liability at December 3 1,2001. Additionally, $9.4 million in debt to 
Counsel was extended to 2004 and thus reduced our current liabilities. 

Cash used in operating activities during 2002 was $4.9 million compared to $29.3 million in 2001 
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and cash provided by operating activities of $1.9 million in 2000. The decrease in cash used in operating activities in 2002 as 
compared to 2001 is primarily due to a decrease in our net loss which resulted fiom improved operating perfomace of Acceris 
Partners in 2002 as compared to 2001 and continued downsizing of I-Link’s network and development operations. The decrease in 
cash from operating activities in 2001 from 2000 was primarily due to an increase in our net loss and the difference in cash receipts 
and revenue recognition related to unearned revenue. 

Cash utilized in investing activities 
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Net cash used by investing activities in 2002 was $9.2 million as compared to $15.4 million in 2001 and $6.9 million in 2000. 

In December 2002, we expended $8.3 million related to the acquisition of the A&R and Enterprises assets of RSL. In addition to the 
RSL purchase, we expended $1.6 million on purchases of furniture, fixtures, equipment, software and intangible assets as we 
expanded our Acceris Partners operations and continued to improve our network in order to reduce it’s overall cost. These 
expenditures were offset by proceeds of $692,000 fiom the sale of a building. 

The net increase in cash used by investing activities in 2001 as compared to 2000 was primarily due to a $13.5 million purchase of 
WorldxChange assets, which purchase was offset by a reduction in the purchase of furniture, fixtures, equipment and software of $4.9 
million. 

Cash provided by financing activities 

Net cash provided by financing activities in 2002 was $13.1 million as compared to $47.2 million in 2001 and $4.2 million in 2000. 

Tn 2002, ow largest shareholder, Counsel loaned us $16.8 million, including $7.5 million to fund the cash requirements for the asset 
purchase of RSL. Offsetting these advances fiom Counsel was a repayment of $3.0 million to Counsel. During 2002, we borrowed a 
net additional $2.1 million on Acceris Partners’ revolving credit facility. 

In 2002, Counsel reimbursed the Company $498,000 for certain expenses. This amount., as well as the sources discussed above, was 
offset by payments of $2.5 million pursuant to our capital lease obligations and long-term debt. 

Cash provided from f m c i n g  activities in 200 1 included cash borrowings (net of repayments of $2.5 million) from notes payable to a 
related party (Counsel) of $4 1.4 million and net borrowings from a revolving line of credit of $7.0 million. Additionally, I-Link 
received $15,000 from the sale of I-Link common stock under its employee stock purchase plan. During 2001 , we repaid $1.2 million 
in long-term debt and capital lease obligations. Cash provided in 2000 included $4.3 millionfi.om exercise of options and warrants 
and employee purchases under the employee stock purchase plan. During 2000, we repaid $146,000 in long-term debt and capital 
lease obligations. 

We have various commitments in addition to our debt. The following table summarizes our contractual obligations at December 
3 1,2002 (in thousands): 

Contractual obligations: 

Debt (notes payable)* 
Totnl 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 

$ 43,164$ 12,073$ 31,090$ -$ -$ - 

Operating leases for ofice space and equipment . 7,569 2,452 2,094 1,718 959 346 

*Excludes short-term debt of $29,282 to Counsel which is to be converted into common stock in 2003. 
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Current Position/Future Requirements 

During 2002, we made significant progress toward moving our Company to become cash flow positive. Our efforts included gaining 
efficiencies in operations, the acquisition of additional business c h e l s  and customers (RSL acquisition) and the sale of ILC which 
has contributed the most significant portion of our negative cash flows ir? prior years. These actions along with customer growth lead 
us to believe that for the year ending December 3 1,2003 , our operations will be cash flow positive and that we will be able to generate 
sufficient cash flow from operations that when coupled with our available borrowing capacity under our existing facility, will be 
sufficient to fund (1) ongoing operations, (2) the acquisition of needed fixed assets of up to $6.0 million, (3) scheduled payments on 
our capital leases of $3.7 million, (4) and debt repayments (used to acquire WorldxChange) of up to $6.0 million. In addition, we 
intend to raise funds in the capital markets in 2003 or issue common shares for mergers and acquisition in 2003. The details of any 
such transaction are a function of the market conditions andor the specific acquisition in question. Funds raised may also be used to 
replace existing debt facilities, acquire capital equipment and for other general business and corporate purposes. 

At December 3 1 , 2002, we have a stockholder’s deficit of $60.4 million, up from $37.0 million as of December 3 1 ? 200 1. 
Approximately $29.3 million of this deficit will be reduced by the conversion of Counsel debt into common stock pursuant to an 
amended debt restructuring agreement between I-Link and Counsel, which is expected to take place in the second quarter of 2003, 
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fn addition to operational cash requirements from continued operations, at December 3 1,2002, we have $59.3 million of related party 
debt. In order to reduce our cash requirements to repay this debt, we entered in to an amended debt restructuring agreement with 
Counsel whereby approximately $29.3 million will be converted into common stock and thus will reduce our debt obligation without 
expending cash. Additionally in March 2003, Counsel extended the due date of a $9.4 million note fiom I-Link from 2002 to June 30, 
2004. At various times in 2004, the remaining $30.1 million of related party debt matures. We sought and have been granted an 
extension of a commitment from Counsel to fund, through long-term inter-company advances or equity contributions, all capital 
investment, working capital or other operational cash requirements of I-Link through April 15,2004. However, subsequent to April 
15,2004 we may be required to restructure our outstanding debt with Counsel or find alternative funding to replace the Counsel debt 
in the event cash flow from operations is insufficient to cover the maturing debt. Inasmuch as Counsel, in addition to being a 
significant debt holder of the Corporation, owns approximately 68% of the Company, (excluding the effects of an amended debt 
restructuring agreement), we anticipate that Counsel would be willing to work with us on restructuring the debt, however there can be 
no assurance that would happen. 

The availability of these capital sources will depend on prevailing market conditions, interest rates, and our financial position and 
results of operations. There can be no assurance any of the above mentioned funding sources will be available, that we will receive 
any additional proceeds from the exercise of outstanding options and warrants or that we will not be required to arrange for additional 
debt, equity or other fmancing. 

Other Items 

Recent Accounting Pronouncements 

See Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for recent accounting pronouncements and how we anticipate they will impact 
our financial statements 
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Item 7 A .  Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk 

Our exposure to market risk is limited to interest rate sensitivity, which is affected by changes in the general level of US. interest 
rates. Our cash equivalents are invested with high quality issuers and limit the amount of credit exposure to any one issuer. Due to 
the short-term nature of the cash equivalents, we believe that we are not subject to any material interest rate risk as it relates to interest 
income. As to interest expense, we have two debt instruments that have variable interest rates based on the prime rate of interest. 
Assuming debt amounts at December 3 1 , 2002 were constant during the next twelve-month period, the impact of a one percent 
increase in the prime interest rate would be an increase in interest expense of approximately $1 10,000 for the next twelvemonth 
period. However, as one debt instrument is subject to an interest rate floor, a one percent decrease in the prime interest rate would 
only reduce interest expense by $20,000 during the next twelve-month period. 

We did not have any foreign currency hedges or other derivative financial instruments as of December 3 1,2002. We do not enter into 
financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes and do not currently utilize derivative fmancial instruments. Our operations 
are conducted primarily in the United States and as such are not subject to material foreign currency exchange rate risk. 

Item 8 . Financial Statements and Supplementary Data 

See Consolidated Financial Statements and supplementary data beginning on pages F- 1 and S-I. 

Item 9 . Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure 

None 

20 

PART I11 

Item 10. 
Act 

Directors, Executive Officers, Promoters, and Control Persons; Compliance with Section 16(a) of the Exchange 

I-Link's Articles of Incorporation provide that the Board of Directors shall be divided into three classes, and that the total number of 
directors shall not be less than five but no more than nine. Each director shall serve a term of three years. At the December 6,2002 - 
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* 
meeting, the Board of Directors of I-Link resolved, among other items, to expand the size of the Board of Directors by adding one seat 
k~ the existing Board of Directors and to appoint Mr. John Walter to the Board of Directors to serve as a Class III director. At the 
February 12, 2003 meeting, the Board of Directors appointed Ms. Kelly Mununets to fill the vacancy created by the resignation of 
Norman Chirite, a Class I1 director. As of April 25,2003, the Board of Directors currently consists of eight members: two Class I 
Directors (Messrs. Shimer and Wasserson), three Class I1 Directors (Messrs. Toh, Heaton and Silber), and three Class 111 Directors 
(Messrs. Reichmann and Walter and Ms. Murumets). Messrs. Shimer and Wasserson, the Class I Director nominees, will stand for 
election for another three-year term at the 2003 Annual Meeting. Messrs. Shimer and Wasserson were appointed on April 15,2001 to 
fill two vacancies of the Class I Directors created by the resignation in 2001 of a former director and an unfilled board seat. 

Biographical information with respect to the present executive officers, directors, and key employees are set forth below. There are no 
family relationships between any present executive officers and directors. 

AllanC. Silber 
Hal B. Heaton 
Albert Reichmm 
Samuel L. Shimer 
Henry Y.L. Toh 
JohnR. Walter 
Gary J. Wasserson 
Ralph Brandifmo 
Gary M. Clifford 
James Ducay 
Kenneth L. Hilton 
Barbara Jamaleddin 
Kelly Muumets 

54 
52 
72 
39 
43 
55 
45 
58 
34 
44 
50 
56 
39 

Chairman of the Board and Director, Interim Chief Executive Officer and President 
Director 
Director 
Director and Senior Vice President, Mergers & Acquisitions and Business Development 
Director 
Director 
Director, President of Accens Communications Technologies, Inc. 
Chief Financial Officer, WorldxChange Corp. 
Vice President of Finance and Chief Financial Officer 
President, Acceris Communications Solutions 
Chief Executive Officer, WorldxChange Corp. 
Senior Vice President of Network Operations, WorldxChange Cow. 
Executive Vice President 

(1) As of April 25,2003 

Allan C. Silber, Chairman of the Board and Director; Interim Chief Executive Officer and President. Mr. Silber was elected to the 
Board of Directors as a Class I1 director in September 200 1 and appointed as chairman of the board in November 200 1. Mr. Silber is 
the chairman and CEO of Counsel Corporation, which he founded in 1979. Mr. Silber attended McMaster University and received a 
Bachelor of Science degree from the University of Toronto. 
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Hal B. Heaton, Director. Dr. Heaton was appointed by the Board of Directors as a Class I1 director on June 14,2000 to fill a board 
vacancy. From 1982 to present he has been a professor of Finance at Brigham Young University and between 1988 and 1990 was a 
visiting professor of Finance at Hmard University. Dr. Heaton is a director of MTTY Enterprises, Inc., a publicly traded 
manufacturer of fimiture in Orem, Utah. Dr. Heaton holds a Bachelor’s degree in Computer ScienceMathematics and a Master’s in 
Business Administration fiom Brigham Young University, as well as a Master’s degree in Economics and a Ph.D. in Finance from 
Stanford University. 

Albert Reichrnann, Director. Mr. Reichmann was elected to the Board of Directors as a Class 111 director in September 2001. From 
1996 to present, Mr. Reichrnann served as the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Heathmount A.E. Corporation, a company 
established for the creation and development of sports and amusement parks in North America and Asia. Mr. Reichmann is 
internationally recognized for his humanitarian and charitable efforts which range from Armenian earthquake relief to medical relief 
for child victims of the Chemobyl nuclear disaster to arranging the f i s t  cabinet-level meetings between the governments of Israel and 
the Soviet Union since the end of the Six-Day War. Mr. Reichmann holds an honorary Degree of Laws from the Faculty of 
Administrative Studies of York University. Mr. Reichmann has served on the Steering Committee of York University’s International 
Management Center located in Budapest, Hungary since 1988 and is an Advisor to its East-West Enterprise Exchange initiative. Mr. 
Reichmann is a founder of the Canada-USSR Business Council established in 1989 by intergovernmental agreement. 

Samuel L. Shimer, Director, Senior Vice President, Merger & Acquisitions and Business Development. Mr. Shimer was appointed by 
the Board of Directors as a Class I director on April 15,200 1 to fill a board vacancy and was appointed Senior Vice President, Merger 
& Acquisitions and Business Development on February 12,2003. From 1997 to present he has been employed by Counsel 
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Corporation, serving as a Managing Director since 1998. Mr. Shimer is currently serving as a director of Counsel Communications, 
the parent of I-Link. From 199 1 to 1997, Mr. Shimer worked at two merchant banking h d s  affiliated with Lazard Frhes & Co., 
Centre Partners and Corporate Partners, ultimately serving as a Principal. Mr. Shimer earned a Bachelor of Science in Economics 
degree from The Wharton School of the University of Pennsylvania, and a Master’s of Business Administration degree from Harvard 
Business School. 

Henry Y.L. Toh, Director. The Board of Directors elected Mr. Toh as a Class II director and as Vice Chairman of the Board of 
Directors in April 1992. Mr. Toh became President of I-Link in May 1993, Acting Chief Financial Officer in September 1995 and 
Chairman of the Board in May 1996, and served as such through September 1996. Mr. Toh has served as a director of National Auto 
Credit, Inc. (previously an originator of sub-prime automobile financing that is transitioning into new lines of business) from 1998 
through the present and Teletouch Communications, Inc., a retail provider of internet, cellular and paging services, beginning in 
November 200 1, He is also a director of Four M International Inc., a private investment firm. He is a graduate of Rice University. 

John R. Walter, Director. Mr. Walter was appointed by the Board of Directors as a Class I11 Director on December 6,2002. Mr. 
Walter is the retired President and Chief Operating Officer of AT & T, where he was responsible for day-to-day operations of the 
company’s core long-distance, local, wireless and on-line services businesses, as well as its credit card and outsourcing businesses. 
He is Chairman of Ashlin Management Company, a private management consulting fum with an emphasis on corporate strategic 
planning and development of corporate employee and management culture. Mr. Walter began his career in 1969 at R.R. Donnelley & 
Sons, becoming President in 1987. In 1989, he was appointed Chairman, President, and Chief Executive Officer, a position he 
retained through 1996, when he resigned to join AT&T. He serves on the board of directors of Abbott Laboratories, Deere & 
Company, Manpower, Inc., Applied Graphics Technologies and SNP Corporation of Singapore. He is a trustee of the Chicago 
Symphony Orchestra and Northwestem University. Mr. Walter also serves on the International Advisory Council of the Singapore 
Economic Development Board and is a director of the Evanston Northwestern Healthcare Corporation, the Executives’ Club of 
Chicago, Chicago Council on Foreign Relations and Steppenwolf Theatre. He is a member of the Board of Advisors of Brookfield 
zoo. 
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Gary J. Wasserson, Director, President of Acceris Communications Technologies, Inc.. Mr. Wasserson was appointed by the Board of 
Directors as a Class I Director on April 15,2001 to fill a Board vacancy. In May 2001, Mr. Wasserson was appointed CEO of I-Link 
which position he held until his resignation in December 2001. In June 2001, Mr. Wasserson became President and CEO of 
WorldxChange Corp which position he held until May 2002. From December 2002, Mr. Wasserson has served as President of 
Acceris Communications Technologies, Inc. From 1999 to October 3 1,2001, he was President and Chief Executive Officer of 
Counsel Communications and since November 1,2001 he has been a Managing Director of Counsel Corporation (US)). From 1997 to 
1999, he was President and Chief Executive Officer of Call SciencesTMNirtdTM, a major provider of enhanced telecommunications 
services deliverable over global intelligent networks. From 1992 to 1997, he served as Chief Executive Oficer of Global Links/GTS, 
a company instrumental in creating the calling card industry trade association and its regulatory initiatives within the industry. Mr. 
Wasserson holds a Bachelor’s degree kom Babson College. On February 13,2003, a grand jury empanelled in the United States 
District Court for the Eastern District of Pennsylvania issued an indictment (the “Indictment’’) against Mr. Wasserson charging him 
with three felony counts of violations of the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (“‘RCRA”) which is administered by the United 
State Environmental Protection Agency, and one count of aiding and abetting. The Indictment alleges violations of RCRA in 
connection with the unauthorized transportation and disposal of hazardous substances (specifically, dry cleaning supplies) in an un- 
permitted municipal landfill facility. The municipal landfill quickly identified the disposal of hazardous substances and remediated 
the site. Mr. Wasserson reimbursed the landfill for the cleanup. Mr. Wasserson has informed I-Link that at no time was there a risk to 
the public as a result of the disposal of the hazardous substances. Mr. Wasserson is contesting the charges and has informed I-Link 
that he believes he has substantial defenses. 

Ralph Brandifino, Chief Financial Officer/Treasurer of WorldxChange Corp., I-Link’s wholly owned subsidiary. Mr. Brandifmo 
joined WorldxChange Corporation in July 2001 after serving as Chief Financial Officer for three other international 
telecommunication organizations over the past five years: Justice Telecommunications, Pittsburgh Intemational Telecom, and 
WorldxChange Communications. Prior to those appointments, he served as the Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer for 
Terex Corporation, a Fortune 500 global producer of industrial equipment. He also served as Senior Vice President and Chief 
Financial Officer for Long Island Lighting Company, a Fortune 500 company and the 20th largest utility in the United States, and for 
Chicago Pneumatic Tool Company, a Fortune 500 multinational manufacturer of diverse capital goods products. Mr. Brandifino 
received a Bachelor’s Degree in business from Hofstra University in 1966 and a Master’s Degree from the Wharton School of 
Business in 1980. He also earned a Juris Doctor degree fiom St. John’s University and is a member of the New York Bar. 

Gary M. Clifford, Vice President of Finance, Chief Financial Offrcer. Mr. Clifford joined CounseI Corporation in November 2002 as 
and presently is its Chief Financial Officer. From June 1998 to October 2002, Mr. Clifford has held various senior roles at Leitch 
Technology Corporation in Finance, Operations and Corporate Development. From February 1996 to June 1996, Mr. Clifford worked 
for NetStar Communications Inc. Mr. Clifford is a Chartered Accountant, who articled with Coopers & Lybrand. A graduate of the - 
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Univerkty of Toronto, with a Bachelor degree in Management, he has also lectured at Ryerson Polytechnic University in Toronto, 
Canada. Mr. Clifford was appointed as Vice President of Finance of I-Link on December 6,2002 and Chief Financial Officer on 
February 12,2003. 

James Ducay. Jim Ducay was named President of Acceris Communications Solutions on December 10,2002. Previously, Mr. Ducay 
was Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer of RSL COM USA with responsibility for Marketing, Sales and Account 
Services, Engineering and Operations, and Information Technology. Before joining RSL COM USA, Mr. Ducay was Vice President 
of Marketing and Sales for Ameritech Interactive Media Services where he was responsible for managing Ameritech’s Internet 
products and related sales channels. He also served as Managing Director and Vice President for Bell Atlantic/”EX. Mr. Ducay 
has a Master’s Degree in Engineering from the University of Illinois and a Master’s Degree in Business Administration from the 
University of Chicago. 
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Kenneth L. Hilton, Chief Executive Officer of WorldxChange Corp. Kenneth L. Hilton was appointed Chief Executive Officer of 
WorldxChange Corporation in May 2002. From June 1999 to December 2001, Mr. Hilton served as the Chief Executive Officer of 
Handtech.com, an Intemet-based star-up company in Austin, TX. that provided customized E-commerce storefionts, supply chain 
management and back office services to value-added resellers. Prior to Handtech, from October 1995 to May 1999, he was the 
Executive Vice President of North American Consumer Sales for Excel Communications, where he also served as the Chairman of the 
Board for Excel Canada. Prior to his 5 years at Excel, he ran North America operations for PageMart Wireless where he launched the 
Canadian business and also served as the Chairman of the Canadian Board. Prior to PageMart, Mr. Hilton held numerous sales and 
management positions with IJ3M. His 14-year career with IBM included sales, sales management, branch management and regional 
management positions. 

Barbara Jamaleddin, Senior Vice President for Network Operations of WorldxChange Corp. Prior to this position, Ms. Jamaleddin 
held the position of Senior Vice President for WorldxChange Communications from 1995 to 200 I .  Prior to WorldxChange, Ms. 
Jamaleddin spent seven years with Sprint, where she served as Director of Product Development & Support and Director, National 
Operations Control Center. While at Sprint, Ms. Jamaleddin was named inventor of a patent for enhanced services and was the 
founder of the Women’s Organization. Ms. Jamaleddin’s early career was with Michigan Bell, and from 1966 through 1987, she led 
Michigan Bell’s quest to upgrade more than 200 of its central ofices to Stored Program Control. Ms. Jamaleddin attended Wayne 
State University. 

Kelly Mumnets, Executive Vice President. Ms. Murumets joined Counsel Corporation in 2002 as Executive Vice President. Over 
the past fifteen years, most recently as a Vice President with Managerial Design, Ms. Murumets was an advisor to clients throughout 
North America giving leaders the insight and guidance required to achieve consensus, build cohesive and committed leadership teams, 
and implement change. Ms. Murumets received her BA from Bishop’s University in 1985, her MBA from the University of Western 
Ontario’s Ivey School of Business in 1988 and her MSW fiom Wilfiid Laurier University in 1996. Ms. Murumets was appointed as 
Executive Vice President of I-Link on December 6,2002. 

k c h  officer of I-Link is appointed by the Board of Directors and holds his office at the pleasure and direction of the Board of 
Directors or until such time of hisher resignation or death. 

There are no material proceedings to which any director, officer or affiliate of I-Link, any owner of record or beneficially of more that 
five percent of any class of voting securities of I-Lmk, or any associate of any such director, officer, affiliate of I-Link or security 
holder is a party adverse to I-Link or any of its subsidiaries or has a material interest adverse to I-Link or any of its subsidiaries. 

During the 2002 fiscal year, all members of the Board of Directors attended 75% or more of the Board meetings except for Mr. 
R e i c h ”  who attended two out of three meetings. 

Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance 

Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act requires our officers and directors, and persons who own more than ten percent of a registered class 
of our equity securities, to file reports of ownership and changes in ownership of equity securities of I-Link with the SEC. Officers, 
directors, and greater than ten percent stockholders are required by the SEC regulation to W s h  us with copies of all Section 16(a) 
forms that they file. 

Based solely upon a review of Forms 3 and Forms 4 furnished to us pursuant to Rule 16a-3 under the Exchange Act during our most 
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recent fiscal year, to I-Link's knowledge, all reporting persons complied with all applicable filing requirements of Section 16(a) of the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, with the following exceptions: A. Silber, K. Murumets, G. Clifford, Stephen Weintraub 
(Senior Vice President and Secretary of I-Link), J. Walter, K. Hilton, J. Ducay each inadvertently failed to file their respective Forms 
3 upon their appointments as officers or directors of I-Link or subsidiaries in December 2002. As of the date of this Annul Report, 
the foregoing reporting persons have regained compliance with Section 16(a) reporting requirements. 

24 

Audit Committee Financial Expert 

The I-Link Board of Directors has determined that I-Link does not have an audit committee financial expert serving on its 
Audit Committee. I-Link does not have an audit committee financial expert because it has been unable to attract such a person. 

Code of Ethics 
Y 

I-Link has adopted a code of ethics that applies to its principal executive, fmancial and accounting officers. I-Link will 
provide a copy of its code of ethics, without charge, to any person that requests it. Requests should be addressed in Writing to Mr. 
Stephen Weintraub , Corporate Secretary, The Exchange Tower, 130 King Street West, Suite 1300, P.O. Box 435, Toronto, Ontario 
M5XlE3 

Item 11. Executive Compensation 

The following table sets forth the aggregate cash compensation paid for services rendered during the last three years by each 
person serving as our Chief Executive Officer during the last year and our other most highly compensated executive officers serving 
as such at the end of the year ended December 3 1,2002 whose compensation was in excess of $100,000 (Named Executive Officers). 

Name and Principal 
Position 

Allan Silber( 1) 

Helen Seltzer(2) 

Ralph Brandifmo( 5 )  
Chief Financial 
Officer, 
WorldxChange 

Kenneth L. 
Hilton(6) 
Chief Executive 
Officer, 
WorldxChange 
C O T .  
Barbara Jamaleddin 
Senior Vice 
President of 

Corp. 

Year 

2002 
200 I 
2000 
2002 
200 1 
2000 
2002 
200 1 

2000 

2002 

200 1 

2000 

2002 
200 1 

Network Operations, 2000 
WorldxChange 

Annual Compensation 
Salary@) 

c 

I 

267,360 
I 

- 
226,050 

95,897 

- 

183,333 

- 

- 

205,500 
115,256 

- 

Bonus($) 

- 
- 
- 

309,375 
- 
I 

63,025 
15,250 

I 

183,333 

- 

- 

67,750 
18,092 

- 

Other Annul  
Compemotion(S) 

Long-Term Compensation 
Awards Payouts 

Restricted Securities LTIP 

Awards(S) Options/ SAW(#) 
Stock Underlying Payoub(S) 

- - - 

AU Other 
Compensatioo(S) 
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(.1) Mr. Silber was appointed as Interim Chief Executive Officer and President of I-Link as of December 19,2002. 

(2) 
amount includes severance payment of $1 7 1,875. 

Ms. Seltzer served as the Chief Executive Officer of I-Link from January 3,2002 through December 19,2002. Bonus 

(3) Mr. Brandifmo became the Chief Financial Officer of WorldxChange Corp. on July 25,200 1. 

(4) Mr. Hilton became the Chief Executive Officer of WorldxChange Corp. on May 1,2002. 

( 5 )  Ms. Jamaleddin became the Senior Vice President for Network Operations of WorldxChange on June 4,200 1. 
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OptionlSAR Grants in Last Fiscal Year (2002) 

No options were granted to any of the Named Executive Officers during the year ended December 3 1 , 2002. 

Aggregated OptionlSAR Exercises in Last Fiscal Year and Fiscal Year-End Option/SAR Values 

None of the Named Executive Officers exercised any options during 2002; nor did any of them hold any unexercised options at the 
end of 2002. 

Compensation Committee Report on Executive Compensation 

The Compensation Committee-administers the compensation program for executive officers and other senior management of I-Link 
and bases its decisions on both individual performance and the financial results achieved by I-Link. 

The principal elements of the compensation program for executive officers are base salary and stock options. The goals of the program 
are to give the executive officers incentives to work toward the improved financial performance of &Link and to reward them for their 
contributions to I-Link’s success. For a su~mary  of fiscal 2002 compensation, see “Compensation of Executive Officers and 
Directors” above. 

Base SclZuries . The committee has based its decisions on salaries for I-Link’s executive officers, including the Chief Executive 
Officer and President on a number of factors, both objective and subjective. Objective factors considered include increases in the cost 
of living, I-Link’s overall historical performance and comparable industry data, although no specific formulas based on such factors 
have been used to determine salaries. Salary decisions are based primarily on the committee’s subjective analysis of the factors 
contributing to I-Link’s long-term success and of the executives’ individual contributions to such success. 

Stock Options . The committee views stock options as its primary long-term compensation vehicle for I-Link’s executive officers. 
Stock options generally are granted at the prevailing market price on the date of grant and will have value only if I-Link’s stock price 
increases. Options granted to executive officers generally vest in quarterly increments over three years beginning on the date of the 
grant. Some options vest in increments upon the attainment by I-Link of certain performance benchmarks. Grants of stock options 
generally are based upon the performance of I-Link, the level of the executive’s position within I-Link and an evaluation of the 
executive’s past and expected hture performance. The committee grants stock options periodically, but not necessarily on an annual 
basis. 

By the Compensation Committee: 

Hal B. Heaton 

Comparison of Cumulative Total Return Among I-Link Incorporated, The RusseLl2000 Index and A Peer Group 

Performance Graph 

The following graph compares I-Link’s cumulative total stockholder return with that of the Russell 2000 index of small-capitalization 
companies and a peer group index. During 2002 and beginning with this 
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Proxy Statement, I-Link reevaluated the composition of its perfomance peer group and determined that a change was appropriate. I- 
Link is making this change in light of the most recent changes in the strategic direction of the company and re-orientation of its 
business priorities. 

During this transition year, both the 2001 peer group (consisting of IDT Corporation, ICG Communications, Inc. and AlphaNet 
Solutions, Inc.) and the new 2003 peer group (consisting of ATX Communications, Tnc., deltathree, Inc., Universal Access Global 
Holdings, Inc., IDT Corporation, Buyers United, Inc. and Primus Telecommunications Group, Inc.) indexes are shown so that 
stockholders may compare them for the most recent 5 year performance period. I-Link chose the companies comprising the 2003 peer 
group because they are similar in size, are similar in their lines of business to I-Link and represent I-Link’s competitors in various 
geographical markets subsequent to the most recent changes in I-Link’s business. The graph assumes an initial investment of $100.00 
made on December 31, 1997, and the reinvestment of dividends (where applicable). I-Link has never paid a dividend on its common 
stock. 

Total Return Analysis 
12/31/02 12/31/97 12/31/98 12/31/99 12/31/00 l t / 3  1/01 

LINK, Inc. $ 100.00 $ 34.69 $ 45.41 $ 12.76 $ 1.22 !$ 2.04 
145.55 $ 144.46 New Peergroup $ 100.00 $ 89.82 $ 153.18 $ 114.46 $ 

26.80 Old Peergroup $ 100.00 $ 55.05 $ 53.11 $ 1-7.97 $ 30.40 $ 
Russell 2000 $ lOO.OO$ 96.55$ 115.50$ 110.64$ 111.78% 87.66 
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Director Compensation 

On the first business day in January of each year prior to 2002, each director then serving was to receive an option to purchase 20,000 
shares of common stock and for each committee on which the director serves an option to purchase 5,000 shares of common stock. 
The exercise price of such options is equal to the fair market value of the common stock on the date of grant. The directors are also 
eligible to receive options under our stock option plans at the discretion of the Board of Directors. 

In 2002 the Board of Directors voted to only award options to the independent directors in accordance with the above-described 
arrangement. In addition, each independent director will be paid $1,000 for each in-person board meeting attended and $500 for each 
telephonic board meeting attended. 

In addition, during 2002, Messrs. Heaton and Toh received $22,500 and $34,000, respectively, in connection with the services that 
they rendered for the Special Committee. 

Employment Contracts and Termination of Employment and Change-in-Control Arrangements 

Helen Seltzer Employment Contnict. On January 3,2002, Springwell Capital Corporation, I-Lmk, Counsel and Helen Seltzer entered 
into an agreement whereby Ms. Seltzer became I-Link’s Chief Executive Officer. The term of the agreement was four years at an 
annual base salary of $275,000. Ms. Seltzer is eligible for a discretionary bonus in an amount to be determined by the Board of 
Directors of WorldxChange Corp. up to 100% of her annual base salary. In 2002, she was guaranteed a minimum bonus of $137,500. 
Ms. Seltzer also entered into an agreement on January 3,2002 with Counsel Communications and Counsel. Under that agreement, 
Ms. Seltzer was issued approximately 0.2% of the common units of Counsel CommUnications, which common Units vest over a four- 
year period commencing on January 3,2003. In addition to serving as CEO of I-Link, Ms. Seltzer agreed to serve as a member of the 
Management Executive Committee of Counsel Communications. Mr. Seltzer also had the right to participate in Counsel’s 200 1 
Executive Stock Purchase Plan. Ms. Seltzer was terminated as I-Link’s Chief Executive Officer on December 12,2002. As of the 
date of this report, all obligations under Ms. Seltzer employment agreement have satisfied. 

Kenneth Hilton Employment Contract . On May 1 , 2002, WorldxChange Corp. and Kenneth L. Hilton entered into a four-year 
employment agreement pursuant to which Mr. Hilton became the Chief Executive Officer of WorldxChange Corp., I-Link’s wholly- 
owned subsidiary. Mr. Hilton’s annual salary is $275,000, and he is eligible for a discretionary bonus in an mount to be determined 
by the Board of Directors of WorldxChange Corp. up to 100% of his annual salary. Counsel Communications and Counsel also 
entered into an agreement with Mr. Hilton dated May 1,2002, under which agreement, Mr. Hilton was issued approximately 0.2% of 
the common units of Counsel Communications, which common Units vest over a four-year period commencing on May 1,2003. In 
addition to serving as CEO of WorldxChange C o p ,  Mr. Hilton agreed to serve as a member of the Management Executive 
Committee of Counsel Communications: For disclosure of a loan to Mr. Hilton see Item 13. - 
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James Ducay Employment Contract. On July 1 , 2002, WorldxChange Corp. and James Ducay entered into an employment 
‘agreement, which became effective on December 10,2002, the date on which WorldxChange completed its acquisition of the assets of 
RSL, and expires on December 10,2003. Mr. Ducay’s annual salary is $275,000, and he is eligible for a discretionary bonus in an 
amount to be determined by the Board of Directors of WorldxChange Cop. up to 100% of his annual salary. Mr. Ducay also agreed 
to serve as a member of the Management Executive Committee of Counsel Communications. 

Director Stock Option Plan 

I-Link’s Director Stock Option Plan @SOP) authorizes the grant of stock options to directors of I-Link. Options granted under the 
DSOP are non-qualified stock options exercisable at a price equal to the fair market value per share of common stock on the date of 
any such grant. Options granted under the DSOP are exercisable not less than six (6) months or more than ten (10) years after the date 
of grant. 

As of December 3 1,2002, options for the purchase of 4,668 shares of common stock at prices ranging from $0.875 to $3.875 per share 
were outstanding. As of the same date, options to purchase 15,895 shares of common stock have been exercised. In connection with 
adoption of the 1995 Director Plans (as 
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defmed below) the board of directors authorized the termination of future grants of options under the DSOP; however, outstanding 
options granted under the DSOP will continue to be governed by the terms thereof until exercise or expiration of such options. 

1995 Director Stock Option Plan 

In October 1995, the stockholders of I-Link approved adoption of I-Link’s 1995 Director Stock Option and Appreciation Rights Plan, 
which plan provides for the issuance of incentive options, non-qualified options and stock appreciation rights (1995 Director Plan). 

The 1995 Director Plan provides for automatic and discretionary grants of stock options which qualify as incentive stock options 
(Incentive Options) under Section 422 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (Code), as well as options which do not so 
qualify (Non-Qualified Options) to be issued to directors. In addition, stock appreciation rights (SARs) may be granted in conjunction 
with the grant of Incentive Options and Non-Qualified Options. No SARs have been granted to date. 

The 1995 Director Plan provides for the grant of Incentive Options, Non-Qualified Options and SARs to purchase up to 250,000 
shares of common stock (subject to adjustment in the event of stock dividends, stock splits and other similar events). To the extent 
that an Incentive Option or Non-Qualified Option is not exercised within the period of exercisability specified therein, it will expire as 
to the then-unexercised portion. If any Incentive Option, Non-Qualified Option or S A R  terminates prior to exercise thereof and 
during the duration of the 1995 Director Plan, the shares of common stock as to which such option or right was not exercised will 
become available under the 1995 Director Plan for the grant of additional options or rights to any eligible employees. The shares of 
common stock subject to the 1995 Director Plan may be made available fiom either authorized but unissued shares, treasury shares, or 
both. 

The 1995 Director Plan also provides for the grant of Non-Qualified Options on a non-discretionary basis pursuant to the following 
formula: each member of the board of directors then serving shall receive a Non-Qualified Option to purchase 10,000 shares of 
common stock at an exercise price equal to the fair market value per share of the common stock on that date. Pursuant to such 
formula, directors received options to purchase 10,000 shares of common stock as of October 17, 1995, options to purchase 10,000 
shares of common stock on January 2, 1996, and will receive options to purchase 10,000 shares of c o m o n  stock on the first business 
day of each January. The number of shares granted to each board member was increased to 20,000 in 1998. In addition, the board 
member will receive 5,000 options for each committee membership. Each option is immediately exercisable for a period of ten years 
from the date of grant. I-Link has 190,000 shares of common stock reserved for issuance under the 1995 Director Plan. As of 
December 3 1,2002, options exercisable to purchase 170,000 shares of common stock at prices ranging fkom $1 .OO to $1.25 per share 
are outstanding under the 1995 Director Plan. As of December 3 1,2002, options to purchase 60,000 shares have been exercised under 
the 1995 Director Plan. 

1995 Employee Stock Option Plan 

In October 1995, the stockholders of I-Link approved adoption of I-Link’s 1995 Employee Stock Option and Appreciation Rights Plan 
(1 995 Employee Plan), which plan provides for the issuance of Incentive Options, Non-Qualified Options and SARs. 

Directors of I-Link are not eligible to participate in the 1995 Employee Plan. The 1995 Employee Plan provides for the grant of stock 
options which qualify as Incentive Stock Options under Section 422 of the Code, to be issued to officers who are employees and other 
employees, as well as Non-Qualified Options to be issued to officers, employees and consultants. In addition, SARs may be granted 
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in conjunction with the grant of Incentive Options and Non-Qualified Options. No S A R s  have been granted to date. 

The 1995 Employee Plan provides for the grant of Incentive Options, Non-Qualified Options and SARs of up to 400,000 shares of 
common stock (subject to adjustment in the event of stock dividends, stock splits and ofher similar events). To the extent that an 
Incentive Option or Non-Qualified Option is 
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not exercised within the period of exercisability specified therein, it will expire as to the then-unexercised portion. If any Incentive 
Option, Non-Qualified Option or S A R  terminates prior to exercise thereof and during the duration of the 1995 Employee Plan, the 
shares of common stock as to which such option or right was not exercised will become available under the 1995 Employee Plan for 
the grant of additional options or rights to any eligible employee. The shares of common stock subject to the 1995 Employee Plan 
may be made available from either authorized but unissued shares, treasury shares, or both. I-Link has 400,000 shares of common 
stock reserved for issuance under the 1995 Employee Plan. As of December 3 1,2002, options to purchase 302,000 shares of common 
stock have been granted under the plan and 135,250 were outstanding with an exercise price of $3.90 per share have been granted 
under the 1995 Employee Plan. As of December 3 1,2002, 1 19,250 options have been exercised under the 1995 Employee Plan. 

1997 Recruitment Stock Option Plan 

In October 1997, the stockholders of I-Link approved adoption of I-Link’s 1997 Recruitment Stock Option and Appreciation Rights 
Plan, which plan provides for the issuance of incentive options, non-qualified options and SARS (1997 Plan). 

? 

The 1997 Plan provides for automatic and discretionary grants of stock options, which qualify as incentive stock options (Incentive 
Options) under Section 422 of the Code, as well as options which do not so qualify (Non-Qualified Options). In addition, stock 
appreciation rights ( S A R s )  may be granted in conjunction with the grant of Incentive Options and Non-Qualified Options. No SARs 
have been granted to date. 

The 1997 Plan, as amended in 2000, provides for the grant of Incentive Options, Non-Qualified Options and S A R s  to purchase up to 
7,400,000 shares of common stock (subject to adjustment in the event of stock dividends, stock splits and other similar events). The 
price at which shares of common stock covered by the option can be purchased is determined by I-Link’s board of directors; however, 
in all instances the exercise price is never less than the fair market value of I-Link’s common stock on the date the option is granted. 
To the extent that an Incentive Option or Non-Qualified Option is not exercised wit hi^^ the period of exercisability specified therein, it 
will expire as to the then unexercised portion. If any Incentive Option, Non-Qualified Option or S A R  terminates prior to exercise 
thereof and during the duration of the 1997 Plan, the shares of common stock as to which such option or right was not exercised will 
become available under the 1997 Plan for the grant of additional options or rights. The shares of common stock subject to the 1997 
Plan may be made available from either authorized but unissued shares, treasury shares, or both. As of December 3 1,2002, options to 
purchase 5,938,563 shares of c o m o n  stock have been granted under the plan and 2,118,024 were outstanding with exercise prices of 
$0.07 to $13.88 per share. As of December 3 1,2002,411,545 options have been exercised under the 1997 Plan. 

2000 Employee Stock Purchase Plan 

In October 2000, the stockholders of I-Link approved adoption of I-Link’s 2000 Employee Stock Purchase Plan which plan provides 
for the purchase and issuance of common stock to all eligible employees (Stock Purchase Plan). 

The purpose of the Stock Purchase Plan is to induce all eligible employees of I-Link (or any of its subsidiaries) who have been 
employees for at least three months to encourage stock ownership of I-Link by acquiring or increasing their proprietary interest in I- 
Link. The Stock Purchase Plan is designed to encourage employees to remain in the employ of I-Link. It is the intention of I-Link to 
have the Stock Purchase Plan qualify as an “employee stock purchase plan” within the meaning of Section 423 of the Code, as 
amended (Code) to issue shares of common stock to all eligible employees of I-Link (or &y of I-Link’s subsidiaries) who have been 
employees for at least three months. 

The Stock Purchase Plan provides for the purchase of common stock in the aggregate, up to 2,500,000 shares of common stock (which 
number is subject to adjustment in the event of stock dividends, stock splits and other similar events). As of December 3 1 , 2002, 
58,012 shares of common stock had been 
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purchased under the Stock Purchase Plan, To the extent that an option is not exercised within the period of exercisability specified in 
the option, it will expire as to the then unexercised portion. If any option terminates prior to its exercise and during the duration of the 
Stock Purchase Plan, the shares of common stock as to which the option or right was not exercised will become available under the 
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Stock Purchase Plan for the grant of additional options or rights to any eligible employee. 

2001 Stock Option and Appreciation Rights Plan 

Under this plan, I-Lid may issue options which will result in the issuance of up to an aggregate of 14,000,000 shares of I- 
Link common stock, par value $.007 per share. The Plan provides for options which qualify as incentive stock options (Incentive 
Options) under Section 422 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as well as the issuance of non-qualified options (Non-Qualified 
Options). The shares issued by I-Link under the Plan may be either treasury shares or authorized but unissued shares as I-Link’s board 
of directors may determine from time to time. 

Pursuant to the terms of the Plan, I-Link may grant Non-Qualified Options and SARs only to officers, directors, employees 
and consultants of I-Link or any of I-Link’s subsidiaries as selected by the board of directors or a committee appointed by the board. 
The Plan also provides for the Incentive Options available only to officers, directors, employees and consultants of I-Link or any of I- 
Link‘s subsidiaries as selected by the board of directors or a committee appointed by the board. 

Options granted under the Plan must be evidenced by a stock option agreement in a form consistent with the provisions of 
the Plan. In the event that employment or service provided by a Plan participant is terminated for cause, any vested or unvested 
options, rights to any options, or SARs of the Plan participant will terminate immediately regardless of whether the option is qualified 
or non-qualified. In the event a Plan participant is terminated for any reason other than for cause, death or disability, any non- 
qualified or qualified options, options rights or SA& held by the Plan participant may be exercised for three months after termination 
or at any time prior to the expiration of the of the option, whichever is shorter, but only to the extent vested on the termination date. 

’ 

The price at which shares of common stock covered by the option can be purchased is determined by I-Link’s board of 
directors; however, in all instances the exercise price is never less than the fair market value of I-Link’s common stock on the date the 
option is granted. To the extent that an Incentive Option or Non-Qualified Option is not exercised within the period in which it may 
be exercised in accordance with the terms and provisions of the Plan described above, the Incentive Option or Non-Qualified Option 
will expire as to the then unexercised portion. To exercise an option, the Plan participant must tender an amount equal to the total 
option exercise price of the underlying shares and provide written notice of the exercise to the Company. The right to purchase shares 
is cumulative so that once the right to purchase any shares has vested, those shares or any portion of those shares may be purchased at 
any time thereafker until the expiration or termination of the Option. \ 

The Company intends to approve a new stock option plan at its 2003 annual meeting. In the event the new plan is approve, 
it is the intent of the Company to withdraw this 2001 Stock Option and Appreciation Rights Plan. 

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation 

Messrs. Heaton, Toh, Reichmann and Walter are non-employee directors of I-Link. Messrs. Silber, Weintraub, Clifford and Ms. 
Murumets are employee-officers of Counsel. Messrs. Hilton and Brandafmo and Ms. Jamaleddm are officers of WorldxChange 
Cop., I-Link’s subsidiary. 

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management 

The following table shows, as of March 18,2003, the common stock and any preferred stock owned by each director, 
executive officer and to the best of our knowledge, all other parties know to be beneficial owners of more than 5% of the common 
stock. As of the same date, there were 116,549,667 
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shares of common stock and 769 shares of Series N preferred stock issued and outstaudirig. As of the same date, all of the present 
directors, as a group of eight persons, own beneficially 526,182 shares (a beneficial ownership of less than 1%) and all of our present 
directors and executive officers, as a group of 13 persons, own beneficially 526,182 shares (a beneficial ownership of less than 1%) of 
our common stock. 

Name and Address of 
Beneflctal Owner (1) 
Ralph Brmdafmo 
Gary M. Clifford 
James Ducay 
Hal B. Heaton 

Number of Shares 
BentflctPlly Owned 

0 
0 (3) 
O(4) 

123,958 (5 )  

% of Common Stock Beneficially Owned(2) 

*% 
*% 
*% 
*% 
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Kennek L. Hilton 
Barbara Jamaleddin 
Kelly Murumets 
Albert Reichmann 
Samuel L. Shimer 
Allan C. Silber 
HenryY.L. Toh 
John R. Walter 
Gary J. Wasserson 
Counsel Communications LLC 

One Landmark Square, Suite 3 15 Stamford, CT 0690 1 
All Executive Officers and Directors as a Group (1 3 people) 540,329( 14) 

*% 
*% 
*% 
*% 
*% 
*% 
*% 
*% 
*% 

86% 

*% 

* . Indicates less than one percent 

(1) 
owner and that person or entity has sole voting and dispositive power with respect to the shares of common stock owned by each of 
them. All addresses are c/o I-Link Incorporated unless otherwise indicated. 

Unless otherwise noted, all listed shares of common stock are owned of record by each person or entity named as beneficial 
' 

(2) 
based on the assumption that any options or convertible securities held by such person or entity which are exercisable or convertible 
within 60 days have been exercised or converted, as the case may be. 

As to each person or entity named as beneficial owners, that person's or entity's percentage of ownership is determined 

(3 1 Mr. Clifford is the Chief Financial Officer of Counsel Corporation, the parent corporation and majority owner of interest in 
Counsel Communications LLC. At the December 6,2002 meeting of the Board of Directors of I-Lmk, Mr. Clifford was appointed to 
the ofice of Vice President of Finance of &Link. At the Board's February 12,2003 meeting, Mr. Clifford was appointed Chief 
Financial Officer of I-Link. Mr. Clifford disclaims beneficial ownership of the shares of I-Link's common stock beneficially owned 
by Counsel via its majority ownership of its subsidiary, Counsel Communications. 

(4) 
Link. 

Mr. Ducay is the President of Accerk Communications Solutions, a division of WorldxChange Corp., a subsidiary of I- 

( 5 )  Represents shares of common stock issuable pursuant to options and warrants. 

(6) 
Lmk, Ms. Murumets was appointed to the ofice of Executive Vice President of I-Link. Ms. Murumets is a Class I11 director of I- 

, Link. Ms. Murumets disclaims beneficial ownership of the shares of I-Link's common stock beneficially owned by Counsel via its 
majority ownership of Counsel Communications LLC. 

Ms. Murumets is an Executive Vice President of Counsel. At the December 6,2002 meeting of the Board ofDirectors of I- 
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(7) Mr. Shimer is a managing director of Counsel and was appointed as a Senior Vice President, Mergers & Acquisitions and 
business Development of I-Link effective February 12,2003. Mr. Shimer disclaims beneficial ownership of I-Link's common stock 
beneficially owned by Counsel via its majority ownership of Counsel Comunications LLC. 

(8) 
Board of Directors in September 2001 and became Chairman in November 2001. Mr. Silber was appointed an Interim Chief 
Executive Officer and President of I-Link in December 2002 and is to serve in such capacity at the discretion of the Board of Directors 
and until the latter appoints a successor officer. Mr. Silber disclaims beneficial ownership of the shares of I-Link's common stock 
beneficially owned by Counsel via its majority ownership of Counsel Communications. 

Allan C. Silber is the Chairman, Chief Executive OfEcer and a stockholder of'Counse1. Mr. Silber was elected to I-Link's 

(9) 
International, Ltd., of which Mr. Toh is a director. Mr. Toh disclaims any beneficial ownership of such shares. 

Represents shares of common stock issuable pursuant to options. Does not include shares held of record by Four M 

(10) 
disclaims beneficial ownership of the shares of I-Link's common stock beneficially owned by Counsel Communications LLC and by 
Counsel via its majority ownership of Counsel Communications. 

Mr. Wasserson is a director of Counsel Communications LLC and a managing director of Counsel. Mr. Wasserson 
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(1 1) 

(12) 
subsidiary. 

Mr. Hilton is the Chief Executive Officer of WorldxChange Corp., I-Link’s wholly-owned subsidiary. 

Ms. Jamalledin is the Senior Vice President of Network Operations of WorldxChange Corp., I-Link’s wholly-owned 
8 

(1 3) 
in March 2001 which were obtained from Winter Harbor L.L.C. on March 7,2001, based on information included in a Schedule 13D 
filed by Counsel on March 13 , 200 1 and amended by Counsel and filed with the SEC on May 2,200 1. Also includes 36,207,490 
shares of I-Link’s common stock issuable upon conversion of a convertible promissory note in the principal amount (and including 
accrued interest) of $14,26 1,406 loaned to I-Link as of December 3 1,2002, at the conversion price of $0.39 per share, under the terms 
of the Senior Convertible Loan and Security Agreement, dated March 1,200 1, as amended on May 8,200 1 (Loan Agreement). Under 
the terms of the Loan Agreement, Counsel may convert the aggregate principal amount and interest loaned to I-Link into shares of I- 
Link’s common stock. Also includes 17,434,489 shares of I-Link’s common stock issued on April 17,2001 to Counsel under the 
t e m  of the Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated April 17,200 1. Also includes 92,039,80 1 shares of I-Link‘s common stock 
issuable upon conversion of the loan fiom Counsel Communications to I-Lmk, which loan is convertible into the shares of I-Link’s 
common stock at the conversion rate of $0.084 per share, which rate represented the average closing price of I-Link’s common stock 
for 20 trading days preceding the date of the purchase agreement by and between Counsel Communications and RSL COM U.S.A., 
Inc. (see Proposal 3 of this Proxy Statement for additional. information on this loan and transaction). Also includes 15,000,000 
warrants to purchase shares of I-Link’s common stock issued to Counsel in connection with its loan to I-Link dated June 4,2001 at the 
exercise price of s.60 per share. The beneficial ownership figure excludes approximately 158,258,000 (as of December 3 1, 2002) 
shares issuable if the Amended Debt Restructuring Agreement is approved by the stockholders at the next annual meeting. The 
issuance of shares under the Amended Debt Restructuring Agreement would also cause a reset to the conversion price of the 
convertible promissory note ($14,26 1,406 as of March 18,2003) referred to above, fiom $0.39 to approximately $0.23 which would 
result in an additional 25,530,000 shares of common stock being issued, which shares have also been excluded. 

Includes 6 1,966,057 shares of I-Link’s common stock issued upon conversion of Series M and N redeemable preferred stock 

(14) 
days of the date hereof. 

Represents 540,329 of shares of common stock that may be obtained pursuant to options and wmmts exercisable within 60 
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Equity Compensation Plan Information 

The following table sets forth, as of December 3 1 , 2002, with respect to compensation plans (including individual 
compensation arrangements) under which equity securities of I-Link are authorized for issuance. 

Plan Category 

Equity compensation 
plans approved by security 

holders: 
2001 Stock option and 
Appreciation Rights Plan 
1997 Recruitment Stock Option 
Plan 
I995 Directors Stock Option and 
Appreciation Rights Plan 
1995 Employee Stock Option 
and Appreciation Rights flan 
Director Stock Option Plan 

Equity compensation 
plans not approved by security 

holders: 
Series N preferred Stock 
convertible into common stock 
Convertible debt to Counsel in 
connection with RSL purchase 
Convertible debt to Counsel in 
connection with loan to I-Link in 

Number of securities to be issued upon Weighted-average exercise price Number of securities remaining avallable for future issuance 
exercise of outstanding options, of outstanding O P ~ ~ O M ,  warrants under equity Compensation plans (excluding securities 

warrants and rights and rights reflected in column (a)) 

none 

2,118,026 

170,000 

135,250 

4,668 

6 15,200 

90,099,5 02 

35,34 I, 107 

$3.67 

$1.13 

$3.90 

$2.38 

$1.25 

$0.08 

$0.39 

14,000,000 

3,607,449 

0 

145,500 

0 

0 

* 

** 
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2001 
bWmants issued to Counsel in 
connection with WorldxChange 
purchase 
Debt to Counsel to be converted 
into common stock subject to 
shareholder approval at next 
Annual Meeting 
Warrants issued in connection 
with private placement in 1998 
Issuance of non -qualified 
options to employees and outside 
consultants 
Total 

15,000,000 

155,226,800 

408,000 

7,333,330 

3 06,45 1,883 

$0.60 

$0.19 

$5.27 

$3.55 

$0.32 

0 

*** 

0 

0 

17,752,949 

* 
** 

*** Additional shares will be issuable in the fbture related to accrued interest on the principal balance. Conversion of this loan has 

Additional shares will be issuable in the future related to accrued interest on the principal balance. 
Additional shares will be issuable in the future related to accrued interest on the principal balance and changes in the conversion 
price allowed for in the debt instrument. 

been approved by the Board of Directors and is to be voted upon by the shareholders at the next Annual Meeting 
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Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions 

Transactions with Management and Others 

See Item 1 1 hereof for descriptions of the terms of employment, consulting and other agreements between us and certain officers, 
directors and other related parties. Additionally, in June 2002, the Company made a relocation loan of $100,000 (non-interest 
bearing) to Mr. Hilton. The loan is due on the earlier of June 2007 or upon sale of his former residence. While the loan is 
outstanding, payments are required equal to of 20% of any incentive awards (after the first $50,000) paid to Mr. Hilton. As of 
December 3 1,2002, no payments on the loan had been made. 

Transactions with Counsel Corporation 

General 

Amendments to the Articles of Incorporation . In July 2002, the Board of Directors approved an amendment to I-Link’s Amended 
and Restated Articles of Incorporation (Articles of Incorporation) to delete Article VI thereof. Article VI of the Articles of 
Incorporation was added pursuant to an amendment and restatement of the Articles of Incorporation dated March 1, 1989 to read as 
follows: 

“Any liquidation, reorganization, merger, consolidation, sale of substantially all of the corporation’s assets, or the reclassification of 
its securities shall be approved by (a) holders of at least a majority of the issued and outstanding Common Stock held by other than 
officers, directors, and those persons who hold 5% or more of the outstanding Common Stock, and (b) a vote of a majority of shares of 
issued and outstanding Common Stock held by the Company’s officers, directors, and those persons who hold 5% or more of the 
outstanding Common Stock.” 

Subsequently, the following “required vote” clause was added to Article VI as a result of the March 14, 1989 amendment to the 
Articles of Incorporation: 

“N~twithstanding anythmg contained in these Articles of Incorporation to the contrary, the a f f ia t ive  vote of the holders of at least 
67% of the Outstanding shares of the corporation then entitled to vote in the election of directors shall be required to amend, alter, or 
repeal, or to adopt any provision inconsistent with this Article VI.” 

The original purpose of this Article VI was to provide an additional measure designed to reduce I-Link’s vulnerability to unsolicited 
takeover attempts through amendment of the corporate charter or bylaws 
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or otherwise. Since Counsel Communications holds in excess of 68% of the Company’s voting equity securities, the Board of 
Directors believes that Article VI is no longer required to fulfill its original purpose and instead effectively restricts I-Link’s ability to 
enter into transactions that may be in the best interests of its stockholders. Furthermore, under the terms and provisions of the Debt 
Restructuring Agreement (as discussed below), the Board of Directors is required to recommend approval and adoption of this 
proposal to stockholders and to include this proposal in the proxy statement materials distributed to I-Link stockholders in connection 
with the Annual Meeting of Stockholders.. 

If this proposal is approved, Counsel will be able to cause the stockholder approval of any liquidation, reorganization, merger, 
consolidation, sale of substantially all of the assets of I-Lmk, or the reclassification of its securities. In addition, Counsel might be 
able to take I-Link private. Under Section 607.1 104 of the Florida Act, if Counsel Communications owned more than 80% of each 
class of I-Link’s equity securities and if Proposal 3 is approved (the mechanics of the parent-subsidiary merger under the Florida Act 
is described below in this Proposal 3). Counsel Communications would be able to merge I-Link into Counsel Communications 
Without the approval of stockholders other than Counsel Communications. However, under the term of the Amended Debt 
Restructuring Agreement, Counsel Communications has agreed not take any such action at any time prior to June 30,2003. 

The Amended Debt Restructuring Agreement . Historically, I-Link has suffered substantial operating deficits and has required 
substantial infusions of working capital on an on-going basis. In early 2001, having been notified of its then majority stockholder’s 
unwillingness to commit more h d s  to the company, I-Link commenced efforts to seek alternative fmancing. Soon thereafter, I-Link 
commenced negotiations with Counsel in contemplation of Counsel making an investment in the company. Counsel is a publicly 
traded company engaged primarily in the ownership and development of companies providing services and products in the United 
States and Canada. In February 2000, Counsel formed C o k e 1  Communications LLC, a Delaware limited liability company and 
wholly owned subsidiary of Counsel, to focus on acquiring, consolidating and operating Internet telephony and other 
telecommunications-related businesses. (Counsel Communications LLC subsequently changed its name to Counsel Springwell 
Communications LLC, but has recently reverted to its original name and is referred to below as Counsel Communications.) 

On March 1,2001, Counsel through Counsel Communications acquired an approximate 65% interest in I-Link fiom the company’s 
then majority stockholder in exchange for $5,000,000. I-Link entered into a Senior Convertible Loan and Security Agreement (Senior 
Loan Agreement) with Counsel Communications under the terms and provisions of which agreement Counsel Communications was 
required to make periodic loans to I-Link in an aggregate principal amount not to exceed $10,000,000 (this agreement was amended in 
May 200 1 to increase the aggregate principal amount to $12,000,000). During 200 1 , the full $12,000,000 was loaned to I-Link 
pursuant to this agreement and was utilized by it for working capital purposes. 

On June 6,2001, I-Link and Counsel entered into a Loan and Security Agreement (Security Agreement) under the terms of which 
agreement Counsel agreed to advance up to $10,000,000 to I-Link. In connection with the Security Agreement, I-Link executed a note 
in favor of Counsel due and payable June 6,2002 and secured the note with all of I-Link’s assets. Outstanding balances (including any 
accrued and unpaid interest) under the loan carried interest at 10% per mum which interest was payable quarterly in arrears on the 
last business day of each quarter. However, at its sole election, Counsel could allow interest on the loan to accrue and to become 
payable at the end of the term. The full amount available under the Security Agreement was advanced to I-Link during 200 I .  Under 
the terms of an April 15,2001 letter, Counsel committed to I-Link to fund, through long-term inter-company advances or equity 
contributions, all capital investment working capital or other operational cash requirements of I-Link to continue as a going concern 
through April 15,2002, and Counsel delivered a similar letter dated April 3,2002 committing to provide such funds as might be 
required in order for I-Link to continue as a going concern through April 15,2003 (Keep Well Letters). Counsel and I-Link agreed 
that the conditions and terms of repayment of amounts advanced pursuant to the Keep Well Letters would be similar to those 
contained in the Security Agreement. Accordingly, on June 27,2002, I-Link and Counsel amended the Security Agreement, effective 
October 5,2002, to increase the indebtedness represented thereby to $24,306,865 . 
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WorldxChange Transaction. On December 10,2002, I-Link’s wholly-owned subsidiary, WorldxChange Corp. (WorldxChange), 
completed the purchase of the Dkect and Agent businesses of RSL COM U.S.A. Inc. (RSL). The acquisition included the assets used 
by RSL to provide long distance voice and data services, including fiame relay, to small and medium size businesses (Direct 
Business), and the assets used to provide long distance and other voice services to smdl businesses and the consumer/residentiaI 
market (Agent Business), together with the existing customer base of the Direct and Agent Businesses. 

The purchase agreement was originally entered into between Counsel Communications and RSL and was assigned to WorIdxChange 
in May 2002. The closing occurred on December 10,2002 following receipt of all regulatory approvals. WorldxChange paid a 
purchase price of approximately $7.5 million, subject to certain closing balance sheet adjustments, and agreed to pay up to an - @ 2003. EDGAR Online, Inc. 



additional $3 million on March 3 1,2004, which contingent upon the achievement of certain revenue levels by the Direct and Agent 
-Businesses for the year 2003. The purchase price of $7.5 million was financed by a loan from I-Link to WorldxChange that is due 
March 1,2004. I-Link’s loan to WorldxChange was financed by a convertible loan from Counsel Communications. The loan from 
Counsel Communications is convertible into common stock of I-Link at the exchange rate of $0.084 per share, which rate represented 
the average closing price of I-Link’s common stock for the twenty trading days preceding December Z 0,2002. 

Of the additional $3.0 million purchase price, a minimum of $1 million was payable March 3 1,2004. The remaining $2 million 
payment was contingent upon achievement of certain revenue levels by the Direct and Agent Businesses for the year 2003. The actual 
amount due will be prorated based upon 2003 Direct and Agent Businesses revenues between $44 million ($0 amount payable) to $55 
million ($2.0 million payable). 

Debt Restructuring Agreement. Under the terms of the Debt Restructuring Agreement by and among I-Link, Counsel and Counsel 
Communications dated July 25,2002 (Original Agreement), $25.9 million of indebtedness that was due on June 6,2002 would have 
been exchanged for shares of common stock of &Link at a price of $0.18864 per share, the average closing transaction price for the 
month of May 2002. Interest on the $25.9 million would have ceased to accrue after July 12,2002. The balance of the indebtedness? 
$13 -4 million, was owed under the Senior Loan Agreement between Counsel Communications and I-Link and would have continued 
to be convertible, at the option of Counsel Communications, into shares of common stock of I-Link pursuant to the existing terms of 
that convertible indebtedness. The conversion price was set at $0.56 per share, but, as a result of the issuance of the shares of common 
stock in exchange for the $25.9 million of I-Link indebtedness, the conversion price would have been adjusted to $0.39221. * 

The Original Agreement also provided that I-Link’s guarantee of indebtedness in the amount of $12.5 million owed by WorldxChange 
to Counsel would be cancelled. In addition, Counsel Communications agreed to surrender for cancellation by I-Link, warrants to 
purchase 15,000,000 shares of common stock of I-Link which were issued in connection with the loan by Counsel to WorldxChange. 
I-Link would also have transferred to Counsel Communications all the outstanding shares of capital stock of WorldxChange. Finally, 
Counsel Communications also agreed to pay I-Link $1 .O million for expenses incurred by I-Link in connection with the acquisition of 
WorldxChange. 

Under the terms of the Original Agreement, Counsel Communications also agreed to continue to provide I-Link with fimding in the 
amount of $2.3 million through December 3 1,2002 to fund I-Link’s operating cash needs. Such funding would have constituted 
additional purchases of I-Link‘s common stock at a purchase price of $0.18864 per share. Counsel Communications also agreed to 
pay I-Link’s expenses incurred in connection with this transaction, In addition, Counsel and Counsel Communications’s current 
commitment under the Keep Well Letters to fund all capital investment, working capital or other operational cash requirements of I- 
Link would have been extended from April 15,2003 to December 3 1,2003. Under the t e m  of the Original Agreement, such fimding 
in 2003 would have constituted purchases of additional shares of I-Link’s common stock at a purchase price equal to the average 
closing transaction price for a share of I-Link‘s common stock for the immediately preceding month. 
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Amended and Restated Debt Restructuring Agreement. I-Link‘s Board of Directors subsequently determined that the Original 
Agreement was not in the best interests of the stockholders. As a result, the parties entered into an Amended and Restated Debt 
Restructuring Agreement dated October 15,2002 (Amended Agreement). The issuance of I-Link’s common stock pursuant to the 
Amended Agreement will result in a weighted average conversion price adjustment pursuant to the provisions of the Senior Loan 
Agreement, i.e., the conversion price under the Senior Loan Agreement had been $0.56, the new conversion price will be 
approximately $0.38. The Amended Agreement includes the folIoWing tenns: 

b The principal amount of $24,306,866 outstanding under the Security Agreement, together with accrued and unpaid interest, 
and any additional amounts advanced by Counsel to I-Link since July 25,2002 under the Keep Well Letters, together with interest 
accrued on such amounts at a rate of 10% per annum, will be exchanged for common stoGk of the company at a price of $0.18864 per 
share (Effective Price); 

b Amounts advanced by Counsel to I-Link under the Keep Well Letters from July 25 to December 3 1,2002 will constitute 
additional purchases of I-Link’s common stock at the Effective Price, and such funding in 2003 would constitute purchases of 
additional shares of I-Link’s common stock at a purchase price equal to the average closing price for a share of I-Link’s common 
stock for the twenty (20) trading days preceding the fbding; provided that in the event that the Board of Directors determines to 
acquire the assets or equity interests of any other entity, I-Link and Counsel Communications agree that any acquisition cost related to 
such acquisition will be financed, at the option of Counsel Communications, either by way of equity from Counsel Communications 
constituting a purchase of additional shares of I-Link’s common stock for a purchase price per share equal to the average closing 
transaction price of a share of common stock on the twenty (20) trading days preceding the funding or alternatively a purchase money 
loan arrangement similar in form and substance to the Security Agreement; 
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.dissenters’ rights in connection with the transactions subject to the debt restructuring transaction &the amount for the annual 
premium to renew the existing directors and officers insurance coverage through November 2003. 

‘ Counsel Communications will advance to I-Link all amounts paid or payable by I-Link to its stockholders that exercise their 

e Counsel Communications M e r  agreed to reimburse I-Link fox all costs, fees and expenses in connection with the 
Amended Agreement, whether incurred and yet to be incurred, including the Special Committee’s costs to negotiate the Amended 
Agreement and costs related to obtaining stockholder approval. The costs, fees and expenses to be so reimbursed to I-Link will not be 
treated as advances, loans or stock purchases; nor will such amounts be subject to conversion into I-Link’s common stock. 

I-Link agreed to solicit the approval of its stockholders for this agreement and for a proposal to increase the authorized capital of I- 
Link. I-Link also agreed to increase its authorized capital to make available shares of common stock into which debt owed to Counsel 
and its afliliates could be converted into stock pursuant to the Amended and Restated Debt Restructuring Agreement. 

I-Link’s Special Committee, consisting of two independent directors, negotiated and approved the Amended Agreement on behalf of 
I-Link, recommended its adoption and approval to the I-Link Board of Directors and has also recommended that it be approved by the 
stockholders of I-Link. The Special Committee retained a financial advisor, who advised the Special Committee that the Amended 
Agreement was fair, from a fmancial point of view, to the stockholders of I-Link, other than Counsel and its affiliates. The Board of 
Directors of I-Link unanimously approved and recommended the Amended Agreement and also unanimously approved and 
recommended an amendment to the Articles of Incorporation of I-Link to delete Article VI. r 
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If the debt restructuring transaction is consummated, Counsel Communications will own 86% (based on advances through March 18, 
2003) of voting equity securities of I-Link. If Counsel Communications owned more than 80% of each class of I-Link‘s equity 
securities and if this agreement is approved, it could, under Section 607.1 104 of the Florida Act, merge I-Link into Counsel 
Communications without the approval of stockholders other than Counsel Communications. However, under the terms of the 
Amended Agreement, Counsel Communications has agreed not take any such action at any time prior to June 30,2003. 

PART IV 

Item 1 4 .  Controls and Procedures 

In accordance with Item 307 of Regulation S-K promulgated under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and within 90 days of the 
date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer of the Company (the “Certifying 
Officers”) have conducted evaluations of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures. As defined under Sections 13a- 14(c) and 
15d-l4(c) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), the term “disclosure controls and procedures” 
means controls and other procedures of an issuer that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by the issuer in 
the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods 
specified in the Commission’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and 
procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by an issuer in the reports that it files or submits under the 
Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to the issuer’s management, including its principal executive officer or officers and 
principal fmancial officer or officers, or persons performing similar functions, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding 
required disclosure. 

As of March 13 , 2003, the date of the evaluation of the Company’s internal controls and disclosure controls and procedures, the 
CertifLing Officers have reviewed the company’s disclosure controls and procedures and have concluded that those disclosure 
controls and procedures were not effective. An explanation of the deficiencies and remedies is set forth below. In compliance with 
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (18 U.S.C. 1350), each of the Certifying-Oficers executed an Officer’s Certification 
included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. 

As of March 13,2003, the date of the evaluation of the Company’s internal controls and disclosure controls and procedures, the Chief 
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer determined that the following matters involving internal controls constituted material 
weaknesses. The deficiencies related to the process of calculating aIlowance for doubtfbl accounts, the timeliness of general ledger 
account reconciliations and analysis, and financial reporting expertise, A material weakness is a condition in which the design or 
operation of one or more of the internal control components does not reduce to a relatively low level the risk that misstatements 
caused by error or fraud in amounts that would be material in relation to the financial statements may occur and not be detected within 
a timely period by employees in the normal course of performing their assigned functions. More specific discussion is set forth below. 

Allowance For Doubtfbl Accounts. WorldxChange’s information systems necessary to analyze its reserves for uncollectible accounts 
receivable were not effective. Primarily, information systems necessary to analyze the allowance for doubtful accounts related to 
direct-billed accounts were not effective as a result of the rapid growth of the direct-billed revenues and related accounts receivable 
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during h e  year. Following the date of the Certifjmg Officers’ evaluation, the Company has undertaken to generate system-based 
reports to assist in the timely and informed evaluation of necessary allowance for doubtful accounts 
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related to direct-billed accounts and has increased the monitoring of that information. 

General Ledger Account Reconciliation and Analysis. Certain WorldxChange general ledger accounts were not reconciled on a 
timely basis. Following the date of the Certifying Officers’ evaluation, WorldxChange implemented procedures to require the timely 
preparation and review of reconciliations and analysis of these general ledger accounts on a monthly basis. 

Financial Reporting Exper tise. Over the course of the last two years the Company has grown through acquisitions and the Company 
is positioning itself for further revenue growth. That growth continues to place significant burdens on the Company’s financial 
reporting systems and resources. The Certifying Officers have determined that the Company did not have sufficient fmancial 
expertise and appropriate systems, and consequently that controls did not operate effectively on a continuous basis throughout the 
reporting period. As a result, the Certifying Officers determined that the Company did not have an effective intemal control 
environment. The Certifying Officers, with Company’s management, have evaluated and are modifying its systems and financial 
hctions as deemed appropriate in an attempt to ensure the internal controls and disclosure controls and procedures are effective in 
the fbture. In addition, the Certifying Officers have determined that the fmancial management team should be augmented to include an 
internal audit function. In 2003, the Company appointed a new Chief Financial Oficer, recently hired a new corporate controller and 
is in the process of hiring a new controller at WorldxChange, (all with recent experience in generally accepted accounting principles, 
the rules and regulations of the Commission, financial reporting practices, and internal controls), in an effort to address this 
deficiency. 

* 

The Company has a continuous improvement program in place relating to the internal controls and disclosure controls and procedures 
of the Company and its subsidiaries. The program is designed to review and modify, as determined appropriate, the design and 
operation of internal controls and disclosure controls and procedures as the operating processes change in relation to the changes of 
the Company’s business resulting from acquisitions, discontinued operations, reorganization of management and the addition of new 
lines of business. As of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-IC, except as disclosed above, there have not been any significant 
changes in the Company’s intemal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect these controls subsequent to the date of 
their evaluation, including any corrective actions with regard to significant deficiencies and material weaknesses. 
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Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules and Reports on Form 8-K 

(a) The following financial statements and those financial statement schedules required by Item 8 hereof are filed as part of 
this report: 
1. Financial statements: 

Report of Independent Accountants 
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 3 1,2002 and 200 I 
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended December 3 1.2002.200 1 
and 2000 
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit) for the years ended 
December 3 1,2002,2001 and 2000 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 3 I ,  2002,2001 
and 2000 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

2. Financial Statement Schedule: 
Schedule I1 - Valuation and Qualifying Accounts 
All other schedules are omitted because of the absence of conditions under which they 
are required or because the required information is presented in the Financial Statements 
or Notes thereto. 

(b) Reports on Form 8-K during the fourth quarter of 2002. 
A Current Report on Form 8-IC was filed on December 16,2002 to annouce I-Link’s agreement to sell the operations 
of I-Link’s subsidiary, I-Link Communications, Inc. 
A Current Report on Form 8-K was filed on December 26,2002 to announce that I-Link’s subsidiary WorldxChange 
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Cbrp. completed the purchase of the Enterprise and Agent business of RSL Com U.S.A. Inc. 
(c) The following exhibits are filed as part of this Registration Statement: 

Number 

3.1(6) 
4.2(3) 
4.3(7) 

4.4(3) 

4.5(3) 

4.6(10) 

4.7( 10) 
4.8( 10) 

10.1( 1) 
10.2(2) 
10.3(5) 

10.4(5) 
10.5(5) 
10.6(5) 
10.7(5) 
10.8(5) 
10.9(7) 
lO.lO(7) 
1 0.1 1 (7) 

10.12(7) 

1 0.1 3 (7) 
10.14(7) 

10.1 5(7) 

10.16(7) 

10.17(4) 

10.19(9) 

10.1 8(8) 

10.20(9) 

1 0.2 1 (9) 
10.22( 1 1)  

10.23( 13) 
10.24( 13) 
10.25( 12) 

10.26( 12) 

Title of Exhibit 

Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation, as further amended. 
Securities Purchase Agreement by and between I-Link and Winter Harbor, dated as of September 30,1997. 
Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreement dated as of January 15,1999 by and between I-Link and Winter 
Harbor, amending Registration Rights Agreement dated October 10, 1997. 
Form of Shareholders Agreement by and among I-Link and Winter Harbor and certain holders of I-Link's securities, 
which constitutes Exhibit D to the Purchase Agreement. 
Form of Warrant Agreement by and between Medcross, Inc. and Winter Harbor, which constitutes Exhibit F to the 
Purchase Agreement. 
Senior Convertible Loan and Security Agreement dated March 1 , 200 1 , by and between Counsel Communications, LLC 
and I-Link Incorporated. 
Loan Note, dated as of March 1,200 1 , by and between Counsel Communications LLC and I-Link Incorporated. 
Security Agreement, dated as of March 1,2001, by and between I-Link Communications, MiBridge Inc and Counsel 
Communications, LLC. li 

1997 Recruitment Stock Option Plan. 
200 1 Stock Option and Appreciation Rights Plan 
Agreement dated April 14, 1998, by and between I-Link and Winter Harbor. 
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Pledge Agreement dated April 14,1998, by and between I-Link and Winter Harbor. 
Security Agreement dated April 14,1998, by and among certain of I-Lhk's subsidiaries and Winter Harbor. 
Form of Promissory Notes issued to Winter Harbor. 
Warrant to purchase 250,000 shares of Common Stock of I-Lmk, dated June 30,1998, issued to JNC. 
Warrant to purchase 100,000 shares of Common Stock of I-Link, dated July 28,1998, issued to JNC. 
Loan Agreement dated as of January 15,1999 by and between I-Link and Winter Harbor. 
First Amendment to Loan Agreement dated March 4, 1999 by and between I-Link and Winter Harbor. 
Promissory Note dated November 10, 1998, in principal amount of $8,000,000 executed by LEink in favor of Winter 
Harbor. 
Series K Warrant Agreement dated as of January 15, 1999 by and between I-Link and Winter Harbor and form of 
Series K Warrant. 
Agreement dated as of January 15,1999 by and between I-Link and Winter Harbor. 
First Amendment to Security Agreement dated as of January 15, 1999, by and among I-Lmk, five of its wholly-owned 
subsidiaries and Winter Harbor, amending Security Agreement dated April 14,3997. 
First Amendment to Pledge Agreement dated as of January 15, 1999, by and among I-Link and Winter Harbor, 
amending Pledge Agreement dated April 14, 1997. 
Series D, E, F, G, H, I and J Warrant Agreement dated as of January 15,1999 by and between I-Link and Winter 
Harbor, and related forms of warrant certificates. 
Amended and Restated Employment Agreement with Helen Seltzer dated January 3,2002 
Form of Wholesale Service Provider and Distribution Agreement between I-Link and Big Planet, Inc. dated February 1, 
2000 
Form of Cooperation and Framework Agreement between I-Link Incorporated and CyberOEce International AG dated 
May 8,2000 
Form of Revenue Sharing Agreement between I-Link Incorporated and Red Cube International AG (formerly lcnown as 
CyberOfice International AG.) ,dated June 30,2000. 
Form of Letter dated June 30,2000, clarifying a Cooperation and Framework Agreement issue. 
Loan and Security Agreement, dated December 10,2001, by and among WorldxChange C o p  and Footh 
Corporation. 
Employment agreement with James Ducay dated July 1,2002 
Employment agreement with Kenneth Hilton dated May 1,2002 
Form of Asset Purchase Agreement by and between Counsel Springwell Communications LLC and RSL 
InC. 

11 Capital 

lom U.S.A., 

Form of Amendment No. 1 to Asset Purchase Agreement between Counsel Springwell Communications LLC and RSL 
U.S.A., Inc. 
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i o . q i 3 )  
10.28(13) 

10.29( 13) 

23.1 ( 1 3) 
99.1 (1 0) 

99.2( 10) 

99.3( 13) 
99.4( 13) 

Amended and Restated Debt Restructuring Agreement dated October 15,2002. 
Form of Asset Purchase Agreement between Buyer’s United Inc., I-Link Communications Inc., and I-Lmk 
Incorporated dated December 6,2002 
I-Link Convertible Promissory Note for $7,500,000 between I-Link and Counsel Corporation (US) dated December 10, 
2002 . 
Consent of Independent Accountants. 
Warrant Exchange Agreement, dated as of March 1,2001, by and between Winter Harbor, LLC and I-Link 
Incorporated. 
Securities Support Agreement, dated as of March 1,200 1, by and between Counsel CommUnications, LLC and I-Link 
Incorporated. 
Officer’s (CEO) certification pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 
Officer’s (CFO) certification pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 
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Incorporated by reference to our Annual Report on Fonn 10-KSB for the year ended December 3 1 1996, file number 0-17973. 
Incorporated by reference to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30,200 1, file number 0- 
17973. 
Incorporated by reference to our Current Report on Form 8-K, dated September 30, 1997, fde number 0- 17973. 
Incorporated by reference to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended March 3 1,2002, file number 0- 17973. 
Incorporated by reference to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 1998, file number 0-17973. 
Incorporated by reference to our Annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 3 1, 1998, file number 0- 17973. 
Incorporated by reference to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 23,1999, file number 0-17973. 
Incorporated by reference to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended March 3 1,2000, file number 0-1 7973. 
Incorporated by reference to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 3 0,2000, file number 0- 17973. 
Incorporated by reference to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 16,200 1 file number 0- 17973. 
Incorporated by reference to our Annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 3 1,200 1, file number 0- 17973. 
Incorporated by reference to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 26,2002,2001, file number 0-17973. 
Filed herewith 

’ 
. 
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SIGNATURES 

In accordance with Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed 
on our behalf by the undersigned, hereunto duly authorized. 

Dated: April 30,2003 

I-LINK INCORPORATED 
(Registrant) 
By: /s/ Allan Silber 

Allan Silber, President and 
Chief Executive Officer 

In accordance with Section 13 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed by the following persons on behalf 
of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated. 

Signrture Title 

/s/ Allan C. Silber Chairman of the Board, Director, 
Allan C. Silber President and Chief Executive Officer 
/SI Gary M. Clifford Chief Financial Officer and VP of 
Gary M. Clifford Finance 
/s/ H e q  Y. L. Toh Director 
Henry Y.L. Toh 

Date 

April 30,2003 

April 30,2003 

April 30,2003 - 
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Is/ Hal‘B. Heaton 
Hal B. Heaton 
Is/ Gary J. Wasserson 
Gary J. Wasserson 
Is1 Samuel L. Shimer 
Samuel L. Shimer 
Is/ John R. Walter 
JohnR. Walter 
/s/ Albert Reichmann 
Albert Reichmann 
/s/ Kelly Mumnets 
Kelly Murumets 

Director 

Director 

Director 

Director 

Director 

Director 
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April 30,2003 

April 30,2003 

April 30,2003 

April 30,2003 

April 30,2003 

April 30,2003 

OFFICER’S CERTIFICATION 
PURSUANT TO 

(18 U.S.C. 1350) 
SECTION 302 OP THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 

I, Allan Silber, Chief Executive Officer of I-Link Incorporated, certify that: 

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of I-Link Incorporated; 

2. 
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading 
with respect to the period covered by this annual report; 

Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material 

3. 
in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods 
presented in this annual report; 

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this m u a l  report, fairly present 

4. 
procedures (as defmed in Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14) for the registrant and we have: 

The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and 

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its 
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly duriug the period in which this annual 
report is being prepared; 

b) 
date of this annual report (the “Evaluation Date”); and 

evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures as of a date within 90 days prior to the filing 

c) 
evaluation as of the Evaluation Date; 

presented in this annual report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures based on our 

5 .  
and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent function): 

The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation, to the registrant’s auditors 

a) 
record, process, summarize and report financial data and have identified for the registrant’s auditors any material weaknesses in 
internal controls; and 

all significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls which could adversely affect the registrant’s ability to 

b) 
internal controls; and 

any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s 

6.  
in internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect internal controls subsequent to the date of our most recent 
evaluation, including any corrective actions with regard to significant deficiencies and material weaknesses. 

The registrant’s other certifjmg officers and I have indicated in this annual report whether or not there were significant changes 

M 
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Date: April 30,2003 
By: /s /  AllanSilber 

Allan Silber 
Chief Executive Officer 

OFFICER’S CERTIFICATION 
PURSUANT TO 

(18 U.S.C. 1350) 
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OP 2002 

I, Gary M. Clifford, Chief Financial Officer of I-Link Incorporated, certify that: 

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of I-Link Incorporated; 

2. 
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading 
with respect to the period covered by this m u a l  report; 

Based on my howledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material 

3. 
in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods 
presented in this annual report; 

Based on my knowledge, the fmancial statements, and other financial information included in this annual report, fairly present 

4. 
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14) for the registrant and we have: 

The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintainjng disclosure controls and 

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its 
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this annual 
report is being prepared; 

b) 
date o f  this annual report (the “Evaluation Date”); and 

evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures as of a date within 90 days prior to the filing 

c) 
evaluation as of the Evaluation Date; 

presented in this amual report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures based on our 

5 .  
and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent fhction): 

The registrant’s other certifjmg officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation, to the registrant’s auditors 

a) 
record, process, summarize and report financial data and have identified for the registrant’s auditors any material weaknesses in 
internal controls; and 

all significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls which could adversely affect the registrant’s ability to 

b) 
internal controls; and 

any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s 

6.  
in internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect internal controls subsequent to the date of our most recent 
evaluation, including any corrective actions with regard to significant deficiencies and mherial weaknesses. 

The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have: indicated in this annual report whether or not there were significant changes 

Date: April 30,2003 
By: /s/ Gary M. Clifford 

Gary M. Clifford 
Chief Financial Offcer 

INDEX OF FI”CL4L STATEMENTS & SUPPLEMENTAL SCHEDULES 
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Title of Document 

Report of Independent Accountants 
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 3 1,2002 and 200 1 
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended December 3 1,2002.2001 and 2000 
Consolidated Statement of Chanpes in Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit) for the years ended December 3 1,2002,2001 and 2000 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the vears ended December 3 1,2002,2001 and 2000 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
Schedule of Valuation and Oualifvinn Accounts 

REPORT OF LNDEPENDEPENDENT ACCOUNTYNTS 

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of 

I-Link Incorporated and Subsidiaries: 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements listed in the accompanying index present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of I-Link Incorporated and its subsidiaries at December 3 1,2002 and 2001, and the results of their operations and 
their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 3 1,2002 in conformity with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America. In addition, in our opinion, the financial statement schedule listed in the accompanying 
indexpresents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein when read in conjunction with the related consolidated 
financial statements. These financial statements and fmncial statement schedule are the responsibility of the Company’s 
management; our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and financial statement scheduIe based-on our 
audits. We conducted our audits of these statements in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America, which require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are 
free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the 
overall financial statement presentation. We believe that ouf audits provide a-reasonable basis for our opinion. 

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
Salt Lake City, Utah 
March 25,2003 

F- 1 

I-LINK INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARIES 

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 

as of December 31,2002 and 2001 

ASSETS 
Current assets: 

Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtfd accounts of $4,595,838 and $1,862,988 as 
of December 3 1,2002 and 200 1, respectively 
Other current assets 
Total current assets 
Furniture, fixtures, equipment and soha re ,  net 
Other assets: 
Intangible assets, net 
Other assets 

Cash and cash equivalents $ 

2002 

3,619,642 $ 
21,750,826 

3,063,986 
28,434,454 
11,479,111 

2,747,262 
2,26 1,887 

2001 

4,662,532 
16,009,386 

2,632,629 
23,3 04,547 
2 1,023,696 

1,330,839 
1,12 1,067 

z 
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Net asgets of discontinued operations 
Total assets $ 

Accounts payable $ 

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ DEFICIT 
Current liabilities: 

Accrued liabilities 
Unearned revenue 
Revolving credit facility and other current debt 
Notes payable to a related party 
Current portion of obligations under capital leases 
Total current liabilities 
Notes payable 
Notes payable to a related party 
Obligations under capital leases 
Note payable to a related party, to be converted into common stock 
Total liabilities 
Commitments and contingencies (notes 9 and 13) 
Stockholders’ equity (deficit): 
Preferred stock, $10 par value, authorized 10,000,000 shares, issued and outstanding 769 as 
of December 3 1,2002 and 200 1, respectively; liquidation preference of $76 1,3 10 at 
December 3 1,2002 
Common stock, $A07 par value, authorized 300,000,000 shares, issued and outstanding 
1 16,549,547 at December 3 1,2002 and 2001 
Additional paid-in capital 
Accumulated deficit 
Total stockholders’ deficit 
Total liabilities and stockholder’s deficit $ 

1,350,000 
46,272,714 $ 

7,016,628 $ 
19,4 1 1,946 

958,185 
12,073,374 

2,7 13,650 
42,173,7 83 
1,03 3,024 

30,057,63 5 
4,145,711 

29,28 1,984 
106,692,137 

- 

7,690 

815,849 

129,552,725 
(190,795,687) 
(60,4 19,423) 
46,272,714 $ 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements 

F-2 

I-LINK INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARIES 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS 

for the years ended December 31,2002,2001 and 2000 

Revenues: 
Telecommunication services 
Marketing services 
Technology licensing and development 
Other 
Total revenues 
Operating costs and expenses: 
Telecommunication network expense (exclusive of 
depreciation shown below) 
Marketing services 
Selling, general, administrative and other 
Provision for doubtful accounts 
Depreciation and amortization 
Research and development 
Total operating costs and expenses 
Operating loss 
Other income (expense) : 
Interest expense 
Interest and other income 
Gain on sale of subsidiary 

2002 

90,410,940 $ 

2,836,655 

93,247,595 

- 

- 

50,93 5,474 . 

- 
34,336,810 
6,3 3 1,205 
4,2 70,3 02 
1,398,809 

97,272,600 
(4,025,005) 

(7,893,754) 
395,228 

- 

2001 

50,288,917 $ 

5,696,893 

55,985,810 
- 

35,545,611 

- 
30,789,736 
2,860,892 
6,408,8 17 
2,332,593 

77,937,649 
(2 1,95 1,839) 

(4,692,974) 
81,015 

588,943 
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- 
46,780,149 

7,719,595 
12,270,23 1 
1,986,675 

10,004,862 
29,lO 1 , 163 

3,034,293 
64,116,819 

1,147,364 
1 1,5273 12 
6,986,308 

83,778,003 
- 

7,690 

815,849 

128,942,389 
(1 66,763,782) 

(36,997,854) 
46,780,149 

2000 

- 
463,740 

8,972,828 
400,000 

9,836,568 

456,354 
14,682,985 

3,990,584 
4,220,333 

23,3 50,256 
(133 13,688) 

- 

(1,486,676) 
487,132 



Settlement expense - - 
Total other expense (7,498,526) (4,023,016) 
Loss from continuing operations (1 1,523,53 1) (25,974,855) 
Loss from discontinued operations (net of $0 tax): (1 2,508,374) (19,614,588) 
Loss before extraordinary gain (24,03i,905) (45,589,443) 
Extraordinary gain on extinguishment of debt (net of $0 tax) 
Net loss $ (24,03 1,905) $ (44,496,625) $ 

I 1 ,O92,8 1 8 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated f m c i a l  statements 
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I-LINK INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARIES 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS 

for the years ended December 31,2002,2001 and 2000 

Calculation of net loss per common share: 

Cumulative preferred stock dividends not paid in current year 
Dividends accrued and paid on Class M redeemable preferred stock 
Net effect on retained earnings of redemption and reissuance of 
Class M and N preferred stock, including beneficial conversion 
features 

Basic and diluted weighted average shares outstanding 
Net loss per common share -basic and diluted: 

Loss from discontinued operations 
Extraordinary gain from extinguishment of debt 

Loss from continuing operations $ 

Loss from continuing operations applicable to common stock $ 

Loss fiom continuing operations $ 

Net loss per common share $ 

2002 2001 

(11,523,531) $ (25,974,855) $ 
(27,610) 

- (269,027) 
- 

1 5 3  12,473 

(1 1,523,53 1) $ 
116,549,547 99,184,427 

(10,759,019) $ 

(0.10) $ (0.11) $ 
(0.1 1) (0.20) 
- 0.0 1. 

(0.21) $ (0.30) !l 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements 
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I-LINK INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDI[ARIES 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT) 

for the years F ended December 31,2002,2001 and 2000 

Balance at December 31, 
1999 
Conversion of prefemd 
stock into common stock 
Reclassification of Series 
F redeemable prefmed 
stock fbm mezzanine due 
to conversion to common 
stock 
Common stock dividend 
paid to holders of Series F 
redeemable preferred 
stock 

(639,565) 
(1,639,1091 

(15,152,797) 
(10,599,381) 
(25,752,178) 

(25,752,178) 
- 

2000 

(15,152,797) 
(1,646,818) 

- 
- 

(16,799,615) 
26,669,058 

(0.63) 
(0.40) 

(1.03) 
- 

Rekrred Stock common stock Additboll Deferred Accumulated , 

hld-in 
StUm Amwnt S h v a  Amount Cnpltd compcmtbm Dpedt 

49,992 $ 499,920 24,150,829 $ 169,056$ 98,734,475 S (499,377) $ (109,953,97 1) 

(2S,805) (258,050) 2,158,413 15,109 242,941 - - 

- - 2,336,305 - - 248 2,480 

- - 87,477 6 12 195,721 (196,333) 

1c*r#*J 
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Exercise'of stock options, - 
warrants and issuances 
hder  stock purchase plan 
Stock options issued for - 
services 
Common stock issued as - 

payment of settlement and 
interest expense 
Amortization of deferred - 
compensation on stock 
options issued for services 
Net loss 
Balance at December 31, 24,435 S 244,350 28,136,506 $ 196,957 $ 
2000 

- - - - 

- 1,589,810 11,129 

- - - 

- 149,977 1,05 1 

4,330,530 

42,605 

739,537 

- 
106,622,114 $ 

(42,605) - 

541,982 - 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements 
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- (25,752,178) 
- $  (135,902,482) 

I-LINK INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARIES 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT) 

Balance at December 31,2000 
Conversion of convertible debt and 
accrued interest into Class M 
mezzanine preferred stock and 
common warrants 
Common stock issued and 
accumulated deficit acquired as a 
result of WebToTel acquisition 
and conversion of notes payable 
Stock issued - employee stock 
purchase plan 
Repurchase of Class M mezzanine 
preferred stock 
Repurchase of Class N preferred 
stock 
Net contribution from 
repurchase/settlement with 
stockholders of Class M and N 
preferred stock 
Contingent beneficial conversion 
feature on Class N preferred stock 
Issuance of common shares to 
related party to repurchase 
warrants outstanding 
Reissuance and conversion of 
Class M redeemable preferred 
stock into common stock 
Reissuance and, conversion of 
Class N preferred stock into 
common stock 
Beneficial conversion feature on 
the reissuance of Class M and N 
preferred stock 
Other conversions of Class N 
preferred stock into common stock 
W m n t s  issued in connection with 
notes payable to related party 
Beneficial conversion feature on 
certain convertible note payable to 
related party 
Conversion of Class C preferred 

for the years ended December 31,2002,2001 and 2000 

Preferred Stock 

Amount 

$ 244,350 - 

- 

- 

(144,040) 

- 

(92,490) 

Common Stock 

Sham Amount 

28,136,506 $ 196,957 $ 
- 

17,454,333 

34,5 18 

- 

- 

- 

L 

5,000,000 

50,442,857 

11,523,159 

I 

9,143 

- 

- 

3,415,015 

- 

122,182 

24 1 

- 

- 

- 

- 

35,000 

353,100 

80,662 

- 

64 

- 

- 

23,905 
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Accumulated Additlonnl 

Pald-ln Capital Delidt 

106,622,114 $ (135,902,482) 
6,377,673 c 

11,822,812 (1,246,835) 

15,338 - 

- (14,164,060) 

(5,000,000) 30,292,3 19 

9,779,846 (9,779,846) 

(3 5,000) - 

3,696,900 - 

869,338 

5,000,000 

66 

2,170,059 

1,092,143 

68,585 

- 

(5,000,000) 

- 



stock in20 common stock 
Dividend on Class C preferred - - 534,016 3,738 626 , 5 7 5 (630,313) 
stock paid in the form of common 
stock 
Net loss - - - - - (44,496,625 ) 
Balance at December 31,2001 769 $ 7,690 1 16,549,547 $ 8 15,849 $ 128,942,389 $ (1 66,763,782) 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements 
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I-LINK INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARIES 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT) 

for the years ended December 31,2002,2001 

Preferred Stock CommonStock 
Shares Amount Sbares Amount 

Balance at December 31, 769 $ 7,690 116,549,547 $ 3 15,849 $ 
2001 
Beneficial conversion - I 

feature on certain 
convertible notes payable 
to related party 

related party 
Net loss 
Balance at December 31, 769 $ 7,690 116,549,547 815,849 $ 
2002 

- - 

I-Link costs paid by - - - - 

- - - - 

and 2000 

Additional 
Paid-in Capital 

128,942,3 89 $ 

1 1  1,940 

498,396 

- 
129,552,725 $ 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements 
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I-LINK INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARIES 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

for the years ended December 31,2002,2001 and 2000 

Cash flows from operating activities: 
Net loss 
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by (used in) 
operating activities: 
Depreciation and amortization 
Provision for doubtful accounts 
Impairment of long-lived assets 
Amortization of discount and debt issuance costs on notes payable 
and capital leases 
Accrued interest added to loan principal 
Amortization of deferred compensation on stock options issued for 3 

services 
Common stock issued as payment of settlement and interest 
expense 
Loss on disposal of assets 

2002 

$ (24,03 1,905) $ 

8,13529 I 
6,44 1,646 
3,608,770 
1,463,789 

3,650,973 
- 

266,259 

2001 

(44,496,625) $ 

10,166,790 
4,066,690 
8,040,054 
1,5 18,443 

1,267,223 
- 

Accumulated 
Deficit 

(166,763,782) 

(24,03 1,905) 
(190,795,687) 

2000 

(25,752,178) 

6,399,3 18 
113,168 
c 

c 

541,982 

740,588 

- 
Ilcm*a 

0 2003. EDGAR Online, Inc. 



Extraoidinary gain on extinguishment of debt 
pain on sale of subsidiary 
Increase (decrease) from changes in operating assets and liabilities, 
net of effects of acquisitions: 
Accounts receivable 
Other assets 
Accounts payable, accrued liabilities and interest payable 
Unearned revenue 
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 
Cash flows f?om investing activities: 
Purchases of furniture, fixtures, equipment and software 
Business acquisitions (net of cash of $286,910 and $233,787 in 
2002 and 200 1 respectively, acquired in the acquisitions) 
Cash received fiom sale of building 
Net cash used in investing activities 

- 
- 

(6,427,63 8) 
(1,164,173 ) 
4,828,69 1 

(1,643,167) 
(4,871,464) 

(1,648,868) 
(8,275,539) 

691,513 
(9,232,894) 

(1,092,8 18) 
(5 8 8,943 ) 

(4,527,7 19) 
(1,126,625) 
12,056,323 

(1 4 3  65,5 84) 
(29,282,791) 

(1,963,115) 
(1 3,447,2 13) 

- 
(1 5,4 10,328) 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements 
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I-LINK INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARIES 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

for the years ended December 31,2002,2001 and 2000 

Cash flows fkom financing activities: 

Payment of notes payable to related party 
Proceeds from revolving credit facility, net 
Proceeds from advance under strategic marketing agreement 
Payment of advance under strategic marketing agreement 
Payment of capital lease obligations 
I-Link costs paid by related party 
Payment of long-term debt 
Proceeds from exercise of stock options and warrants and issuances under 
stock purchase plan 
Other 
Net cash provided by financing activities 
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 

Supplemental schedule of non-cash investing and financing activities: 

Reclassification of Series F redeemable preferred stock from mezzanine 
Warrants issued in connection with notes payable to related party 
Conversion of notes payable to a related party and associated accrued 
interest to Class M redeemable preferred stock 
Reclassification of Class M redeemable preferred stock fiom Mezzanine 
Conversion of notes payable to a related party and associated accrued 
interest to common stock 
Building mortgage incurred 
Stock options issued for services 
Equipment acquired under capital lease obligations and note payable 
Supplemental cash flow information: 

Proceeds from issuance of notes payable to a related party $ 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 

RSL acquisition costs financed through note payable to seller 

$ 

$ 

Interest paid $ 

2002 

16,823,345 $ 
(3,000,000) 
2,089,448 

- 
- 

(2,544,350) 
498,396 

(805,371 ) 
- 

- 
13,061,468 
(1,042,890) 
4,662,532 
3,619,642 $ 

875,000 
- 

' - $  
- 

- 
- 

- 
c 

- 

2,164,472 $ 
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43,920,320 $ 
(2,500,000) 
6,996,604 

- 
- 

(1,052,387) 

(1 80,093) 
15,579 

- 

47,200,023 
2,506,904 
2,155,628 
4,662,532 $ 

- 
- $  

2,170,059 
10,305,072 

22,039,892 
10,326,938 

- 
9,887,835 

1,269,605 $ 

8?3,3 82 
(429,260) 

2,830,096 
16,s 52,259 

1,869,355 

(6,88 1,466) 

- 
(6,881,466) 

? 

2000 

2,600,000 
(2,600,000) 

1,75 1,183 
(1,751,183) 

(14 1,728) 

- 

- 
(3,992) 

4,34 1,659 

(24,204) 

(840,376) 
4,17 1,735 

2,996,004 
2,155,628 

- 
2,338,785 

- 
- 

- 
- 

840,000 
42,605 
- 

287,941 



The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements 
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I-LJNK INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARIES 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Note 1 - Description of Business, Principles of Consolidation and Liquidity 

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of I-Link Incorporated and its wholly-owned subsidiaries WorldxChange, 
COT. (“WorldxChange”), I-Link Communications Inc. (“ILC”) which is included in discontinued operations and the Enterprise and 
Agent business of RSL Com U.S.A. Inc (“RSL”) which the Company purchased on December 10,2002 (see note 6). These entities 
combined are referred to as “I-Link ‘‘or the “Company” in these financial statements. 

At the next shareholders meeting, I-Link intends to change its name to Acceris Communications, Inc. (“Acceris”) 

For the past six years, I-Link developed and marketed enhanced communications products and services utilizing its own private 
htranet and both owned and leased network switching and transmission facilities. The communications solutions are delivered 
through I-Link’s proprietary technologies. Enhanced communications products and services were marketed through master agent and 
wholesale distributor arrangements with ILC, which is an FCC licensed long-distance carrier. The Company developed and licensed 
communications applications products and soRware that support multimedia communications (voice, fax and audio) over the public 
switched network, local area networks and the Internet. The second principal operation began on June 4,2001, when I-Link, through 
its wholly owned subsidiary WorldxChange Corp. (WorldxChange), purchased certain assets and assumed certain liabilities of 
WorldxChange Communications, Inc. from a bankruptcy proceeding. WorldxChange is a facilities-based telecommunications carrier 
that provides intemational and domestic long-distance service to retail customers. Telecommunication services provided by 
WorldxChange consisted primarily of a dial-around product, which allows a customer to make a call from any phone by dialing a 10- 
10-XXX prefix, and a I+ product (1+ is when a customer can pick up the phone and directly dial a long distance number by pushing 
1-area code-phone number). Billings to these customers are primarily done through the customers’ local exchange carrier (LEC). 
Marketing of the WorldxChange products is primarily done through a MLM channel. 

, 

On March 1,200 1, I-Link became a majority-owned subsidiary of Counsel Communications, LLC (subsequently reorganized and 
renamed Counsel Communications LLC), which is a majority-owned subsidiary of Counsel Corporation, (collectively, Counsel). 
Since taking a controlling position in I-Link, Counsel has advanced approximately $62 million in cash and cash equivalents to I-Link. 
Of this amount, approximately $20 million was utilized to acquire the assets of WorldxChange and RSL, while the remaining 
approximate $42 million has been used directly in operations, principally to bring the technology to market. To date, $3 million of 
these advances have been repaid and pursuant to a debt restructuring agreement Counsel has agreed to convert $29 million of its 
existing debt to capital. 

In December 2002, I-Link through its subsidiary WorldxChmge, completed the purchase of the Enterprise and Agent business of 
RSL. (see note 6). The acquisition included the assets used by RSL to provide long distance voice and data services, including f i m e  
relay, to small and medium size businesses (“‘Direct’’ business), and the assets used to provide long distance and other voice services 
to small businesses and the consumer/residential market (“A&R” business), together with the existing customer base of the Enterprise 
and Agent business. 

In order to reduce I-Link’s need for continuous infirsion of capital and to refocus its efforts, I-Link began, over the past year, to resize 
ILC’s operations (which offered enhanced communications services) in relationship to its revenue base. This process culminated in 
the sale of the business operations of ILC to Buyer’s United in December 2002 (see note 4). Future operational results of I-Link will 
consist primarily of the operational results of WorldxChange and RSL, and the technology licensing business of I-Link. 

The Company incurred a net loss from continuing operations of $1 1,523,53 1 for the year ended December 3 1,2002, and as of 
December 3 1,2002 had a shareholder’s deficit of $60,419,423 and negative working capital of $13,739,329. The Company 
anticipates that revenues generated from its continuing operations will be sufficient during 2003 to fimd ongoing operations, maintain 
its private telecommunications network facilities and product development. 

Counsel has committed to fund, through long-term inter-company advances or equity contributions, all capital investment, working 
capital or other operational cash requirements of I-Link through April 15,2004. 

All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. 
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‘Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Revenue recognition 

Revenue is generally recognized when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, delivery has occurred or services have been 
rendered, the Company’s price to the customer is fixed or determinable, and collection of the resulting receivable is reasonably 
assured. Revenue is derived from telecommunications usage, based on minutes of use. Revenue derived from usage is recognized as 
services are provided, based on agreed upon usage rates. Revenue is recorded net of estimated customer credits and billing errors, 
which are recorded at the same time the corresponding revenue is recognized. 

In November 2002, the Company commenced a new service whereby customers pay on a usage basis to access certain intemet web 
sites. Revenue from this service is recorded net of estimated customer credits and billing errors. The amount of revenue recorded 
fiom this service was $5,159,000 in the year ended December 3 1,2002. Management’s estimate of customer credits is based 
primarily on the historical experience of their telecommunications carriers for similar services. This estimate is subject to significant 
c h g e  in the fbture based on the nature of the customers and the Company’s processes for limiting usage to customers with a higher 
risk of forgiveness. 

Revenue from the sale of software licenses is recognized when a non-cancelable agreement is in force, the license fee is fixed or 
determinable, acceptance has occurred and collectibility is reasonably assured. Maintenance and support revenues are recognized 
ratably over the term of the related agreements, When a license of I-Link technology requires continued support or involvement of I- 
Lmk, contract revenues are spread over the period of the required support or involvement. In the event that collectibility is in 
question, revenue (deferred or recognized) is recorded only to the extent of cash receipts. 

During the second quarter of 2000, the Company entered into an agreement with Red Cube International AG (“Red Cube”). The 
agreement with Red Cube consisted of a $7,500,000 licensing fee and $2,500,000 for consulting services. This $ IO,OOO,OOO aggregate 
amount was nonrefundable and was recorded as revenue ratably over a two-year period. Accordingly, $1,666,667, $5,000,000 and 
$3,333,333 were recorded as technology licensing revenue in 2002,2001 and 2000, respectively. In July 2000, the Company received 
an additional nonrefundable payment of $10,000,000. This payment was a service prepayment that was to be credited against services 
performed for andor provided to Red Cube by June 30,2001. As of June 30,2001, there remained $9,543,000 which had not been 
used by Red Cube and as the Company had no further obligation under the prepayment arrangement, the $9,543,000 was recognized 
as revenue as of June 30,200 1. 

Marketing services revenues fiom the network marketing channel primarily included revenues recognized from Independent 
Representatives (“IF&”) for promotional and presentation materials and national conference registration fees. Revenue from the sale 
of promotional and presentation materials (included in Marketing services revenue) was recognized at the time the materials were 
shipped. The portion of the sign-up fee, including a normal profit margin, relating to on-going administrative support was deferred 
and recognized over twelve months (the initial term of the IRs agreement). Marketing services revenues are presented net of 
estimated refunds on returns of network marketing materials. 

Use of estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America 
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of 
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the 
reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 

Examples of significant estimates include revenue recognition, the allowance for doubtful accounts, the ultimate recoverability of 
intangibles and other long-lived assets. 

Cash and cash equivalents 

The Company considers all highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents. The 
Company maintains its cash and cash equivalents primarily with financial institutions in Utah, California, and Pennsylvania. These 
accounts may from time to time exceed federally insured limits. The Company has not experienced any losses on such accounts. 
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Provision for doubtful accounts 
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The Cbmpany evaluates the collectibility of its receivables at least quarterly, based upon various factors including the financial 
Fondition and payment history of major customers, and overall review of collections experience on other accounts and economic 
factors or events expected to affect the Company’s future collections experience. 

Furniture, fmtures, equipment and software 

Furniture, fixtures, equipment and software are stated at cost. Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method over the 
following estimated usehl lives: 

Telecommunications network equipment 
Furniture, fixtures and office equipment 
S o h a r e  

3-5 years 
3-10 years 

3 years 

Long-lived assets that are to be disposed of by sale are measured at the lower of book value or estimated net realizable value less costs 
to sell. 

Betterments and renewals that extend the life of the assets are capitalized. Other repairs and maintenance charges are expensed as 
incurred. The cost and related accumulated depreciation applicable to assets retired are removed from the accounts and the gain or 
loss on disposition is recognized in operations. The Company regularly evaluates whether events or circumstances have occurred that 
indicate the carrying value of its furaiture, fixtures, equipment and software may not be recoverable. When factors indicate the asset 
may not be recoverable, the Company compares the related undiscounted f h r e  net cash flows to the carrying value of the asset to 
determine if impairment exists. If the expected future net cash flows are less than the carrying value, impairment is recognized based 
on the fair value of the asset. 

Intangible assets 

Effective January 1,2002, the Company accounts for intangible assets in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting 
Standards (“SFAS”) No. 141, “Business Combinations” (“SFAS 141”) and SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” 
(“SFAS 142”). The adoption of SFAS 141 and 142 did not impact the results of operations or financial condition of the Company. 
All business combinations are accounted for using the purchase method and goodwill and intangible assets with indefdte useful lives 
are not amortized, but are tested for impairment at least annually. 

The Company regularly evaluates whether events or circumstances have occurred that indicate the carrying value of its intangible 
assets may not be recoverable. When factors indicate the asset may not be recoverable, the Company compares the related 
undiscounted future net cash flows to the carrying value of the asset to determine if impairment exists. If the expected future net cash 
flows are less than carrying value, impairment is recognized based on the fair value of the asset. Amortization of intangible assets is 

~ calculated using the straight-line method over the following periods: 

Customer contracts and relationships 
Agent relationships 
Agent contracts 

60 months 
36 months 
12 months 

As discussed in Note 7, the Company recorded an $8,040,054 impairment charge in 2001, representing the remaining balance of the 
goodwill associated with the WebToTel acquisition. 

Advertising costs 

Advertising production costs are expensed the first time the advertisement is run. Media (TV and print) placement costs are expensed 
in the month the advertising appears. 
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Research and development costs 

The Company expenses internal research and development costs, which primarily consist of salaries. 
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,Computer software costs 

The Company capitalizes qualified costs associated with developing computer software for internal use. Such costs are amortized 
over the expected useful life, usually three years. 

Concentrations of credit risk 

The Company’s retail telecommunications subscribers are primarily residential and small business subscribers in the United States. 
The Company’s customers are generally concentrated in the areas of highest population in the United States, more specifically 
California, Florida, New York, Texas and Illinois. The Company’s wholesale customers are primarily based in Utah. No single 
customer accounted for over 10% of the revenues in 2002. The only customer that accounted €or over 10% of the revenues for the 
year 200 1 was Red Cube, which accounted for approximately 18% of revenues. In 2000, a single wholesale customer, Big Planet, 
accounted for approximately 36% of revenues (including discontinued operations revenues) and Red Cube accounted for 
approximately 1 1 % of revenues (including discontinued operations revenues). 

Concentration of third party service providers 

WorldxChange utilizes the services of certain Local Exchange Carriers (“LECs”) to bill and collect from customers. Approximately 
93% and 94% of revenues in the year ended December 3 1,2002 and the period fkom June 5,2001 (inception) to December 3 1,2001 
were derived fiom customers billed to LECs. If the LECs were to refuse to provide such services in the future, the Company would be 
required to significantly enhance its billing and collection capabilities in a short amount of time and its collection experience could be 
adversely affected during this transition period. 

The Company depends on certain large telecommunications carriers to provide network services for significant portions of the 
Company’s telecommunications traffic. If these carriers were to refbse to provide such services in the future, the Company’s ability to 
provide services to its customers would be adversely affected and the Company might not be able to obtain similar services from 
altemative carriers on a timely basis. 

Income taxes 

The Company records deferred taxes in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) 109, “Accounting for 
Income Taxes.” The statement requires recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities for temporary differences between the tax 
bases of assets and liabilities and the amounts at which they are canied in the fmancial statements, based upon the enacted tax rates in 
effect for the year in which the differences are expected to reverse. A valuation allowance is established when necessary to reduce 
deferred tax assets to the amount expected to be realized. 

Stock-based compensation 

At December 3 1,2002, the Company has five stock-based employee compensation plans, which are described more fully in Note 16. 
The Company accounts for those plans under the recognition and measurement principles of Accounting Principles Board Opinion 
No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees” (‘‘APE 25”), and related Interpretations. No stock-based employee 
compensation cost is reflected in net income, as all options granted under those plans had an exercise price equal to the market value 
of the underlying common stock on the date of grant. The following table illustrates the effect on net income (loss) and earnings (loss) 
per share if the Company had applied the fair value method for the recognition and measurement provisions of SFAS Statement No. 
1 23 , “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation”, to its stock-based employee compensation. 
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Net loss as reported $ 
Deduct: 
Total compensation cost determined under 
fair value based method for all awards, net of 
-0- tax 
Pro forma net loss $ 
Earning (loss) per share 
Basic and diluted - as reported $ 
Basic and diluted - pro forma $ 

Year ended 
Dee. 31,2002 

(24,03 1,905) 

(1,300,371) 

(25’3 3 2,276) 

(0.2 1 ) 
(0.22) 

Year ended 
Dec. 31,2001 

$ (44,496,625) $ 

(2,933,069) 

$ (47,429,694) $ 

$ (0.30) $ 
$ (0.32) $ 
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Year ended 
Dec. 31,2000 

(25,752,178) 

(73  10,03 1 ) 

(3 3,262,209) 

(1 -03) 
(1.25) 
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Segment reporting 

The Company reports its segment information based upon the internal organization that is used by management for making operating 
decisions and assessing performance. In late 2002, I-Link was reorganized into three operating segments. Acceris Communications 
Partners (“Acceris Partners”), Acceris Communications Solutions (“Acceris Solutions”) and Acceris Technologies (“Acceris 
Technologies”). See note 16 for a more detailed discussion of the segments. 

Reclassifications 

Certain balances in the December 3 1,2001 and 2000 fmancial statements have been recIassified to conform to current year 
presentation. These changes had no effect on previously reported net loss, total assets, liabilities or stockholders’ deficit. 

Recent accounting pronouncements 

On August 15,2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued SFAS No. 143, “Accounting for Asset Retirement 
Obligations” (“SFAS 143”). SFAS 143 establishes accounting standards for the recognition and measurement of an asset retirement 
obligation and its associated asset retirement cost. SFAS 143 is effective January 1,2003 and is not expected to have a material 
impact on the Company’s results of operations or financial condition. 

In October 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets” (“SFAS 144,’). 
SFAS 144 requires that long-lived assets that are to be disposed of by sale be measured at the lower of book value or fair value less 
costs to sell. All provisions of SFAS 144 were adopted on January 1,2002 and did have an impact on the Company’s results of 
operations and fmancial position (see note 4). 

In April 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 145, “Recission of FAS Nos. 4,44 and 64, Amendment of FAS 13 and Technical 
Corrections as of April 2002”, which rescinds FAS Nos. 4,44 and 64 and amends other existing authoritative pronouncements to 
make various technical corrections, clarify meaning, or describe their applicability under changed conditions. SFAS 145 is effective 
for fiscal years beginning after May 15,2002 and wil1 require the modification of the Company’s prior financial statements to 
reclassify the 200 1 gain on debt extinguishment from extraordinary to income from continuing operations. 

In June 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No, 146 “Acco~mting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities” (“SFAS 146”). 
SFAS 146 requires the recognition of a liability for costs associated with an exit or disposal activity when incurred. SFAS 146 also 
establishes that the liability should initially be measured and recorded at fair value. The provisions of SFAS 146 will be effective for 
any exit and disposal activities initiated after December 3 1 , 2002 and is not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s 
results of operations or fmancial condition. 

In December 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation - Transition and Disclosure - an 
amendment of FASB Statement No. 123 (“SFAS 148”). SFAS 148, which is effective for years ending after December 15,2002, 
provides alternative methods for a voluntary change to the fair value based method of accounting for 
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stock-based employee compensation and requires prominent disclosure about the method of accounting for stock-based employee 
compensation and the effect of the method used on reported results. The Company expects to continue following the provisions of 
AJ?B 25 for its stock-based compensation plans. 

In November 2002, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation Number, or FTN, 45, “Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure 
Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others (an interpretation of SFAS No. 5,57, and 107 
and rescission of FIN 34)”’ FIN 45 clarifies the requirements of SFAS No. 5, “Accounting for Contingencies,” relating to a 
guarantor’s accounting for, and disclosure of, the issuance of certain types of guarantees. The adoption of FIN 45 is not expected to 
have a significant effect on the Company’s results of operations or financial condition. 

On January 17,2003, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 46, “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities - an Interpretation 
of ARB No. 51” (“FIN 44”). FIN 46 clarifies the application of Accounting Research Bulletin No. 5 1, Consolidated Financial 
Statements, to certain entities in which equity investors do not have the characteristics of a controlling fmancial interest or do not 
have sufficient equity at risk for the entity to fmance its activities without additional subordinated fmancial support from other parties. 
FIN 46 is effective for the Company after January 3 1,2003 and is not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s results of 
operations or financial condition. - 

0 2003. EDGAR Online, Inc. 



Note 3 -  Net Loss per Share 

Basic earnings per share is computed based on the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period. 
Options, warrants, convertible preferred stock and convertible debt are included in the calculation of diluted earnings per share, except 
when their effect would be anti-dilutive. As the Company had a net loss from continuing operations for 2002,2001 and 2000, basic 
and diluted loss per share are the same. 

The basic and diluted net loss per common share for the year ending December 3 1,2001 includes a net increase to retained earnings of 
$30,292,3 19 attributable to the redemption on March 1,2001 of the Class M redeemable preferred stock and all Class N preferred 
stock owned by Winter Harbor, including redemption of the beneficial conversion feature related to such preferred stock. In addition, 
there was a charge to retained earnings in 2001 of $9,779,846 representing a contingent beneficial conversion feature on the Class N 
preferred stock resulting from the reset of the conversion price. The basic and diluted net loss per common share in 2001 also reflects 
a $5,000,000 charge to retained earnings for the beneficial conversion feature related to the reissuance on March 1,200 1 of the Class 
M and Class N preferred stock to Counsel. The net effect of these transactions was a benefit included in the net loss per common 
share of $15,512,473 for the year ended December 31,2001. 

On September 6,2002, all outstanding shares of the Company’s Class C preferred stock automatically converted into shares of 
common stock according to the terms of the designation of the Class C preferred stock. Accordingly, 9,249 shares of Class C 
preferred stock were converted into 3,415,015 shares of common stock. In addition to the conversion of the preferred stock, the 
Company was obligated to pay dividends declared but unpaid and other dividends not paid on the preferred stock through the 
conversion date. Accordingly, dividends in the amount of $630,3 13 were satisfied through the issuance of 534,016 shares of common 
stock. 

During 2000, holders of the Series F redeemable preferred stock converted 248 of those preferred shares. Accordingly, they were paid 
stock dividends of 87,477 shares of common stock on the converted shares. 
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Potentia1 c o m o n  shares that were not included in the computation of diluted EPS because they would have been anti-dilutive are as 
follows as of December 3 1 : 

2002 2001 

Assumed conversion of Series C preferred stock - - 
Assumed conversion of Series M convertible preferred stock - - 
Assumed conversion of Series N preferred stock 6 15,200 6 15,200 
Assumed conversion of convertible debt 125,440,609 22,852,506 
Assumed exercise of warrants issued on conversion of convertible debt 
Assumed exercise of options and warrants to purchase shares of common stock 25,169,274 2 8,03 3,464 

15 1,225,083 5 1,50 1,170 

- - 

zoo0 

374,959 
8,175,676 

10,260,8 10 
7,539,830 
5,000,000 

45,354,992 
76,706,267 

The above table excludes the potential dilutive effect of the Amended Debt Restructuring Agreement (see note 12). Should that 
Agreement be approved by the shareholders at its annual meeting in 2003, additional shares (as of December 3 1,2002) of common 
stock of approximately 25,056,000 would be issued (which are not included in the above table). 

Note 4 - Discontinued Operations 

On December 6,2002, the Company entered into an agreement to sell substantially all ofthe assets and customer base of I-Link 
Communications Inc. (“ILC”), a wholly owned subsidiary of I-Link to Buyer’s United. The sale includes the physical assets required 
to operate I-Link’s nationwide network using its patented VoIP technology (constituting the core business of ILC) and a license in 
perpetuity to use I-Link’s proprietary software platfonn. The sale is anticipated to close in the second quarter of 2003. The sale price 
consists of 300,000 shares of Series B convertible preferred stock (8% dividend) of Buyers United, subject to adjustment in certain 
circumstances, of which 75,000 are subject to an earn-out provision (contingent consideration) based on future events related to ILC’s 
single largest customer. The earn-out takes place over a fourteen-month period beginning 3 a . n ~  2003, on a monthly basis. The 
Company will recognize the value of the earn-out shares when and if earned. 

As the transaction had not closed as of December 3 1,2002, the assets to be sold have been reclassified as assets held for sale. The 
book value of the assets to be sold as of December 3 1,2002 was $2,93633 1. The fair value of the 225,000 shares (non-contingent 
consideration to be received) of Buyer’s United convertible preferred stock was determined to be $1,3 50,000 as of December 3 1, 
2002, based on the value of the underlying common stock of Buyer’s United and adjusted for other qualitative issues such as the 
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common stock underlying the preferred stock would be restricted by Rule 144 and the common stock is thinly traded. As the value of 
@e consideration to be received is less than the book value of the assets sold, I-Link recorded an impairment charge of $1,58433 1 
which has been included in the loss from discontinued operations for 2002. In prior years, the results of operations related to ILC had 
been reported as a part of our Telecommunications segment which segment has been discontinued as of December 3 1 , 2002. As the 
contingent consideration is received, it will be recorded as a modification to the impairment loss or as a gain on the sale of ILC. 

Net assets of the discontinued operations are as follows: 

Furniture, fixtures equipment and software 
Intangible assets 
Impairment charge 
Net assets - discontinued operations 

$ 2,666,531 
270,000 

$ 1,350,000 
(1,586,53 1 ) 

Revenues of the discontinued operation were $7,806,000, $26,624,000 and $20,567,000 in 2002,200 1 and 2000, respectively. 
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Note 5 - Composition of Certain Financial Statements Captions 

Furniture, fixtures, equipment and software consisted of the following at December 3 1 : 

Telecommunications network equipment 
Furniture, fixtures and office equipment 
Building /leasehold improvements 
S o h a r e  and information systems 

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization 

2002 

$ 14,361,276 $ 
2,938,729 

2 18,727 
296,209 

17,8 14,94 1 
(6,335,830) 

$ 11,479,111 $ 

2001 

27,040,503 
5,680,912 
1,200,000 
1,848,201 

35,769,616 
(14,745,920) 
2 1,023,696 

Included in telecommunications network equipment are $9,78 1,469 and $10,137,86 1 in assets acquired under capital leases at 
December 3 1 , 2002 and 200 1 , respectively. Accumulated amortization on these leased assets was $3,930,306 and $1,674,967 at 
December 3 1,2002 and 200 I, respectively. 

Accrued liabilities consisted of the following at December 3 1 : 

Telecommunications and related costs 
Universal Service fund fees 
Other 

2002 2081 

$ 6,866,396 $ 4,542,65 1 
3,123,965 2,352,772 
9,421,585 5,3 74,808 

$ 19,4 1 1,946 $ 12,270,23 1 

Note 6 - Acquisition of Subsidiaries 

Acquisition of WebToTel 

On April 17,200 1, I-Link completed its acquisition of WebToTel and its subsidiary Nexbell, for 17,454,3 3 3 shares of I-Link common 
stock issued to Counsel, the owner of WebToTel. The acquisition of I-Link and WebToTel has been accounted for similar to a 
pooling-of-interests using Counsel’s book values of the WebToTel assets and liabilities, effective March 1 , 2001, the earliest date that 
all three entities were under common control of Counsel. 

In December 2001 and subsequent to the time the Company recorded the impairment of goodwill charge (see note 7) related to 
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Nexbell, the Company sold Nexbell to an unrelated party. The sale was a sale of Nexbell’s common stock and accordingly the assets 
F d  liabilities of Nexbell were assumed by the purchaser with no further financial obligation to I-Link. At the time of the sale, the 
liabilities exceeded the assets of Nexbell and accordingly a gain on sale of subsidiary in the amount of $588,943 (the amount by which 
the liabilities of Nexbell exceeded the assets) was recorded. 

Purchase of certain WorldxChange Communications, Inc. assets and liabilities 

On June 4,2001, I-Link Incorporated, through its wholly-owned subsidiary WorldxChange, purchased certain assets and assumed 
certain liabilities of WorldxChange Communications, Inc. (Debtor) from a bankruptcy proceeding. The purchased assets included ail 
of the assets employed in the Debtor’s operations in the United States and consisted of the Debtor’s equipment, inventory, retail long 
distance business, accounts receivable, deposits, licenses, permits, authorizations, soRware programs and related technology. On June 
4,2001, the Debtor transferred the purchased assets to WorldxChange in exchange for $13,000,000. 

To fund the acquisition of the assets and provide working capital, Counsel agreed to provide a collateralized loan to I-Link in the 
aggregate amount of $15,000,000 (of which $13,000,000 was used for the purchase) as more fully described in Note 8. 
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The purchase price was allocated to the fair values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of June 4,2001 as follows: 

Accounts receivable and other current assets $ 12,386,687 
Furniture, fixtures, equipment and other long term assets 4,580,285 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (2,M 1,753) 
Obligations under capital leases (1,224,2 19) 
Net cash paid $ 13,681,000 

Also, in connection with the acquisition, WorldxChange agreed to pay $727,000 to a supplier for services rendered prior to the 
acquisition to continue services with that vendor. The Company also incurred $68 1,000 of transaction costs related to the purchase. 

In the Company’s amended filing for the quarter ended September 30,2002, the Company has recorded corrections of errors related to 
purchase accounting for the acquisition of WorldxChange. The impact of the errors is primarily a reclassification of non current assets 
between furniture, fixtures and equipment and deposits recorded as other long term assets. The corrections did not modi@ the total 
purchase price paid (see note 18 for additional discussion). 

Purchase of the Enterprise and Agent business of RSL Com U.S.A. Inc . 
, On December 10,2002, I-Link through its subsidiary WorldxChange, completed the purchase of the Enterprise and Agent business of 
RSL Com U.S.A. h c  (“RSL”). The purchase of RSL was to advance the Company’s commercial agent business, to increase network 
utilization and to provide an entry into the management of information technology services for enterprise clients. WorldxChange paid 
a purchase price of $7,500,000 in cash and assumed a non-interest be&g note for $1,000,000 which matures on March 3 1,2004, 
subject to certain closing balance sheet adjustments, and has agreed to pay up to an additional $2,000,000 in consideration due on 
March 3 1,2004, which is contingent upon the achievement of certain revenue levels by the Direct business for the year 2003. The 
actual amount due will be prorated based upon 2003 direct business revenues between $25,000,000 ($0 amount payable) to 
835,000,000 ($2,000,000 payable). The cash element of the purchase price of $7,500,000 was fmanced by a loan fiom I-Link to 
WorldxChange that is due March 1,2004. I-Link’s loan to WorldxChange was financed by a convertible loan f?om a wholly owned 
subsidiary of Counsel Corporation (I-Link’s single largest stockholder) to I-Link. The loan fiom Counsel Corporation’s subsidiary is 
convertible into common stock of I-Link at the exchange rate of $0.084 per share, whichkate represents the average closing price of I- 
Link’s common stock for the twenty trading days preceding December 1 O, 2002. 

Any amount of the $2,000,000 contingent payable which is paid in the fbture will result in a future adjustment to the purchase price. 

The preliminary allocation of fair values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of December 10,2002 are as follows: 

Accounts receivable and other current assets 
Furniture, furtures, and equipment * 

Intangible assets 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 
Net cash paid 

$ 6,527,108 
3,lO 1,966 
2,623,507 

(2,815~3 1) 
$ 9,437,450 
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Components of the intangible assets are as follows: 

Amount Amortization Period 

Intangible assets subject to amortization: 
Customer contracts and relationships 
Agent relationships 
Agent contracts 

$ 1,786,000 60 months 
587,507 36 months 
250,000 12 months 

$ 2,623,507 
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Unaudited pro forma results o f  operations for the years ended December 3 1,2002 and 2001 as if the acquisitions had been completed 
as of the beginning of each period presented are shown below. The pro forma results for 2002 include the results of operations for 
RSL for the period from January 1,2002 to December 10,2002. The pro forma results for 2001 include the historical result of 
operations of WorldxChange for the twelve months ended September 30,2001 and RSL for the year ended December 3 1,2001. The 
pro forma results include estimates and assumptions which management believes are reasonable. However, pro forma results do not 
include any anticipated cost savings or other effects of the planned integration of the operatiom, and are not necessarily indicative of 
the results which would have occurred if the business combinations had occurred on the dates indicated, or which may result in the 
future. 

For the Year Ended 

December 31, December 31, 
2062 2001 

Revenues $ 148,496,000 $ 200,142,000 
Net loss fiom continuing operations $4 (1 5,937,000) $ (85,799,000) 
Net loss $ (28,446,000) $ (84,706,000) 
Loss per share from continuing operations $ (0.14) $ (0.71) 
Loss per share $ (0.24) $ (0.70) 

Note 7 - Intangible Assets 

Amortization of intangibles from WebToTel acquisition 

I-Link's wholly owned subsidiary WebToTel acquired Nexbell on February 22,2001 and accounted for that acquisition using the 
purchase method of accounting. As part of that acquisition, WebToTel recorded $9,136,427 of goodwill which was included in our 
Telecommunications segment. 

The Company continuously reviews the products it offers and their contribution to the Company and its overall strategy. These 
reviews resulted in a determination that it was not economically justified to continue to maintain a portion of the Company's network 
related to leased lines for local access origination and Nexbell's METS product. In the fourth quarter of 200 1, the Company approved 
a plan to discontinue offering the hETS product. With this determination, the Company performed an impairment analysis of the 
goodwill recorded in connection with the acquisition of WebToTel and its subsidiary Nexbell. The analysis was performed in 
response to projected losses on the METS product acquired in the WebToTel acquisition. As a result of this review, an $8,040,054 
impairment charge, representing the remaining balance of the goodwill, was recorded in September 2001. This charge is included in 
the loss for discontinued operations. 

Amortization of intangibles from RSL acquisition 

I-Link's wholly owned subsidiary, WorldxChange acquired the Enterprise and Agent Business of RSL on December 10,2002 and 
accounted for that acquisition using the purchase method of accounting. As part of that acquisition, the Company recorded 
$2,623,507 of intangible assets (see note 6), of which $1,786,000 and $837,507 are part of the Acceris Solutions and Acceris Partners 
segments, respectively, as of December 3 1,2002. 
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,Other intangible assets 

Intangible assets consisted of the following at December 3 1 : 

2002 z001 

Intanable assets subject to amortization: 
Acquired technology 
Customer contracts and relationships 
Agent relationships 
Agent contracts 
Accumulated amortization 
Net intangible asset 
Intangible assets not subject to amortization: 
Goodwill 
Other intangible assets 

Total intangible assets 

$ 8,875,000 $ 
1,786,000 

587,507 
250,000 

(8,924,584) 
2,573,923 

173,339 
0 

173,339 
$ 2,747,262 $ 

8,875,000 
- 

(7,987,500) 
887,500 

173,339 
270,000 
443,3 3 9 

1,330,839 

Aggregate amortization expense of intangibles for the year ended December 3 1 , 2002 and 2001 was $937,085 and $3,287,323, 
respectively. Anticipated amortization expense for intangible assets for the next five years are .as follows: 

2003 $ 1,045,979 
2004 472,585 
2005 361,124 
2006 357,200 
2007 337,035 

The following represents what the net loss for the years ended December 3 1,2001 and 2000 would have been exclusive of 
amortization expense recognized in that period related to goodwill and intangible assets that are no longer being amortized. 

2001 2000 

Reported net loss $ (44,496,625) $ (25,752,178) 
Add back: goodwill amortization 1,456,655 360,282 
Add back: amortization of other intangible assets not subject to 54,000 
amortization 

Adjusted net loss $ (44,082,343) !$ (25,337,896) 

54,000 

Less adjustment to goodwill impairment (1,096,373) - 

The following represents what the net loss per share applicable to common stock for the years ended December 3 1,2001 and 2000 
would have been exclusive of amortization expense recognized in that period related to goodwill and intangible assets that are no 
longer being amortized. 

Net loss per share 
Goodwill amortization 
Other intangibles amortization 
Adjustment to goodwill impairment 
Adjusted net loss per share 

2001 2000 

$ (0.30) $ (1.03) 
0.02 0.02 
0.00 0.00 

(0.01 ) - 
$ (0.29) $ (1.01) 
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Note 8 - Debt 

Debt, the carrying value of which approximates market, consists of the following at December 3 1 : 

Note payable to a service provider, interest at 7.0%, due on demand 
Building mortgage payable to a bank, interest at 9.84%, payable in 
monthly installments of $10,028 
Note payable to a network service provider, interest at lo%, payable in 
monthly installments of $22,500 
Revolving credit facility 
Note payable, Winter Harbor, interest at prime plus 9% 
Note payable, RSL estate, 10% imputed interest, due March 3 1,2004 
Note payable, Counsel Corporation, interest at 9%, due June 30,2004 
Note payable, Counsel Corporation, interest at lo%, due June 6,2002, 
(to be converted into common stock) 
Note payable, Counsel Corporation, interest at 1 O%, due June 3 0,2004 
Note Payable, Counsel Corporation, interest at lo%, due June 30,2004 

$ 

Less current portion 
Long-term debt, less current portion 

2002 

746,625 !! 

393,86 1 

9,086,05 1 
1,999,Z 15 

880,645 
13,27 1,247 
29,281,984 

9,350,000 
7,436,389 

72,446,O 17 
(12,073,374) 
60,372,643 $ 

2001 

746,625 
797,329 

6 12,454 

6,996,603 
1,999,2 15 

11,5273 12 
17,540,140 

- 

1 136 1,023 

51,780,901 
(39,106,025) 
12,674,876 

- 

Maturities of long-term obligations during 2003 and 2004 are $12,073,374 and $3 1,090,659 respectively. These maturities exclude 
the June 6,2002 loan o f  $29,281,247 as it will be satisfied by the issuance of common stock (see note 12). 

In December 200 1, WorldxChange entered into a three-year loan and security agreement with a fmancial institution, which consists of 
an accounts receivable based revolving credit facility. The facility allows WorldxChange to borrow up to a m a x i "  of $20 million 
subject to certain restrictions and borrowing base limitations. The m a x i "  available borrowing base is determined as a specific 
percentage of eligible accounts receivable. The balance outstanding is reduced by the application of payments received on collection 
of accounts receivable. Outstanding balances under the loan bear interest at the prime rate plus 1.75% with a minimurn interest rate of 
6% (rate averaged 6% in 2002 and 2001 due to the floor) and are collateralized by substantially a11 the assets of the WorldxChange. 
At December 3 1,2002, $2,634,000 remains available under the revolving credit facility based on borrowing base limitations. 
Additionally, the loan contains certain financial covenants related to WorldxChmge for fiscal 2003 and 2004. In conjunction with 
executing the credit facility, an Intercreditor Agreement was entered into between WorldxChange and Counsel whereby the 
promissory note between WorldxChange and Counsel due June 2004 was subordinated to the credit facility. Further, the cumulative 
principal repayments of the promissory note are not to exceed $1 1,500,000 during the term of the facility. An intercreditor agreement 
prohibits repayment under the Counsel note except under the achievement of specific financial results at WorldxChange. In 2002, 
such financial results were achieved and $3,000,000 was repaid to Counsel. 

As of September 30,2001, I-Link was in default on an equipment lease. This lease was secured by a letter of credit issued by an 
affiliate of Winter Harbor LLC, a former majority shareholder of I-Link. On October 11 , 2001, the leasing company drew against the 
letter of credit in the amount of $1,999,2 15. As  of December 3 1,2002 and 200 1, I-Link has reflected the principal and interest related 
to this draw on the letter of credit in its consolidated financial statements. On October 26,2001, I-Link received a demand for 
payment from Winter Harbor LLC for the amount of the draw on the letter of credit and interest 
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(at prime plus 9%) since October 1 1,2001. The Company is evaluating Winter Harbor's demand in light of the various agreements 
entered into between the Company, Counsel Communications LLC and Winter Harbor. While the Company believes that it will not 
be required to pay cash to Winter Harbor of the amount claimed, there can be no assurance as to the ultimate outcome of this matter. 

The Company borrowed $12,000,000 under a loan agreement with Counsel Communications during 200l(see note 12). Interest on 
the note (9% per annum) is automatically added to principal at the end of each calendar quarter. The note was due March 1,2004, but 
in March 2003, the due date was extended to June 30,2004. The note is convertible into I-Link's common stock at a conversion rate 
of $.56 per share, which conversion price was reset to $0.39 upon issuance of the $7,500,000 convertible loan to Counsel (discussed 
below ) pursuant to automatic reset provisions of the original loan agreement. At any time the Company made a draw on the loan 
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agreement and the market price of the Company’s common stock was’higher than the conversion rate, a debt discount was recorded 
equal to this beneficial conversion feature. A debt discount of $1,092,143 was recorded on the borrowings of $12,000,000. This 
discount is being accreted to interest expense over the term (three years) of the loan agreement. 

On June 6,200 1, I-Link and Counsel entered into a Loan and Security Agreement (Loan Agreement). Any monies advanced to I-Link 
between June 6,2001 and April 15,2002, (in the amount not to exceed $10,000,000) will be governed by the Loan Agreement. In 
connection with the Loan Agreement, I-Link executed a note payable to Counsel, due June 6,2002. The loan is secured by all of the 
assets of I-Link. Outstanding balances (including any accrued and unpaid interest of $2,888,3 18 as of December 3 1,2002) under the 
loan bear interest at 10% per annm which interest is payable quarterly in arrears following the last business day of each quarter. 
However, Counsel may (and has elected to do so through December 3 1,2002) at its sole election allow interest to accrue and become 
payable at the end of the term. This Loan Agreement was amended on June 27,2002.mder which the borrowing amount was 
increased to $24,306,866. The amended agreement also allowed for additional advances as needed to I-Link, which advances totaled 
$2,086,800 through December 3 1,2002 (See more detailed discussion of the Amended Agreement in Footnote 12). Counsel has 
indicated their intent to convert this note into common stock as allowed for in the Amended Agreement and as Counsel controls 
sufficient shares to vote as required to bring to pass the authority to effect the conversion, the mounts due under this note have been 
classified as debt to be converted to common stock in the long-term liability section of the balance sheet as of December 3 1,2002. 

On June 4,2001, WorldxChange entered into a $15,000,000 loan and security agreement and promissory note with Counsel (as the 
lender) and I-Link Incorporated (as the guarantor). The loan is collateralized by all assets of WorldxChange. The loan is also 
guaranteed by I-Link and collateralized by the assets of I-Link. Outstanding balances under the loan bear interest at 10% per annum. 
The proceeds of the loan were used to purchase and operate certain of the business assets purchased under the court-supervised sale in 
the bankruptcy proceeding of World Access, Inc. The proceeds were also utilized to pay fees and expenses related to such asset 
acquisition and operation and pay certain assumed liabilities related to the transaction. In 2002 and 200 1, WorldxChange repaid 
$3,000,000 and $2,500,000 of the principal amount outstanding under the promissory note and as of December 3 1,2002, the 
outstanding balance was $9,350,000, of which $6,000,000 is permitted to be repaid under certain conditions, during the three-year 
term of the revolving credit facility discussed above. The promissory note matured in June 2002, however the loan has been 
subordinated to the revolving credit facility. In March 2003, Counsel extended the due date of the note to June 30,2004 

’ 

In connection with the $1 5,000,000 loan, I-Link issued to Counsel a warrant to purchase 15,000,000 shares of common stock of I-Link 
at an exercise price of $0.60 per share. The warrants expire on June 4,2003. The Company recorded $2,170,059 in 2001 as a 
discount against the $15,000,000 loan from Counsel representing the relative fair value attributed to the warrant. The value of the 
warrants was calculated using the Black Scholes Model and is being amortized over the original one-year term of the loan. As of 
December 3 1,2002, the debt discount was fully amortized. 

In connection with the acquisition of RSL in December 2002, I-Link entered into a $7,500,000 note payable to Counsel Corporation 
which is convertible into common stock of &Link at a conversion rate of $0.08375 per share. The note was due March 1,2004, but in 
March 2003, the due date was extended to June 30,2004. The Company recorded $1 1 1,874 as a discount against the $7,500,000 loan 
representing a beneficial conversion feature as the conversion price was less than the market price of I-Link’s common stock at the 
date of the note. The beneficial conversion feature is being amortized to interest expense over the life of the note. As of December 3 1, 
2002, the unamortized discount was $104,86 1. 
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Note 9 - Commitments 

Agreements classified as operating leases have terms ranging from one to six years. The Company’s rentaI expense for operating 
leases was approximately $4,547,000, $13,547,000, and $6,946,000 for 2002,2001 and 2000, respectively. 

Future minirnUm rental payments required under non-cancelable capital and operating leases with initial or remaining terms in excess 
of one year consist of the following at December 3 1,2002: 

Year ending December 3 1 : 
2003 
2004 
2005 
2006 
2007 
Total minimum payments 
Less amount representing interest 

Capital 
Leases 

$ 3,036,000 $ 
3,015,000 
1,5 14,000 

7,565,000 $ 
(705,000) 
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2,452,000 
2,094,000 
1,7 18,000 
959,000 
346,000 

7,569,000 



Present value of net lease payments 6,860,000 
Less current portion (2,7 14,000) 
Long-term obligations under capital leases $ 4,146,000 

Subsequent to year-end, the Company was released from certain operating leases in the amounts of $324,000, $168,000 and $84,000 
in 2003,2004 and 2005, respectively, subject to the closing of the Buyer’s United transaction. 

I-Link’s subsidiaries have various agreements with national carriers to lease local access spans and to purchase carrier services. The 
agreements include mini” usage commitments with termination penalties up to 100% of the remaining commitment. Minimum 
usage commitments are as follows: 

Year ending December 31 

2003 $ 14,184,000 
2004 923,000 

Note 10 - Extraordinary Gain on Extinguishment of Debt 

During the third quarter of 2001, Nexbell was in default on two leases and at the time of settlement, Nexbell was liable for 
$1,272,8 18. The debt was settled during the fourth quarter of 2001 for a one-time payment of $1 80,000 and accordingly the Company 
recorded an extraordinary gain in the amount of $1,092,818. 

Note 11 - Potential Acquisitions 

On July 22,2002, the Company agreed to purchase certain assets and related liabilities of Transpoint Communications, LLC 
(“Transpoiat”) and Local Telecom Holdings, LLC (“Local Telecom”), completion of which is pending subject to regulatory 
approvals. The total purchase price shall not exceed $1,850,000, $250,000 of which is fixed and the remainder of which is variable 
depending on revenues achieved by the acquired businesses in June 2003. At the same time, the Company and Local Telecom entered 
into a management agreement, pursuant to which the Company provides certain management services to Local Telecom for a monthly 
fee of $15,000, and a wholesale telecommunications services agreement, pursuant to which the Company provides network services to 
Local Telecom. The Company recorded revenues fiom Local Telecom for management and wholesale telecommunications services 
totaling $160,000 during the year ended December 3 1,2002. As part of the management agreement, the Company collected customer 
accounts on behalf of Local Telecom and paid certain costs and expenses of Local Telecom fiom the date of the agreement through 
December 3 1,2002. At December 3 1,2002, the Company had a receivable from Local Telecom of $1,4 12,000 that represented 
uncollected revenues fiom Local Telecom plus costs and expenses paid for Local Telecom, less collections on accounts receivable of 
Local Telecom. This receivable will be applied against the purchase price and, as a result, has been recorded as a long-term asset. 
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Note 12 - Income Taxes 

The Company recognized no income tax benefit from its losses in 2002,2001 and 2000. The reported benefit from income taxes 
varies from the amount that would be provided by applying the statutory U.S. Federal income tax rate to the loss from continuing 
operations before taxes for the following reasons: 

Expected federal statutory tax benefit $ 
Increase (reduction) in taxes resulting from: 
State income taxes 
Foreign loss not subject to domestic tax 
Non-deductible interest on certain notes 
Exercise of stock options issued for services 
Non-deductible goodwill 
Change in valuation allowance attributable to 
continuing operations 
Other 

2002 ZOO1 2000 

(3,918,001) $ (8,831,451) $ (5,151,951) 

(3 79,43 6 1 (525’44 1 ) (425,116) 
1,07 1 23 3,999 1,584,3 13 
- 85,876 - 

- (1,277,402) 
- 3,096,030 - 
- 

4,2 88,4 5 7 7,680,023 6,142,365 

7,909 (1,739,036) (872,209 } 
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- $  - $  

The change in the valuation allowance, including discontinued operations, was $8,952,136, $14,579,186 and $10,090,027 for the years 
ended 2002,2001 and 2000 respectively. 

At December 3 1,2002, the Company had total net operating loss carryforwar& for federal income tax purposes of approximately 
$136,000,000. These net operating loss canyforwards expire between 2006 and 2022. The Company’s utilization of approximately 
$79,000,000 of the total net operating loss carryforward against future taxable income will be subject to an annual limitation of 
approximately $2,246,000 per year because of the change in ownership that occurred in 200 1, as required by Internal Revenue Code 
Section 382. Due to the expiration of the net operating loss carryforwards, the Company may only be able to utilize approximately 
$45,000,000 of the total $79,000,000 net operating loss carryforward that is subject to the m u a l  limitation under Internal Revenue 
Code Section 382. The Company also has net operating losses for state income tax purposes. Certain entities are subject to state 
income tax in multiple jurisdictions. Available state tax loss canyforwards differ by jurisdiction. 

The components of the deferred tax asset and liability of continuing and discontinued operations as of December 3 1,2002 and 200 1 
are as follows: 

Deferred tax assets: 
Tax net operating loss carryforwards 
Acquired in-process research and development and intangible 
assets 
Amortization of deferred compensation on stock options 
Reserve for loss on disposal of discontinued operations 
Reserve for accounts receivable and inventory valuation 
Accrued officers wages 
Accrued vacation 
Accrued interest 
Unearned revenue 
Other 
Depreciation and amortization 
Valuation allowance 
Total deferred tax asset 
Deferred tax liability: 
Excess tax depreciation and amortization 
Total deferred tax liability 
Net deferred tax asset 

2002 

$ 50,865,638 $ 
3,434,686 

1,933,060 
304,173 

1,334,53 1 
74,600 
80,427 

444,327 

150,3 1 7 
1,707,705 

(60,329,464) 

- $  

2001 

43,94 1,645 
3,503,450 

1,933,060 
304,173 
694,895 
101,545 
145,5 11 

74 1,030 
20,228 

(51,377,328) 
8,209 

c 
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The valuation allowance at December 3 1,2002 and 2001 has been provided to reduce the total deferred tax assets to the amount which 
is considered more likely than not to be realized, primarily because the Company has not generated taxable income from its business 
communications services. The change in the valuation allowance is due primarily to the increase in net operating loss carryforwards. 

Note 13 - Transactions with Significant Owners 

Transactions with Winter Harbor: 

On March 1,2001, Winter Harbor elected to convert a note payable fiom I-Link for $7,768,000 plus accrued interest of $2,537,072 
into 4,122 shares of Class M convertible redeemable preferred stock of I-Link and 5,000,000 common stock wanants under the 
original terms of the loan agreement. Upon conversion of the note and accrued interest, current liabilities in the amount of 
$10,305,072 were satisfied without use of cash. 

On March 1,2001 the Company entered into a Warrant Exchange Agreement with Winter Harbor. Pursuant to the t e n  and 
provisions of this Agreement, Winter Harbor agreed to assign, transfer, convey and deliver to I-Lmk, warrants to acquire 33,540,000 
(including the 5,000,000 warrants issued upon conversion of the convertible debt discussed above) shares of common stock of I-Link 
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beneficially owned by Winter Harbor in exchange for the issuance of 5,000,000 s h e s  of I-Link’s common stock to Winter Harbor. 
The repurchase of the common warrants was accounted for similar to the repurchase of treasury stock. 

b 

Transactions with Counsel: 

On March 1,2001, I-Link entered into a Senior Convertible Loan and Security Agreement, (the Loan Agreement) with Counsel 
Communications, LLC, and a wholly owned subsidiary of Counsel Corporation, (collectively, Counsel). Pursuant to the terms and 
provisions of the Loan Agreement, Counsel agreed to make periodic loans to I-Link in the aggregate principal amount not to exceed 
$10,000,000. Draw downs against the $10,000,000 Loan Agreement are structured as a 3-year convertible note with interest at 9% per 
annum, compounded quarterly. On May 8,2001 the aggregate principal amount under the facility was increased to $12,000,000. 
Counsel can convert the loan into shares of common stock of I-Link at a conversion price of $0.56 per common share. At any time 
after September 1,2002, the outstanding debt including accrued interest shall automatically convert into common stock using the then 
current conversion rate, on the first date that is the twentieth consecutive trading day that the common stock has closed at a price per 
share that is equal to or greater than $1.00 per share. The conversion price is subject to adjustment in accordance with the terms and 
provisions of the Loan Agreement. The Loan Agreement provides for traditional anti-dilution protection and is subject to certain 
events of default. Total proceeds available to the Company were $12,000,000, less debt issuance costs of $600,000, which are being 
amortized over three years. 

By executing the above Loan Agreement, I-Link granted Counsel a first priority security interest in all of I-Link’s assets owned at the 
time of the execution of the Loan Agreement or subsequently acquired, including but not limited to I-Link’s accounts receivable, 
general intangibles, inventory, equipment, books and records, and negotiable instruments held by the Company (collectively, the 
Collateral). The Loan Agreement also included demand registration rights for common stock issuable upon conversion of the Loan 
Agreement. 

In addition to the foregoing agreements, I-Link and Counsel executed a Securities Support Agreement, dated March 1 , 200 1 (the 
Support Agreement) for the purpose of providing certain representations and commitments by I-Link to Counsel. In accordance with 
the terms and provisions of a separate agreement (the Securities Purchase Agreement) with Winter Harbor and First Media L.P., a 
limited partnership and the parent company of Winter Harbor (collectively the Winter Harbor Parties), Counsel agreed to purchase 
from the Winter Harbor Parties all of their equity securities in I-Link, including shares of Class M and Class N preferred stock of I- 
Link, beneficially owned by the Winter Harbor Parties for an aggregate consideration of $5,000,000 cash. 

* 

Under the Support Agreement, I-Link also agreed to engage appropriate advisors and proceed to take all steps necessary to merge 
Nexbell Communications Inc. (a subsidiary of Counsel) into I-Link. The merger was completed on April 17,2001 (see note 6). 

F-25 

On March 7,2001, as part of the agreements discussed above, Counsel converted all of the Class M and N convertible preferred stock 
it obtained fiom Winter Harbor for $5,000,000 into 61,966,016 shares of I-Link’s common stock. The Class N shares were converted 
at $1.25 per common share and Class M at $.56 per common share, in accordance with their respective conversion rights. 

On June 6,200 1 , I-Link and Counsel entered into a Loan and Security Agreement (Loan Agreement). Any monies advanced to I-Link 
between June 6,2001 and April 15,2002, (in the amount not to exceed $f0,000,000) will be govemed by the Loan Agreement. In 
connection with the Loan Agreement, I-Link executed a note payable to Counsel, due June 6,2002. The loan is secured by all of the 
assets of I-Link. As of December 3 1,2001, advances under this loan agreement totaled $10,000,000. On June 27,2002 the June 6, 
2001 loan was amended to an amount of $24,306,866. The amended agreement also allowed for additional advances as needed to I- 
Link, which advances totaled $2,086,800 through December 3 1, 2002. (see below and note 8) 

On October 15,2002, I-Link and Counsel entered into an Amended and Restated Debt Restructuring Agreement (“Amended 
Agreement”) amending an earlier restructuring agreement dated July 25,2002. The Amended Agreement includes the following 
terms: 

1. 
agreement (as amended on June 27,2002) (the” June 6,2001 Loan Agreement”) will be exchanged for common stock of I-Link at 
$0.18864 (representing the average closing price of I-Link’s common stock during May 2002). This will result in the issuance of 
140,962,770 shares of I-Link Common stock upon closing. 

Principal ($24,306,866) and associated accrued interest ($2,284,351), as of October 15,2002, under the June 6,2001 loan 

2. Counsel currently has a written commitment to fund, through long-term inter-company advances or equity contributions, all 
capital investment working capital or other operational cash requirements (which amounts are currently unknown) of I-Link through 
April 15,2003 (subsequent to this agreement the commitment has been extended to April 15,2004). In addition to this commitment, 
Counsel shall fund the operations of I-Link through the date of adoption of an Operating Plan, which is yet to be adopted by the I-Link 
Board of Directors and Counsel. Counsel has also agreed to advance to I-Link: 
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any and all amounts paid or payable by I-Link to shareholders of I-Link that exercise their dissenters’ rights in connection 
With the transactions subject to this Agreement; 

the amount for the annual premium to renew the existing Directors and Oficers insurance coverage (which is and shall be 
separate and distinct from insurance policies maintained by Counsel Entity or their affiliated entities) for an additional one year fiom 
the current date of its expiration in November 2002, and Counsel represents and covenants that they will do any and all things 
reasonably necessary to cause such insurance to be continued in effect until at least November 2003 in types and amounts that are, at a 

currently in force, so long as such insurance is available on commercially reasonable terms; 

3. Counsel shall reimburse I-Link for all costs, fees and expenses, in connection with the Agreement and Amended Agreement 
and transactions contemplated thereby including all expenses incurred and yet to be incurred, including the Special Committee’s costs 
to negotiate the Agreement, Amended Agreement and costs related to obtaining shareholder approval. During 2002, Counsel 
reimbursed I-Link $492,323 for certain reimbursable expenses, the receipt of which has been recorded as additional paid-in capital. 

4. 
adjustment pursuant to the provisions of the March 1 , 2002 Loan Agreement. Whereas the conversion price for the March 1,2002 
Loan Agreement had been $0.56, the new conversion price WiIl be approximately $0.38. 

The issuance of common stock by I-Link pursuant to this Agreement will result in a weighted average conversion price 

I 
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5. Counsel agrees that, if the Amended Agreement is approved by the I-Link shareholders, it shall not take any action under 
Section 607.1 104 of the Florida Business Corporation Act prior to June 30,2003. Section 607.1 104 allows a shareholder of 80% or 
more of the outstanding voting securities of a Florida corporation to cause that corporation to be merged with the shareholder or a 
corporation formed by that shareholder. The net result of a “Short Form Merger’’ is that the minority shareholders are invoIuntarily 
removed as shareholders of the corporation and are paid an amount of money considered to be the fair market value of their shares in 
the corporation. Upon the closing of the Amended Agreement, Counsel will own over 80% of I-Link’s outstanding common stock. 

Funding provided by Counsel pursuant to this Amended Agreement ($2,086,800) prior to the closing of this transaction and prior to 
December 3 1,2002, shall, together with interest subsequent to October 15,2002 at 10% per annum on the note amount and 
borrowings subsequent to October 15,2002 (which totals $1,996,033), constitute a purchase of common stock for a purchase price per 
share of $0.18864. Any funding provided by Counsel in each month during the 2003 calendar year (of which there has been none 
through March 3 1 , 2003) shall constitute a purchase of additional shares of common stock for a purchase price per share equal to the 
average closing price of a share of I-Link common stock on the twenty (20) days preceding the funding. 

As a result of Counsel’s purchase of Winter Harbor’s security holdings in I-Link, Counsel became the single largest shareholder of the 
Company. In addition to the above transactions, Counsel Corporation and its subsidiary Counsel LLC committed to fund, through 
long-term intercompany advances or equity contribution, all capital investment, working capital or other operational cash 

.. requirements of the Company through April 15,2004. 

To fund the acquisition of the assets purchased and liabilities assumed by WorldxChange, Counsel provided a loan to WorldxChange 
in the aggregate amount of $15,000,000. The loan is subordinated to the revolving credit facility described above and is collateralized 
against all assets of WorldxChange. (see note 8) 

In connection with the acquisition of RSL in December 2002, I-Link entered into a $7,500,000 note payable to Counsel Corporation 
which is convertible into common stock of I-Link at a conversion rate of $0.08375 per share. (see note 8) 

Accounting treatment of Counsel and Winter Harbor transactions: 

The repurchase of Winter Harbor’s 33,540,000 wmants for 5,000,000 common shares was recorded at market value of the common 
stock issued in the exchange amounting to $3,750,000. The repurchase was accounted for similar to the repurchase of treasury stock. 
Accordingly, common stock and additional paid in capital was increased by $3,750,000 which was offset by a charge to additional 
paid in capital of $3,715,000 to reflect the warrant repurchase. The net effect of this transaction was the recording of additional par 
value of $35,000 for the 5,000,000 shares issued. 

As the conversion price for Class M preferred stock had dropped to $1.25 per share (fiom its original conversion price of $2.78), an 
amount reflecting the increase in the beneficial conversion feature was recorded as an increase in additional paid in capital and a 
charge to accumulated deficit for $9,779,846. The purchase and sale of the Class M and Class N preferred stock between Winter 
Harbor and Counsel, as described above, have been imputed in I-Link’s financial statements as if the transactions had been effected 
through I-Link as a repurchase of the preferred stock fkom Winter Harbor and a reissuance to Counsel. Accordingly, the transaction 
was considered a repurchase of Winter Harbor’s Class M and N preferred stock in exchange for $5,000,000. The difference between 
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the carrying value of the Class M and N preferred stock and the $5,000,000 paid was recorded as an adjustment to retained eamings 
reflected in the form of a $30,292,3 19 contribution from settlement of these transactions between shareholders and has been reflected 
as such in the statement of changes in stockholders’ deficit. In addition, the transaction considered that I-Link resold the Class M and 
N preferred stock to Counsel for $5,000,000 (Counsel’s payment to Winter Harbor). However, since the conversion price on the Class 
M shares was below the market price on the day the transaction closed, a beneficial conversion feature was recorded as the difference 
between the market price of the common shares and the conversion price per share multiplied by the number of common shares into 
which the Class M and Class N could convert. This amount was limited to the proceeds. 
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The Company has also recorded a beneficial conversion feature (debt discount) in the amount of $1,017,857 on tbe convertible debt 
funded by Counsel that was received through March 3 1,2001. The amount of the discount, if applicable, is calculated as the 
difference between the conversion price ($.56) and the market price of the common stock (if higher than the conversion price on the 
date funds are drawn on the loan), multiplied by the number of shares of common stock into which the note can be converted. The 
beneficial conversion feature is being amortized over the life of the note payable (three years). 

Note 14 - Legal Proceedings 

On or about January 24,2001 Red Cube International, AG (“Red Cube AG’) delivered to the Company a written demand for 
arbitration under the May 2000 Cooperation and Framework Agreement between the parties. Red Cube AG’s demand constituted 
written notice of an alleged breach of the Cooperation and Framework Agreement. The Company denied these allegations, filed a 
counterchhn against Red Cube, AG and filed a third-party claim against Red Cube, Inc, seeking compensatory andor punitive 
damages for Red Cube Inc.’s default under a subsequent agreement to provide approxknately $60,000,000 in equity fhding to us, 
engaging in a scheme to drive the Company out of business and obtain control of the Company’s proprietary technoIogy, 
telecommunications network, key employees and customers. 

? 

On July 9,2002 an evidentiary arbitration hearing was held in New York before a panel of arbitrators of the AAA and the AAA panel 
issued its award effective October 7,2002. The AAA panel dismissed all of Red Cube’s claims with prejudice and determined that 
Red Cube had breached the agreements between the parties. The arbitration panel awarded I-Link $6,74 1,835 in damages against Red 
Cube International AG and Red Cube Intemational, hc., jointly and severally. In addition the AAA panel ordered Red Cube to pay I- 
Link $18,210 as reimbursement for certain administrative fees and expenses and $64,033 as reimbursement for a portion of the 
arbitrators’ compensation. As uncertainty exists at this time as to the ultimate collectibility of the awarded amount, management has 
not recorded any benefit relating to this reward in the financial statements. 

On November 9,2000 DNit, Inc (‘Dvit”) filed an action against I-Link in federal court in Texas alleging that I-Link’s use of the “V- 
Link’, trademark infringed upon Dvit’s intellectual property rights in the mark “V Linc”. Dvit’s complaint sought damages and an 
injunction enjoining I-Link’s use of the mark “V-Link“. On August 22,2001 the court issued a preliminary injunction enjoining I- 
Link’s use of the “V-Link” mark. I-Link had already elected to change the name of its product to “I-Link One Number”. On February 
14,2002 1-Li.d~ filed a motion for summary judgment asking the court to rule as a matter of law that I-Link’s past use of the “V-Link“ 
mark did not constitute an hfkingement upon Dvit’s intellectual property rights in the “V Linc” mark. Also on February 14,2002, 
Dvit filed a motion for partial summary judgment asking the court to determine as a matter of law that I-Link’s prior use of the “V- 
Link” mark infringed upon Dvit’s rights in the “V Linc” mark. On May 8,2002 the court issued a Memorandum and Order (“Order”) 
denying I-Link’s motion for summary judgment and granting Dvit’s partial motion for summary judgment. The Order permanently 
enjoined I-Link from using the “V-Link” mark in association with the sale, marketing, description, development or service of its 
telecommunications products. The court’s Order did not address possible damages. In December 2002, the Company settled for 
$180,000 of which $120,000 was previously reserved. 

On March 10,2000, the Company and JNC Opportunity Fund, Ltd. (JNC) entered into a settlement and release agreement relating to 
certain litigation concerning shares of Series F Preferred stock held by JNC. The shares of Series F Preferred stock held by JNC were 
convertible into 1,104,972 shares of common stock under the original agreement with JNC. On March 10,2000, the Company issued 
53 1,968 shares of common stock to JNC pursuant to the settlement agreement in cancellation of the Series F shares held by JNC. The 
balance of the shares required to be issued pursuant to the settlement agreement required approval at a special meeting of the 
shareholders held on May 23,2000, at which time approval of the shareholders was received. Due to the delay in issuance of the 
shares required to be issued pursuant to the settlement agreement until shareholder approval was received and the related common 
shares were registered, the Company issued 20,458 “Additional Shares” of common stock in accordance with the agreement. 

In 2000, I-Link issued 87,477 shares representing dividends associated with the Series F stock and has been recorded in the 
Company’s financial statements as dividends paid, and 129,5 19 shares have been recorded as settlement expense. The Company 
recorded interest expense of $1 1 1,02 1 representing the market value of the common stock issued. The amount of 
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‘settlement and interest expense was determined by reference to the market value of the Company’s common stock on the date of 
issuance multiplied by the common shares issued. Accordingly, the total settlement and interest expense was $639,565 and $1 1 1,02 1, 
respectively. 

The Company is involved in litigation relating to other claims arising out of its operations in the normal course of business. The 
litigation and arbitration referred to above is not expected, individually or in the aggregate, to have a material adverse affect on h e  
Company. 

Note 15 - Stockholders’ Equity 

Series N preferred stock 

On July 23, 1999, the Company completed its offering of 20,000 shares of Series N preferred stock. The offering was hlly subscribed 
through cash subscriptions and the Company exercised its rights to exchange notes payable to Winter Harbor of $8,000,000 and 
$4,000,000, plus accrued interest. In total the Company received $7,223 1,086 in cash (before expenses of $486,679) and exchanged 
$12,718,914 in debt and accrued interest. The Series N conversion price was initially set at $2.78. The conversion rate was adjusted to 
$1.48 as of December 3 1 , 2000 and $1.25 in January 2001 based on 1 10% of the average trading price for any 20 day period following 
the date that Series N preferred stock is first issued subject to a floor of 0 1.25. The Series N preferred stock votes with the common 
stock on an as converted basis and is senior to all other preferred stock of the Company. Dividends, if any, will be paid on an as 
converted basis equal to common stock dividends. 

’ 

During 2001 and 2000, holders of the Series N preferred stock converted 14,417 (including the shares issued to Winter Harbor - see 
Note 1 1) and 1,129 of those shares into 11,532,343 and 467,169 shares of common stock, respectively, at conversion prices ranging 
between $2.78 and $1.25. As of December 3 1 , 2002 and 2001, there were 769 shares of Series N preferred stock outstanding. 

At December 3 1 , 2002, of the 10,000,000 shares of preferred stock authorized, 9,486,500 remain undesignated and unissued. 

Series C preferred stock 

The Company’s Articles of Incorporation provide for up to 240,000 shares of preferred stock as Series C Convertible Cumulative 
preferred stock (the Series C preferred stock). The Series C preferred stock has a par value of $10 per share and holders are entitled to 
receive cumulative preferential dividends equal to 8% per annum of the liquidation preference per share of $60. Unless previously 
redeemed, the Series C preferred stock was initially convertible into 24 shares of the Company’s common stock (Conversion Shares) 
at the option of the holder (subject to certain anti-dilution adjustments). The Series C stock exchange price did allow for downward 
resets based upon certain conditions subject to a floor of $1.25. On September 6,2001, all outstanding shares of the Company’s Class 
C preferred stock automatically converted into shares of common stock according to the terms of the designation of the Class C 
preferred stock. Accordingly, 9,249 shares of Class C preferred stock were converted into 3,415,015 shares of c o m o n  stock. In 
addition to the conversion of the preferred stock, the Company was obligated to pay dividends declared but unpaid and other 
dividends not paid on the preferred stock through the conversion date. Accordingly, dividends in the amount of $630,3 13 were 
satisfied through the issuance of 534,016 shares of common stock. 

During 2000,24,428 of Series C preferred stock were converted into common shares. At December 3 1,2002, there were no Series C 
preferred shares outstanding. 

Series M preferred stock 

On October 10, 1997, the Company closed an agreement with Winter Harbor pursuant to which Winter Harbor invested $12,100,000 
in a new series of the Company’s convertible preferred stock (the Series M convertible preferred stock). The Series M convertible 
preferred stock was entitled to receive cumulative dividends in the amount of 10% per annum before any other Series of preferred 
(other than Series F) or common stock receives any dividends. Thereafter, the Series M convertible preferred stock was to participate 
with the common stock in the issuance of any dividends on a per share basis. The Series M convertible preferred stock had the right to 
veto the payment of dividends on any other class of stock. 
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On March 1,2001, Winter Harbor elected to convert a note payable from I-Link for $7,768,000 plus accrued interest of $2,537,072 
into 4,122 shares of Class M convertible redeemable preferred stock of I-Link and 5,000,000 common stock warrants under the 
original terms of the loan agreement. Upon conversion of the note and accrued interest, current liabilities in the amount of 
$10,305,072 were satisfied without use of cash. During 2001, all 8,522 shares of Series M prefexred stock outstanding were converted 
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into 41,849,107 shares of common stock (at an equivalent common share price of $0.56 in accordance With its conversion features). 
In addition, the Company was obligated to pay a dividend in the amount of $4,8 12,2 14 on the Series M preferred stock being 

‘converted, which dividend was paid by issuance of 8,593,239 shares of common stock. At December 3 1 , 2002, there were no Series 
M preferred shares outstanding. 

Series F preferred stock 

On July 9, 1998 the Company obtained a $10,000,000 equity investment, net of $530,000 in closing costs, from JNC Opportunity 
Fund Ltd. (JNC). Under the original terms of the equity investment, JNC purchased 1,000 shares of the Company’s newly created 5% 
Series E convertible preferred stock, which were convertible into the Company’s common stock. In addition, JNC obtained a warrant 
to purchase 250,000 shares of the Company’s common stock at an exercise price of $5.873 (equal to 120% of the market price of the 
Company’s publicly traded common shares as of the date of closing). 

On July 28,1998, the terms of the JNC equity investment were amended to provide a floor to the conversion price, and to effect the 
amendment the Company created a 5% Series F convertible preferred stock for which the Series E preferred shares originally issued to 
JNC were exchanged one for one. Pursuant to the amendment, the Series F preferred shares were originally convertible into common 
shares at a conversion price of the lesser of $4.00 per common share or 87% of the moving average market price of the Company’s 
common shares at the time of conversion, subject to a $1.25 floor. JNC also received an additional warrant to purchase 100,000 
shares of the Company’s common stock at an exercise price of $4.00 per common share. In addition, the Company issued warrants to 
purchase 75,000 shares of the Company’s common stock at a price of $4.89 per share to two individuals as a brokerage fee in 
connection with the JNC equity investment. 

During 2000, JNC converted 248 shares of Series F redeemable preferred stock into 1,104,972 shares of common stock. In addition, 
during 2000, JNC was paid a stock dividend of 87,477 shares of common stock on the converted shares. As of December 3 1,2002 all 
of the Series F redeemable preferred stock had been converted. 

Note 16 - Stock-based Compensation Plans 

At December 3 1,2002, the Company has several stock-based compensation plans, which are described below. The Company applies 
APB Opinion No. 25 and related interpretations in accounting for its plans. Accordingly, no compensation cost has been recognized 
for its fixed option plans. 

The fair value of each option grant is estimated on the date of the grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the 
following weighted average assumptions: expected volatility of 150%, 120% and 102% in 2002,2001 and 2000, respectively, risk free 
rates ranging from 2.02% to 4.40%, 3.17% to 6.62% and 4.67% to 6.83% in 2002,2001 and 2000, respectively, expected lives of 3 
years for each year, and dividend yield of zero for each year. 
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Outstanding at beginning of year 
Granted 
Exercised 
Expired 
Forfeited 
Outstanding at end of year 
Options and warrants exercisable at year end 
Weighted-average fair value of options and 
warrants granted during the year 

2002 

optioos Weighted 
and Warrants Average 

Exercise 
Price 

28,033,464 $ 2.27 
95,000 0.07 

(2,605,410) 6.34 
(353,780) 4.27 

25,169,274 $ 1.82 
25,136,567 

$ 0.03 

2001 

optiom Weighted 
aud Warrants Average 

Exercise 
Price 

45,354,992 $ 2.57 
20,509,559 0.76 

- - 
(1,643,177) 3.43 
(36,187,9 10) 1.42 
28,033,464 $ 2.27 
27,090,203 

$ 0.57 

2000 

optlons Weighted 
Average 
Exercise 

Price 

and Warrantr 

41,945,091 $ 2.67 
5,508,339 4.13 
(1,612,23 1) 3.10 
(1 80,144) 3.56 
(306,063 ) 3.40 

45,354,992 $ 2.57 
38,66233 9 

$ 2.25 

The following table summarizes information about fixed stock options and warrants outstanding at December 3 1,2002. 

Exercise price Options and Weighted Weighted Number Weighted 
Exercisable Average 

Outstanding Remaining Exerclse at December Exercise 
Warrants Avenge Average 

Llfe (years) Price 31,2002 Price 
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$0.07, to $1 .OO 
$1.13 to $3.00 

‘$3.14 to $5.87 
$6.25 to $13.88 

15,335,660 0.60$ 0.60 15,3 10,660$ 0.60 
2,813,278 6.32 2.6 1 2,811,613 2.6 1 

617,618 7.09 6.55 61 1,576 6.55 
25,169,274 2.32 $ 1.82 25,136,567 !$ 1.82 

6,402,718 4.25 3.93 6,4O2,7 18 3.93 

2001 Stock option and appreciation rights plan 

In September 2001, the shareholders of the Company approved the 2001 Stock Option and Appreciation Rights Plan which provides 
for the issuance of incentive stock options, non-qualified stock options and stock appreciation rights (SARs) up to an aggregate of 
14,000,000 shares of common stock (subject to adjustment in the event of stock dividends, stock splits, and other similar events). The 
price at which shares of common stock covered by the option can be purchased is determined by the Company’s Board of Directors or 
its committee; however, in the case of incentive stock options the exercise price shall not be less than the fair market value of the 
Company’s common stock on the date the option is granted. There were no options granted under this plan in 2002 or 2001. 

1997 Recruitment stock option plan 

In October 2000, the shareholders of the Company approved an amendment of the 1997 Recruitment Stock Option Plan which 
provides for the issuance of incentive stock options, non-qualified stock options and stock appreciation rights (SARs) up to an 
aggregate of 7,400,000 shares of common stock (subject to adjustment in the event of stock dividends, stock splits, and other similar 
events). The price at which shares of common stock covered by the option can be purchased is determined by the Company’s Board 
of Directors; however, in all instances the exercise price is never less than the fair market value of the Company’s common stock on 
the date the option is granted. 

As of December 3 1,2002, there were options to purchase 2,118,024 shares of the Company’s common stock outstanding. The 
outstanding options vest over three years at exercise prices of $0.07 to $13.88 per share. Options issued under the plan must be 
exercised within ten years of grant and can only be exercised while the option holder is an employee of the Company. The Company 
has not awarded any SARs under the plan. During 2002,2001 and 2000, options to purchase 
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859,356,2,600,430, and 439,542 shares of common stock, respectively, were forfeited or expired. There were no exercises during 
2002. 

Director stock option plan 

The Company’s Director Stock Option Plan authorizes the grant of stock options to directors of the Company. Options granted under 
the Plan are non-qualified stock options exercisable at a price equal to the fair market value per share of common stock on the date of 
any such grant. Options granted under the Plan are exercisable not less than six months or more than ten years after the date of grant. 

As of December 3 1,2002, options for the purchase of 4,668 shares of common stock at prices ranging from $0.875 to $3,875 per share 
were outstanding, all of which are exercisable. In connection with the adoption of the 1995 Director Plan, the Board of Directors 
authorized the termination of future grants of options under the plan; however, outstanding options granted under the plan will 
continue to be governed by the terms thereof until exercise or expiration of such options. In 2002, no options were exercised and 
2,3 34 expired. 

1995 Director stock option and appreciation rights plan 

The 1995 Director Stock Option and Appreciation Rights Plan (the 1995 Director Plan) provides for the issuance of incentive options, 
non-qualified options and SARs to directors of the Company up to 250,000 shares of common stock (subject to adjustment in the 
event of stock dividends, stock splits, and other similar events), 

The 1995 Director Plan also provides for the grant of non-qualified options on a discretionary basis to each member of the Board of 
Directors then serving to purchase 10,000 shares of common stock at an exercise price equal to the fair market value per share of the 
common stock on that date, Each option is immediately exercisable for a period of ten years fiom the date of grant. The Company 
has 190,000 shares of common stock reserved for issuance under the 1995 Director Plan. As of December 3 1,2002, options to 
purchase 170,000 shares of common stock at prices ranging fiom $1 .OO to $ I  .25 per share are outstanding and exercisable. No 
options were granted or exercised under this plan in 2002,2001 or 2000. 

1995 Employee stock option and appreciation rights plan 
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The 1995 Employee Stock Option and Appreciation Rights Plan (the 1995 Employee Plan) provides for the issuance of incentive 
‘options, non-qualified options, and S A R s .  Directors of the Company are not eligible to participate in the 1995 Employee Plan, The 
1995 Employee Plan provides for the grant of stock options which qualify as incentive stock options under Section 422 of the Internal 
Revenue Code, to be issued to officers who are employees and other employees, as well as non-qualified options to be issued to 
officers, employees and consultants. In addition, S A F b  may be granted in conjunction with the grant of incentive options and non- 
qualified options. 

The 1995 Employee Plan provides for the &rant of incentive options, non-qualified options and S A R s  of up to 400,000 shares of 
common stock (subject to adjustment in the event of stock dividends, stock splits, and other similar events). To the extent that an 
incentive option or non-qualified option is not exercised within the period of exercisability specified therein, it will expire as to the 
then unexercisable portion. If any incentive option, non-qualified option or S A R  terminates prior to exercise thereof and during the 
duration of the 1995 Employee Plan, the shares of common stock as to which such option or right was not exercised will become 
available under the 1995 Employee Plan for the grant of additional options or rights to any eligible employee. The shares of common 
stock subject to the 1995 Employee Plan may be made available &om either authorized but unissued shares, treasury shares or both. 
The Company has 400,000 shares of common stock reserved for issuance under the 1995 Employee Plan. As of December 3 1,2002, 
options to purchase 135,250 shares of common stock with an exercise price of $3.90 are outstanding under the 1995 Employee Plan. 
During 2002,2001and 2000, options to purchase 10,000, 37,500 and 3,333, respectively, of common stock were forfeited or expired. 
No options were exercised in 2002. 

Other warrants and options 

In 1996, the Company approved the issuance of 1,750,000 options to executives of the Company, as part of their employment 
agreements, and 64,000 options to a consultant. The options expire in 2006 and have an option price of $3.90. In 2000,250,000 
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options were exercised. As of December 3 1,2002, there remained 1,564,000 options outstanding. 

On July 1, 1996, the Company approved the issuance of options to purchase 2,000,000 shares of common stock to two officers as part 
of their employment agreements. Each option had an exercise price of $7.00 per share. The options expired in 2002. 

During 1997, the Company issued options to purchase 1,2 10,000 shares of common stock (2 10,000 of which were issued under the 
1997 recruitment stock option plan) to consultants at exercise prices ranging fi-om $4.875 to $8.438 (repriced to $3.90 on December 
13, 1998), which was based on the closing price of the stock at the grant date. The fair value of the options issued was recorded as 
deferred compensation of $4,757,134 to be amortized over the expected period the services were to be provided. As a result of the 
repricing, the Company recorded additional deferred compensation expense totaling $262,200 (of which $2 1 , 103 was expensed in 
ZOOO), representing the incremental fair value of the repriced options over the original options. During 2000, $279,150 of the deferred 
compensation was amortized to expense. AI1 deferred compensation expense related to these options was recognized as of December 

.L 3 1,2000. During 2001 and 2000, options to purchase 0 and 91,000, respectively, shares of common stock expired. During 2000, 
169,000 options were exercised. The remaining options must be exercised within ten yeats of the grant date. As of December 3 1 , 
2002 there remained 890,000 options outstanding. 

During 1997, the Company issued non-qualified options to purchase 2,295,000 shares of common stock to certain executive 
employees. The options must be exercised within ten years of the grant date and have an exercise price of $3.90. There were no 
options forfeited in 2002,2001 or 2000. There were 78,000 options exercised in 2000. No options expired or were exercised during 
2002. As of December 3 1,2002 there remained 2,118,2 19 options outstanding. 

During 1998, the Company issued non-qualified options to purchase 935,000 shares of common stock to certain executive employees 
at exercise prices ranging from $2.563 to $3.125, which price was based on the closing price of the stock at the grant date. The 
options must be exercised within ten years of the grant date. During 2002,2001 and 2000, options to purchase 0, 0, and 43,332 shares 
of common stock, respectively, were forfeited. No options were exercised during 2002. As of December 3 1 , 2002 there remained 
809,446 options outstanding. 

In 1998 the Company issued warrants in connection with a f m c i n g  arrangement. As of December 3 1,2002, there were 408,000 
wmants outstanding with exercise prices from $4.89 to $5.87. The warrants expire in June 2003. 

During 1999, the Company issued non-qualified options to purchase 655,000 shares of common stock to certain executive employees 
at exercise prices ranging from $2.50 to $3.563, which price was based on the closing price of the stock at the grant date. The options 
must be exercised within ten years of the grant date. No options were exercised during 2002. During 200 1,50,000 of these options 
were forfeited. During 2000, options to purchase 230,000 shares of common stock were exercised. As of December 3 1,2002, there 

hmmr 
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remabed 375,000 options outstanding. 

During 1999, the Company issued non-qualified options to purchase 200,000 shares of common stock to a consultant at an exercise 
price of $3.00, which was based on the closing price of the stock at the grant date. The fair value of the options issued was recorded 
as deferred compensation of $3OO,OOO to be amortized over the expected period the services were to be provided. During 2000 and 
1999 deferred compensation of $137,500 and $162,500, respectively, was amortized to expense. As of December 3 1,2002 there 
remained 200,000 options outstanding. 

During 2000, the Company issued non-qualified options to purchase 2,585,000 shares of common stock to certain executive 
employees at exercise prices ranging from $2.75 to $6.375, which price was based on the closing price of the stock at the grant date. 
The options must be exercised within ten years of the grant date. During 2001,1,208,335 of these options were forfeited. As of 
December 3 1,2002, there remained 1,376,665 options outstanding. 

In June 200 1, the Company issued to Counsel Communications (the Company’s largest shareholder) 15,000,000 warrants to purchase 
common stock at $0.60 per share. The grant of the warrants was associated with the acquisition of WorldxChange. These warrants 
were outstanding as of December 3 1,2002. 

During 2000 the Company obtained approval fiom its shareholders to establish the 2000 Employee Stock Purchase Plan. This plan 
allows all eligible employees of the Company to have payroll withholding of 1 to 15 percent of their wages. The amounts withheld 
during a calendar quarter are then used to purchase common stock at a 15 percent discount off the lower of the closing * 
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sale price of the Company’s stock on the first or last day of each quarter. This plan was approved by the Board of Directors, subject to 
shareholder approval, and was effective beginning the third quarter of 2000. The Company issued 34,5 18 and 23,494 shares to 
employees based upon payroll withholdings during 2001 and 2000, respectively. There were no issuances in 2002. 

Note 17 - Segment of Business Reporting 

The Company’s reportable segments are as follows: 

Acceris Solutions - is comprised of the enterprise business of RSL which was acquired in December 2002. This segment 
offers voice and data solutions to enterprise customers through an in-house sales force. 

Acceris Partners - includes operations of WorldxChange (began operations in June 200 1 and was formerly reported as the 
dial-around segment) and the agent and residential business of RSL which was acquired in December 2002. This segment offers a dial 
around telecommunications product and a 1+ product through two channels, namely, multi-level marketing (MLM) and commercial 
agents. 

0 Acceris Technologies - is the former technology licensing and development segment, which segment offers a fully 
developed network convergence solution for voice and data. The Company licenses certain developed technology to third party users. 

Marketing services - includes training and promotional materials to IRs in the network marketing sales channel and 
Webcentre set-up and monthly recurring fees. Additionally, revenues were generated fiom registration fees paid by TRs to attend 
regional and national sales conferences. This segment and revenue source was terminated in February 2000. 

There are no material inter-segment revenues. The Company’s business is conducted principally in the U.S.; foreign operations are 
not significant. The table below presents information about net loss and segment assets rised by the Company as of and for the three 
years ended December 3 1,2002. 

For the Year Endlng December 31,2002 

Acctris 
solutions 

Acceris 
Partners 

Acceris 
Technologies 

Revenues from extemal customers $ 1,547,000 $ 88,864,000 $ 2,83 7,000 
Interest and other income 1,000 356,000 I 

Interest expense 19,000 3,279,000 - 
Depreciation and amortization 158,000 4,056,000 11,000 
expense 
Segment income (loss) (629,000) (3,2 10,000) 976,000 

Toel 
Reportsblc 
Segments 

$ 93,248,000 
357,000 

3,298,000 
4,225,000 

(2,863,000) 

I 
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Other, significant non-cash items: 
Provision for doubtful accounts 33,000 

‘Expenditures for long-lived assets 3,102,000 
Segment assets 9,573,000 
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6,298,000 
3,747,000 

32,704,000 
- 

173,000 

Revenues fiom external customers 
Interest revenue 
Interest expense 
Depreciation and amortization 
expense 
Segment income (loss) 
Other significant non-cash item: 
Provision for doubthl accounts 
Expenditures for long-lived assets 
Segment assets 

Revenues fiom external customers 
Interest revenue 
Interest expense 

For the Year Encling December 31,2001 

Acceris Accerls Total 
Partners Technologies Reportable 

Segments 
$ 50,289,000 $ 5,697,000 $ 55,986,000 

- 
2,499,000 
2,286,000 

- 
- 

126,000 

- 
2,499,000 
2,4 12,000 

(13,927,000) 1,611,000 (12,3 16,000) 

2,86 1,000 
14,797,000 
32,206,000 

2,861,000 
8,000 14,805,000 

137,000 32,343,000 

I 

For the Year Ending December 31,2000 

Marketing Acceris Total 
Services Technologies Reportable 

Segments 
$ 464,000 $ 9,373,000 $ 9,83 7,000 

Depreciation and amortization expense 15,000 . 98,000 
Segment loss (204,000) 3,2 18,000 
Other significant non-cash items: 
Provision for doub$ul accounts I - 
Expenditures for long-lived assets - 8,000 
Segment assets - 20 1,000 

113,000 
3,O 14,000 

- 
8,000 

20 1,000 

6,33 1,000 
6,849,000 
42,450,000 

The following table reconciles reportable segment information to the consolidated financial statements of the Company: 

Total interest and other income for reportable segments 
Unallocated interest revenue from corporate accounts 

Total interest expense for reportable segments 
Unallocated amortization of discount on notes payable 
Unallocated interest expense fiom related party debt 
Other unallocated interest expense fiom corporate debt 

2002 

$ 357,000 $ 

$ 395,000 $ 
$ 3,298,000$ 

38,000 

- 
4,2 i 1,000 
385,000 

$ 7,894,000$ 

zoo1 2008 

-$ - 
8 1,000 487,000 
8 1,000 $ 487,000 

2,499,000 $ - 
- - 

1,556,000 1,054,000 
63 8,000 433,000 

4,693,000 $ 1,487,000 
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2002 2001 zoo0 

Total depreciation and amortization for reportable segments $ 4,225,000 $ 2,412,000 $ 113,000 
Unallocated amortization expense fiom intangible assets - 2,608,000 2,6 12,000 
Other unallocated depreciation from corporate assets 45,000 1,3 89,000 1,266,000 
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\ $ 
Total segment loss $ 
' Unallocated non-cash amounts in consolidated net loss: 

Amortization of discount on notes payable 
Litigation settlement expense 
Gain on sale of subsidiary 
Amortization of deferred compensation on stock options issued for 
services 
Amortization of intangible assets 
Other corporate expenses 

Total amortization of deferred compensation for reportable 
segments 
Unallocated amortization of deferred compensation 

$ 

Expenditures for segment long-lived assets 
Other unallocated expenditures for corporate assets 

Segment assets 
Intangible assets not allocated to segments 
Other assets not allocated to segments* 

4,270,000 $ 
(2,863,000) $ 

(560,000) 
- 

- 
(8,lO 1,000) 

(1 1,254,000) $ 
- 

- 
6,849,000 $ 

3 09,000 
7,158,000 $ 
42,450,000 $ 

3,823,000 
46,273,000 $ 

6,409,000 $ 
(1 2,3 16,000) $ 

(253,000) 

589,000 
- 

(2,608,000) 
(1 1,387,000) 
(25,975,000) $ 

- $  
- $  

14,805,000 $ 
1,274,000 

16,079,000 $ 
32,343,000 $ 
1,331,000 
13,106,000 
46,780,000 $ 

3,99 1,000 
3,O 14,000 

(640,000) 

(542,000) 
- 

(2,6 12,000) 
(14,373,000) 
(15,153,000) 

542,000 
542,000 
8,000 

5,62 1,000 
5 , 629 , 000 
201,000 

3,939,000 
17,5 17,000 
2 1,657,000 

* Other assets not allocated to segments includes assets associated with segments reported in previous periods which are no longer 
classified as reportabIe segments. 
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Note 18 - Summarized Quarterly Data (unaudited) 

Following is a summary of the quarterly results of operations for the years ended December 3 1,2002 and 2001. The amounts for all 
quarters of 2001 and the first thee quarters of 2002 have been restated to reclassify amounts as discontinued operations related to the 
sale of L C  in December 2002 (see note 4) which had previously been reported in continuing operations. 

(in thousands of doflam, except per share amounts) 

. Net sales: 

Operating loss:( 1) 

Net loss fiom continuing operations before discontinued 
operations and extraordinary item: 

Loss from discontinued operations(2) 

Net loss: 

Basic and diluted income (loss) before discontinued operations 
and extraordmq item per common share: 

Basic and diluted income (loss) per common share: 

March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31 

2002% 24,392 $ 21,872 $ 20,156 $ 26,828 
2001 1,437 7,352 22,907 24,289 
2002 $ (340) $ (246) $ (851) $ (2,587) 
200 1 (3,515) (2,931) (5 7457 1 (1 0,050) 
2002$ (2,504) $ (2,297) !6 (2,476) $ (4,247) 

200 1 (3,813) (3,554) (7,228) (1 1,380) 
2002$ (3,099) $ (4,581) $ (1,463) $ (3,366) 
2001 (2,856) 7 14 (1 3,275) (4,198) 
2002$ (5,603) $ (6,878) $ (3,939) $ (7,612) 
2001 (6,669) * (2,839) (20,503) (14,486) 
2002% (0.02) $ (0.02) !$ (0.02) $ (0.04) 

(0.03) (0.06) (0.1 1) 200 1 0.22 
2002$ (0.05) $ (0.06) $ (0.03) $ (0.07) 

(0.03) (0.18) (0.15) 200 1 0.16 

(1) In the fourth quarter of 2001, the Company recorded an extraordinary gain on extinguishment of debt of $1,092,8 18. 

(2) 
discontinued operations in the above presentation. 

In the third quarter of 2001, the Company recorded an impairment of goodwill of $8,040,054, which has been included in - 
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Acceris Communications Partners ICorporate Profile Page 1 of 1 

PRODUCTS : CUIITOMIlA : INCO,..,. ; ..a.NT : COI'Io1PANY : Ace 
&:. ~V1CE9 • a ...._T • OPPDATUNmjO:B • 5l,JPPORT .. INFIORMATION • ONU-Acc-erls" 

-Acc-erls 
Partners Offers 

• For Your Homo 

~ For Your Businoss 

• Income Opportunity 

• COmp3i"1}/ News 

• Contact Us 

-Accerls Company Information 
Our Corporate Profile 

Headquartered in San Diego, California, Acceris Communications Part 
Partners") is a faci li ties·-based IXC Ulat offers a diverse selection of voice anc 
and services to lndependent Agents and their Residential a d Busine 
nationwide With points of presence in 30 cities and 11 switches through, 
States, Acceris Partners cancen rates its energies on sLiccessfully combininl 
office Slipport, operational expertise, and first-rate customer care, with end-u~ 

of domestic and international long -d istance services. 

in add ition to offering valued communications services, Acceris Partners ho 
business opportunities wit.h its Direct and Network Marketing Agent Sa les 
defined by its Guiding Principles, Acceris Partners understands that acc( 
financial and professional goals depends on tile success of our Independent A 

For our Direct Agent Channel members, Acceris Partners sets the stag 
professiona ls to expand their business exponentia lly. With a realistic yet aggr 
commission structure, a well-funded and supportive parent organization, 
innovative back-office and porta l utilities available in the marketplace, Acceri: 
laser-like focus on reducing the points of pain for its commercial agent partner: 

xPectations, Acceris Partners' Network Marketing Agent division , has giver 
Independent Agents across the United States the opportunity to establish th 
based business and bui ld a successful financial future. 

Historically , Counsel Corporation www.counselcQIQ..com. through its I-Unl 
subsidiary, acquired WorldxChange Corporation, d/b/a Acceris Communica 
WorldxChange completed the purchase of RSL COM U.S.A in November of ~ 
to complete the acquisition of Transpoint Commun ications www.trans oint 
regulatory approval es imated ill 2Q03 Tllrough these acquisitions Acceris F 
able to enjoy the experience of and exposure to a wide range of Data, Interr 
value-added products and services. 

\. 

© 2003 Acceris Comm un ications Partners. All rights reserved . 
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ExecutIve BID!I 

KENNETH HILTON-
Kenneth L. Hilton was appointed 
Chief Executive Officer of 
WorldxChange Corporation in May 
2002. He joined WorldxChange after 
serving as the CEO of 
Handtech.com, an internet based 
start-up in Austin, Tx. that provided 
customized E-Commerce storefronts, . 
supply chain management and back 
office services to value-added 
resellers. Prior to Handtech, he was 
the Executive Vice President of North 
American Consumer Sales for Excel 
Communications, where he also 
served as the Chairman of the Board 
for Excel Canada. At Excel, Mr. 
Hilton managed a field organization of 250,000+ independent 
agents and $1 +Billion in annual revenue. Prior to his 5 years at 
Excel, he ran North America for PageMart Wireless where he 
launched the Canadian business and also served as the Chairman 
of the Canadian Board. Prior to PageMart, Mr. Hilton held 
numerous sales and management positions with IBM. His 14-year 
career with IBM included sales, sales management, branch 
management and regional management positions. 

BOBBY VANNOY. 
Bobby Vannoy currently serves as Vice President, Operations for 
World~Change Corporation. Prior to accepting this position, Bobby 
was Senior Vice President of Global Operations for World~Change 
from 1993 until 2001. During his time with World~Change, Bobby 
was responsible for the combining and implementation of all 
international business units onto one OSS and billing platform 
throughout 12 countries worldwide. Bobby Vannoy graduated from 
Kings College in Charlotte, North Carolina in 1990. 

MICHAEL COLLlNS-
Michael Collins recently joined the World~Change management 
team as Vice President of Sales, Network Marketing. Mike 
previously served as Vice President, COO of MUlti-level Marketing 
with Excel Communications from 1999-2000, and was most 
recently Vice President of Sales & Marketing for Care Entree. Mike 
also brings with him a wealth of experience from holding the 
positions of VP of Franchising with the major Taco Bell food chain 
and as Division VP Sales & Marketing for Pepsi Cola Company. 
From 1990-1995 Mike served on the Board of Directors of the 
Direct Selling Education Foundation . 
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DENISE BOERGER-
Denise Boerger joined WorldxChange In 2002 as Senior Vics 

President of the Commercial Agent Division. She brings to 

World!Change over 13 years of experience in the . 

telecommunication industry. Most recently, Denise,served as 

General ManagerNP for Primus Telecommunications Group 

where she played an Integral role in the TeleGroup acquisition 

developing and growing the agent sales division known as Isterra, 

a Division of Primus. Prior to her tenure at Primus, Denise served 

as Vice President of 84slness Development for TresCom 

International. Prior to TresCom, Denise served many years at MCI 


. Telecommunications, Contel, .and GTE where she started her 
telecom career serving a variety of different job functions gaining . 
knowledge and experience In all aspects of retail 
telecommunications including local, domestic long distance and 
intemationaVoffshore. Denise's experience and knowledge from 
her tenure in retail telecommunications has led her to 
World!Change where she is responsible for developing and 
managing the new commercial agent sales division. 

Denise holds a BS from Niagra Unive~ity and is a Certified Public 

Accountant (CPA). 
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL CAPABILITY 

WorldxChange Corp. d/b/a Acceris Communications Partners and d/b/a Acceris 


Communications Solutions 


Applicant has sufficient financial capability to provide the requested service in the State of 
Florida and has sufficient financial capability to maintain the requested service and to meet its 
lease or ownership obligations. In support of Applicant's stated financial capability, a copy of 1­
Link Incorporated's Form lO-K for the year ended December 31 , 2002. Applicant is a wholly ­
owned operating subsidiary of I-Link Incorporated . The fmancial statements demonstrate that the 
company has approximately $3.6 million in cash. Applicant intends to fund the provision of 
service through internally generated cash flow. Applicant also has the ability to borrow funds, if 
required, based upon its fmancial capabilities, to provide service in the State of Florida. 


